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Over the last few years, 
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

has emerged as one of the most
exciting proxies of the Indian

pharmaceutical industry,
manufacturing eight of the world’s

20 blockbuster active
pharmaceutical ingredients.
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What the
numbers

say about our
performance

in 2004-05
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Numbers
• 46.17% growth in net sales from
Rs.158.58 cr in 2003-04 to
Rs.231.80 cr in 2004-05.

• 94.5% increase in EBIDTA from
Rs.23.49 cr in 2003-04 to Rs.45.70 cr
in 2004-05.

• 500 basis point increase in the
EBIDTA margin from 14.6% in
2003-04 to 19.7% in 2004-05.

• 244.26% increase in net profit
from Rs.7.69 cr in 2003-04 to
Rs.26.48 cr in 2004-05.

• 122.26% increase in cash profit
from Rs.15.66 cr in 2003-04 to 
Rs. 34.80 cr in 2004-05.

Operations
• Exceeded the budgeted output,
profit and profitability.

• 14% increase in production of
APIs to 123.12 MT. 

• 45% increase in per person
productivity from 183 kgs in 2002-03
to 265 kgs in 2004-05  

• Opening of an office in China to

facilitate the import of raw materials.

Project management
• Expansion in the capacity of
Atorvastatin intermediates,
Fexofenadine and Clarithromycin. 

• Upgradation in the existing API
facilities in line with USFDA
requirements.

• Commissioning of a waste heat
recovery unit to reduce energy
costs. 

• Commissioning of a solvent
recovery system.

Research and development
• Commencement of the initiative to
set up an R&D centre at Mohali.

• Introduction of five new products. 

Regulatory cell
• Filing of four DMFs in US and 48
DMFs in Europe.

• Filing of nine non-infringing
process patents for APIs. 

Marketing 
• 60.18% increase in exports from

Rs.67.92 cr in 2003-04 to

Rs.108.80 cr. 

• 36.42% increase in domestic

earnings from Rs.82.53 cr in 2003-04

to Rs.112.58 cr. 

• Six new domestic clients added

and 54 new international customers

added to the customer list. 

• Entered into an agreement with a

brand-enhancing Indian

pharmaceutical finished dosage

manufacturer.

• Entered into a long-term supply

agreement with reputed

international pharma companies in

the US and other regulated markets.

• Initiated an MOU for a joint

venture in Iran.

Pharmaceutical services 

Agreements with reputed European

pharmaceutical companies for the

contract research of molecules,

expected to culminate into

manufacture. 



4

The year 2004-05 was a happy one on
two accounts: 

• Our financially superior performance,
reflected in sales growth of 46.17%,
export increase of 60.18% and a net
profit jump of 244.26%. 

• We embarked on some of the boldest
initiatives during the year under review
than in the previous history of our
organisation.        

OVERVIEW
The strength of our resolve and extent
of our daring was prompted by a
development of paradigm importance in
India’s pharmaceutical industry. This
development resulted in a challenge for
the majority and a significant
opportunity for the proactive minority. 

1. Patents challenge 

India made a paradigm shift from its

long standing position: it recognised

process and product patents

comprehensively from 1 January 2005,

bringing an end to its money-spinning

strategy of reverse engineering

patented products and thus creating

business opportunity for a number of

companies.          

Opportunity

This challenge represents a once-in-a-

lifetime generic opportunity as more

than US$ 100 bn worth of products are

going off-patent in the US alone by

2008. This development will widen

product portfolios and generate

attractive growth for the proactive.  

2. Profitability challenge 
Following the opening of this large
generics market, protecting quality and
profitability in the face of price erosion
will represent a big challenge.     

Opportunity
The fears of imminent price erosion
have made cost cutting imperative for
finished dosage manufacturers, leading
them to enter into low-cost generic
manufacturing agreements. India is
expected to emerge as a significant
beneficiary: over the years it has
established its image as a responsible,
cost-effective, quality conscious and
research-led outsourcing destination
possessing among the largest number
of internationally-certified manufacturing
facilities in the world. 

Our success driver:

identifying opportunities amidst
challenges, translating initiatives
into success

Chairman’s review 

Dr. G. Munjal, Chairman



Ind-Swift’s comprehensive business
model leverages on the following areas
of competence:

• Product development: Development
of complex molecules in growing
lifestyle therapeutic segments 

• Superior service: Serving customers
through the defined service portfolio,
including post-shipment technical

assistance; protecting the quality and

responsiveness of this service in

accordance with client feedback

• Challenging workplace: Providing an

enjoyable work environment to catalyse

intellectual capital growth through a

global employment of skills, established

culture of meritocracy and

institutionalisation of systems

• Sustainability: Strengthening financial
solidity and sustainability for stakeholder
benefit 

In doing so, Ind-Swift Laboratories
expects to emerge as one of the most
profitable pharmaceutical companies in
India, enhancing value for user,
consumer, community and shareholder.

IND-SWIFT LABS’ BUSINESS MODEL 
Ind-Swift Laboratories responded to this dynamic industry environment with the following business model: 

CALENDAR FOR 2005-06
• Commissioning of the new R&D centre.

• Commissioning of the new facilities in Punjab.

• Commissioning of capacity expansions of existing products

at the present plant.  Launch around five products making an

entry into anti-cancer and anti-histamine segments.

• Submit around six DMFs, for approval in the US and

European markets.

• Enhance the CRAMs business to account for 20-25% of the

Company’s profitability.

• Long-term supply agreements to be commercialised in the

international market.

FORESEEABLE TARGETS
• Revenue of US$ 100 mn (2006-07).

• Increased in the pharma service business to 25-30% of the

Company’s profitability  (2006-07).

• Increase in exports to regulated markets to the extent of

30% of the Company’s income (2007-08).

Identify
and manufacture
niche products in

lifestyle therapeutic
segments         

Invest
in R&D and

intellectual capital to
strengthen the

Company’s product
pipeline

Increase
operational

scalability in line with
globally benchmarked

standards to
reduce cost

Launch
these products
with a speed to

gain first-mover’s
advantage in

untapped
segments

Convert
post-2005

opportunities into
growth drivers

A
culture of

continuous quality
improvement beyond

international
standards

5
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ways in which we are



creating a growing Company 

Our intellectual capital
Growing investment in our people,
enabling them re-invest into the
organisation, making qualitative
and quantitative growth a
predictable reality.

1 Our product mix
Our ability to select complex
molecules in growing lifestyle
therapeutic segments with high
entry barriers, enabling us to
create a niche in a populated
business space.

2 Our research and development
Our ability to undertake complex
and hazardous reactions, enabling
to position ourselves among the
top five within our product
category in the Indian and global
pharmaceutical industry. 

3

Our innovative marketing
Our ability in extending the quality
of our products into an irresistible
price-value-added proposition,
translating one-off transactions
into long-standing business
relationships.

8 Our focus on pharmaceutical
services
Our ability to provide a
wholesome solution for complex
research and product
manufacture, making us a
preferred business ally for Indian
and international pharmaceutical
majors.   

9 Our prudent fund management
Our ability to infuse low-cost funds
just when they are needed,
making us a fiscally competitive
pharmaceutical manufacturer.

10

Our uncompromising quality
Our uncompromising quality
standard, reflected in more than
meeting pharmacopoeial
benchmarks and helping us create
a brand in the minds of discerning
customers. 

4 Our state-of-the-art manufacturing
infrastructure
Our operational scalability and
flexibility in meeting diverse
customer requirements with
speed, leading to attractive
profitability and significant
economies of scale. 

5

Our strategic process
development
Our continuously enhancing
efficiency, strengthening our edge
in a competitive generic market.

6 Our regulatory compliance
Our ability to address a complex
global regulatory framework,
identifying changes in the global
economy with speed, leading to a
proactive strategy.

7

7
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intellectual capital=higher profitability



The pharmaceutical business
critically depends on an
organisation’s intellectual
capital: employees are critical
knowledge banks who drive
profitability, making it
imperative to retain them.

In recent years, India has established
itself as a preferred outsourcing base
for reputed international pharmaceutical
companies, making it imperative for
domestic pharmaceutical players to
scale their operations, and, in turn,
recruit qualified people skills and
competencies. 

Ind-Swift Labs has attracted and
retained the best talent within its
industry through the following
initiatives: 

• Team: The Company created a four-
member team for career profiling and
competency mapping to ensure that
the right person is recruited for the right
job, a proactive initiative to minimise
attrition. 

• Knowledge: It focused on
knowledge-enhancement through an
institutionalised training (hard and soft
skills) calendar that covered all
employees. 

• Investment: It invested Rs. 7 lakhs in
training programmes directed towards
the implementation of cGMP and FDA
standards. 

• Training: It invested 3-5 days of
training per person per year; it
conducted quarterly training sessions
on behavioural patterns, team

management, interpersonal skills; it
sent employees  – 108 employees in
the last three years - for external training
programmes; it commissioned a Rs. 2.5
million training center for training in the
latest validated standard operating
procedures in line with international
statutory requirements and ICQ7HA
guidelines; it conducted mock audits to
gauge its training effectiveness. 

• Meritocracy: It moved towards a
performance-oriented remuneration
structure, rewarding the deserving with
increments higher than industry
standards. 

• Review: It practiced a quarterly and
half-yearly review of corporate targets,
leading to timely correction in the event
of a deviation.

• Participative: It encouraged employee
involvement through cross-functional
team working. 

These initiatives have translated into
attractive results:

• Successful retention: Ind-Swift Labs
reduced attrition to a mere 3%
compared to the industry average of
10%.

• Increased productivity: Production
per employee increased remarkably by
45.62%, while profit per employee
strengthened from Rs. 1.76 lakhs to Rs.
5.72 lakhs in 2004-05.

• Organisational growth: The Company
emerged among the 15 fastest-growing
pharmaceutical companies (from
among the large ones) in India.

9
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superior portfolio=rapid growth



The success of a
pharmaceutical company is
largely dependent on the
prudent selection of its
product portfolio in an
industry marked by a plethora
of APIs, increased
genericisation, price erosion
and commoditisation. 

This is particularly true for India where a
highly competitive environment has
translated into declining realisations and
margins for most players. 

Ind-Swift Labs responded to this
industry reality in the following manner: 

• Therapeutic segment: Ind-Swift Labs
selected to be present in the life-style
therapeutic segments - cardiovascular,
diabetolgy , hyperlipidemic  and anti-
depressants growing faster than the
industry average. 

• Protected: The Company selected to
manufacture complex APIs with high
entry barriers, hazardous reactions and

a large working capital requirement. 

In doing so, the Company reported
spectacular growth: 

• Its eight APIs figure in the top 20
global blockbuster drugs with a market
size of US$ 25 bn 

• It is the world’s second-largest
manufacturer of Clarithromycin,
currently the second-largest API in the
macrolide antibiotic therapeutic
segment in the global market.

• It is the world’s second-largest
manufacturer of Atorvastatin, the
world’s best selling drug in 2004  

• It developed Nitazoxanide, an anti-
diarrhoeal molecule for the first time in
Asia and only the second time in the
world after Romark Laboratories
(molecule originator).

• Its revenues grew 27.21%
(compounded) over the last five years,
while profits grew faster at 58.92% over
the same period.

11
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cutting-edge R&D=non-infringing processes



In the pharmaceutical
industry, success is
determined by the speed with
which a company develops
products faster than
competition.

This is especially pertinent in the Indian
pharmaceutical industry as international
majors are looking to outsource a large
part of their R&D activity on account of
its large and affordable knowledge pool. 

Over the years, Ind-Swift Labs
strengthened its R&D initiative through
the following initiatives: 

• Commitment: Ind-Swift Labs invested
Rs.4785.26 lakhs in the last five years
towards its R&D initiative, approximating
12.36% of its annual turnover in
2004-05. 

• Strength: The Company’s R&D
strengths comprised a knowledge pool
of over 85 scientists and technical
personnel. 

• Competence: It developed an
expertise in the stable management of
complex techniques and processes
(chiral separations, Grignard reaction,
Stetter reaction, Silylation, Oximation,
Ketalisation, Hydrogenation under
pressure, Beckmann rearrangement
and stereoselective synthesis).

• Equipment: It invested in
sophisticated world-class equipment
capable of handling extreme reactions
involving a temperature range from -
150°C to +250°C and pressure capacity
upto 15 kg/sq inch.

• Collaboration: It entered into a tie-up
with premier research institutes like
National Institute of Pharmaceutical
Education and Research, facilitating an
easy access to critical insights. 

• Global: It is upgrading its R&D

infrastructure at par with international
standards. 

• Bio-batch plant: It has installed a bio-
batch plant, operating as per cGMP
norms, facilitating the approvals of its
products in the international and
domestic markets. 

• Facility: It is setting up a Rs.25 cr and
40,000 sq. ft R&D centre at Mohali,
comprising eight synthetic labs (five
generic, rest dedicated for contract
research for international majors), the
latest equipment and gadgets to
facilitate development of non-infringing
processes, helping generate data as per
ICH guidelines and prepare DMFs in
CTD format for US and other regulated
markets. 

In doing so, the Company: 

• Launched several new molecules
through in-house research, a majority
launched within a year in India of their
launch by the innovator company,
belonging to the top 10 therapeutic
groups (US $ 100 billion in global sales
and 33% of the world’s market).

• Emerged as the first in the world
(apart from the innovator Abbott) to
develop Clarithromycin granules and the
first to develop Roxithromycin granules.

• Possesses a Research and
Development, Chemical Research and
Analytical Development facility duly
recognised by the Department of
Science and Technology (Government
of India).

• Possesses an attractive pipeline of 20
products expected to go off patent
between 2007 and 2010. 

• Filed nine patents for non-infringing
process of which one has already been
granted.

13
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enhanced quality=repeat business



In the pharmaceutical
industry, long-term
sustainability is ensured
through a consistently
uncompromising approach
towards quality: enhancing
confidence in the buyer,
creating world-class products
and generating a top-of-the-
mind brand recall. 

This is particularly critical for the Indian
pharmaceutical industry: a number of
international pharmaceutical players are
looking to sign business alliances with
Indian companies on the strength of
their USFDA-approved manufacturing
facilities.  

Relevantly, Ind-Swift Labs enhances
customer delight through the following
initiatives:   

• Checks: Ind-Swift Labs
commissioned quality assurance and
quality control departments with
defined responsibilities serving as
effective checks. 

• Equipment: The quality control and
assurance department was equipped
with cutting-edge equipment
comprising HLPC, gas chromatography,
X-ray disfraction, liquid chromatography
(LCMS/MS) and particle size analyzers. 

• Process: It instituted Standard
Operating Practices (approved by the
QA team) that created a step-by-step
validation of the entire manufacturing
process leading to an assured product
quality.

• Validation: It carried out a detailed
vendor validation procedure comprising
firm audits, cGMP compliance
questionnaire and R&D evaluation for
every new vendor. It carried out a
detailed process and analytical
validation with a view to produce
consistent world-class quality. 

• Testing: It tested raw materials, in-
process samples, semi-finished and
finished products in its laboratory as per
Indian Pharmacopoeia, BP and USP
specifications.

• Infrastructure: It commissioned a
sophisticated laboratory and pilot plant
for the evaluation of end products at
the R&D stage leading to commercial
production.

These initiatives translated into a
number of benefits:

• The Company’s clients comprised
leading Indian formulators like Lupin,
Wockhardt, Glenmark, IPCA, Dabur,
Unichem and Cadila Laboratories; it
entered into alliances with four US
companies (from among the top 15
companies in that country) for the
supply of off-patent products.

• It reported remarkably low impurity
levels for Clarithromycin, Fexofenadine
and Pioglitazole compared to
pharmacopoeial requirements. In fact,
the quality parameters became
benchmarks for others. 

15
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better infrastructure=global alliances 



In the pharmaceutical
industry, growing regulatory,
customer and consumer
demands have necessitated
the creation of quality and
scalable infrastructure that
will remain relevant over the
long-term.

This feature is particularly relevant in the
Indian context: as international majors
consolidate their front-end capacities,
there is a greater requirement to scale
capacities at the back-end to address
increasing volumes, an integral
requirement in the globalisation strategy
of India. 

In view of this, Ind-Swift Labs invested
in global capacities to leverage
attractive economies of scale and
emerge as a preferred partner of
international generic companies.

• Ind-Swift Labs earmarked Rs.200 cr
for capacity expansion over the next
three years, with a view to expand its
statins capacity by 500%, anti-histamine
capacity by 300% and anti-infective
capacity by 80%.   

• The Company set up a cGMP-
compliant facility, wherein its
Clarithromycin capacity was expanded
from 54 TPA in 2002-03 to 87.40 TPA in
2004-05 with an expansion to 120 TPA
to be commissioned in October 2005.

• It set up a cGMP compliant facility
wherein its Fexofenadine capacity was
expanded from 12 TPA to 30 TPA in
2004-05 including a unit for the
manufacture of Fexofenadine
intermediate.  

• It has commissioned a new USFDA-
compliant API unit in Jammu & Kashmir.   

• Its facilities operate in line with
globally accepted standards/ICH
guidelines, successfully passing audits
conducted by the WHO. It has
upgraded its facilities to meet the
exacting USFDA standards at an
investment of approximately Rs. 20 cr. 

• It installed new boilers, raising boiler
capacity and cooling tower capacities; it
commissioned a new multi-fuel boiler
and a higher capacity DG set to
become completely self-sufficient with
regard to its power requirements. 

• It is installing an USFDA-compliant
multi-purpose unit at Punjab dedicated
to meeting regulated market
requirements.

Over the short-term, these initiatives
resulted in the following achievements:

• The Company surpassed its 2004-05
production budget, the first such
instance in its existence. 

• Its production volumes increased
14.10% over the previous year.

• Its EBIDTA margin increased from
14.64% in 2003-04 to 19.67% in
2004-05.

• It forged alliances with reputed
international pharmaceutical companies
in US, UK, Germany, Spain, Greece and
Mexico for servicing their requirements
of four major products – Clarithromycin,
Fexofenadine, Atorvastatin and
Clopidogrel - exclusively from the
Company once they go off-patent.

17
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process development=lower costs



Accelerating genericisation
has made lowest cost
production through non-
infringing processes
imperative: to survive
competition, enhance
profitability and attract
international recognition
(through patents) for novel
process developments.

This is critical for the Indian
pharmaceutical industry as a shift in
focus from process re-engineering to
novel and non-infringing process
development is the highlight of the
product patent regime from 1 January
2005.

Convinced that success would be
derived from an alteration in research
direction rather than a process re-
engineering focus, the Company
embarked on the following initiatives:

• It created a separate process
development laboratory to focus on
continuous process improvement
through non-infringing routes.   

• This laboratory comprises state-of-the-
art analytical development laboratory

supported by 15 professionals with a
special focus on method development,
validations and other R&D support.

• Its approach comprised product
development from the basic stage
leading to an accurate process
understanding and easy identification of
areas where time and costs could be
significantly reduced.

• It focused on cost reduction and
production cycle time reduction as its
productivity drivers. 

This distinctive focus translated into the
following results: 

• Decline in the material costs of
Fexofenadine, Atorvastatin and
Clopidogrel. 

• An increase in the Company’s
revenue and profits from Clarithromycin
despite a decline in realisations by 20%
over the three years.

• A reduction in the cycle time per
batch for Atorvastatin leading to
increased productivity by more than
70%. 

• An improvement in the yield per batch
of Fexofenadine by about 30%.  

19
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regulatory compliance=regulated market access



In the pharmaceutical
industry, the increasing
complexity of regulatory
requirements that vary from
country to country has made
it mandatory for corporates to
maintain a regulatory cell to
stay abreast of these evolving
regional norms.

This is important for the Indian
pharmaceutical companies: A large
number of drugs going off patent in
Europe and US between 2005 and 2009
offers a big opportunity for the Indian
companies to leverage their low cost
status and capture this market.

With an intent to increase its presence
in the international scene and becoming
a preferred business partner   for
reputed international pharmaceutical
corporates, Ind-Swift Labs embarked
proactively on taken the following
steps:

• Commissioned a regulatory cell with

five qualified professionals. 

• Enlisted itself with internationally
renowned associations.    

• Extensively used the ICH and USFDA
guidelines in preparing its documents. 

• Subscribed to a number of
internationally acclaimed
pharmaceutical magazines providing
valuable data on the regulatory issues in
various countries.  

In doing so, 

• Ind-Swift Labs filed more than 52
DMFs across the globe. 

• The Company filed 4 DMFs in the US
and 48 DMFs in a number of European
countries in 2004-05 alone.

• It is among the first few Indian
companies to file DMFs in the CTD
format. 

• It has been able to successfully
establish itself in more than 45
countries across the globe. 

21



22

stronger marketing=more customers



Declining trade barriers have
increased competition,
making it necessary to create
a USP that will transform one-
off transactions into an
extended business
relationship.

This is significant for Indian
pharmaceutical companies for some
important reasons: international
companies are looking to outsource
beyond simple products to holistic
solutions from a selection of  a number
of Indian API companies. 

Ind-Swift Labs grew its relationship with
finished dosage manufacturers through
the following initiatives: 

• Ind-Swift Labs ensured that the
product quality standards were
consistently better than those specified
by the clients 

• Unlike most competitors, the
Company provided detailed DMFs
along with bio-batches to clients for
approval. 

• It set up a cGMP-compliant bio-batch
plant providing the API for bio-
equivalence studies for its valued
clients.

• It provided technical dossiers to its
clients from its parent company
Ind Swift Ltd. for the manufacture of
finished dosages.

• It created a robust product pipeline
making it possible to launch superior

products continuously and build its
international image as a research-led
organisation.

• It helped the client’s R&D and
production teams working with its
material to streamline their processes in
exchange for improved productivity.

• It customised its products to meet
the diverse client requirements with
respect to physical parameters. 

As a result of these initiatives, 

• Ind-Swift Labs grew its customer
base by 30% in 2004-05

• It consolidated its leadership in Turkey
and maintained its edge in Syria,
Pakistan, Korea and Greece (where it
has a 60% market share).

• It consolidated its foothold in the
international markets of the Middle
East, Latin America and Bangladesh.

• It entered into long-term tie-ups as the
primary API supplier for international
pharmaceutical companies in Brazil,
other Latin American countries, Greece
and the Middle East.

• It entered into a tie-up with a leading
Israel-based pharmaceutical company
for the supply of Fexofenadine
intermediate.

• It established a foot-hold in the
regulated market through a long-term
alliance with a reputed US company for
the supply of products for which the
bio-batches have already been sent. 

23
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pharmaceutical services=value-added income



International pharmaceutical
companies are beginning to
outsource various functions
with the objective to focus on
their core competence and
enhance their competitive
edge.

This provides an excellent opportunity
for the Indian pharmaceutical industry at
a time when India has been globally
accepted as a low-cost research
outsourcing base.  

Recognising this trend, Ind-Swift Labs is
entering into long-term business
alliances for pharmaceutical services
through the following initiatives: 

• Ind-Swift Labs has interestingly
chosen to focus on contract research
and manufacture as opposed only to
the latter. 

• It commissioned a completely new
R&D centre to focus on research for
international business alliances.  

• It is upgrading all its manufacturing
facilities in line with USFDA standards
and expects to be awarded certification
for them during the current year. 

• It provides a number of services
comprising the development of non-
infringing processes, development from
grams-to-kilo-to-pilot-to-commercial
scale as well as impurity profile studies

and environment impact analysis.

• It ventures to manufacture products in
its facilities upon successful product
development.

• It is strengthening its end-to-end
customer solution proposition: better-
than-industry quality products, complete
documentation-technical dossier, DMFs
matching USFDA standards and after-
sales service to delight customers.

• It set up an office in the US to forge
global alliances and capture a large
share of the CRAMs business.

These painstaking measures have
borne results. 

• The Company tied up with two
European companies for providing
pharmaceutical services (for drugs with
global revenues of US $ 7.5 billion) with
a commercial contract value of
US$ 10 mn; it is soon expected to
finalise an agreement with a reputed
international pharmaceutical corporate. 

• It signed an MOU in the area of plant
renovation and operational
management with an Iran-based
pharmaceutical major. 

• It entered into a long-term alliance
with a reputed Indian pharmaceutical
major for the supply of a leading
product.

25
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fiscal discipline=adequate liquidity 



An increasing emphasis on
stringent norms and
enhanced product quality has
necessitated an investment in
expensive state-of-the-art
equipment and continuous
upgradation.  

This is particularly true of the Indian
pharmaceutical industry where India is
required to invest sizably in
infrastructure upgradation to match
global expectations.   

Ind-Swift Labs is well placed in this
regard, procuring funds at a low cost
and shrinking the payback through the
following initiatives: 

• The Company financed its project
cost with a prudent mix of debt and
equity.  

• It mobilised fresh debt at an average
cost of about 8% and swapped dear
long-term working capital loans with the
low cost FCNR(B) loans. 

• It repaid Rs. 14.50 cr of high-cost debt
over three years.

• Its efficient project management

enabled project commissioning before
schedule, thereby reducing the payback
period and preponing profits; the
dedicated cGMP-compliant Atorvastatin
plant was put up in only four months
compared to a budgeted eight months
while the cGMP-compliant
Fexofenadine plant was commissioned
in eight months compared to an
industry benchmark of 12 months.

• It embarked on a number of cost-
cutting measures, reducing its fuel and
material input costs through process
improvements and equipment
investments.

These initiatives translated into the
following advantages: 

• A debt-equity ratio of only 1.15, lower
than the industry average.  

• A decline in the average cost of debt
by about 100 basis points in 2004-05 to
8.95%. 

• An increase in the EBIDTA margin
from 14.64% in 2003-04 to 19.67% in
2004-05 and return on employed capital
from 16.39% to 21.44% over the same
period.

27
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“We have very clearly
charted our path for the
future.”

Q & A session with our management

Mr. N R Munjal (above) and Mr. V K Mehta (below) review the
Company’s performance in 2004-05 and look ahead 
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Were you happy with the Company’s
performance in 2004-05?
Absolutely! The year under review was
a landmark in the history of Ind-Swift
Labs Laboratories, not just by what we
achieved but also by the foundation that
we laid for exponential growth across
the foreseeable future. 

What were numerical highlights?
Our turnover grew a healthy 46.17% to
Rs.231.80 cr due to a 375% growth in
revenue from products launched in the
previous year. For instance, the success
of our key product Nitazoxanide
translated into enhanced revenues of
Rs.3.52 cr in 2004-05.   

We grew our EBIDTA by Rs.22.21 cr
over the previous year. While EBIDTA
margin grew by 500 basis points to
19.67% in 2004-05, our profit after tax
grew 244.26% to Rs. 26.48 cr. 

However, what is heartening is the
appreciable increase in our return on
employed capital from 16.39% in 2003-
04 to 21.44% in 2004-05 despite an
inflationary environment, which for us
was really the summation of all our
initiatives during the course of the year.  

What initiatives did the Company take
to curtail costs?
Increasing competition necessitated

that every pharmaceutical company cut
costs to remain profitable. At Ind-Swift
Labs, we embarked on the following
process improvements and capital
investments in pursuit of the same
objective:

• A reduction in the cycle time of
manufacture by our process
development labs, enhancing
productivity.

• A reduction in power and fuel costs
through an investment in a multi-fuel
boiler using cheaper fuel sources. 

• A reduction in operating costs
through the installation of sophisticated
solvent recovery and waste heat
recovery systems.     

You mentioned that you laid the
foundation for the growth of the
Company. In what way? 
The year 2004-05 will go down as a
landmark for the Indian pharmaceutical
industry because it inspired a compete
change in strategy for most players due
to a new patent regime applicable in the
country. Because we had relevantly and
proactively aligned our business
strategy, we commenced its
implementation at an investment of
Rs.200 cr, which will be concluded over
the next three years. 

What were the key initiatives in this
regard?
Presently, there are more than three
projects at various stages of
development/ stabilisation. 

Capacity expansion: We are expanding
the capacity of our blockbuster
products. While the capacity of
Atorvastatin intermediates and
Fexofenadine were commissioned in
2004-05, the capacity of Atorvastatin
and Nitazoxanide will be commissioned
by the third quarter of the current
financial year. We increased the
capacity of Clarithromycin from 54 TPA
to 87 TPA to a proposed 120 TPA within
2005-06.

Facility upgradation: We commissioned
three cGMP compliant plants - one each
for Atorvastatin intermediates,
Fexofenadine and Clarithromycin – and
are upgrading our existing facilities with
the objective to get USFDA certification
for all our plants within the year. 

Greenfield: We are setting up two new
plants as per USFDA and cGMP
standards (both in Punjab) to meet the
demand emerging out of the regulated
markets.  

R&D center: We are investing in a state-
of-the-art R&D facility at Mohali with the

Decision-making: Our swift decision-making has enabled us to capitalise on opportunities faster than our competitors.

R&D capability: Our cutting-edge R&D capability has enabled us to manage complex and hazardous reactions leading to the
manufacture of sophisticated products with high entry barriers. 

Technology absorption: Our motivated team has enabled us to successfully absorb the technology for the manufacture of
Clarithromycin in only 42 days against an industry average of about nine months.

People management: Our approach to employees as partners (as opposed to mere workers) has strengthened people retention.  

Customer retentive ability: Our product customisation abilities, our product quality and the package of services in addition to the
product delivery differentiates us from our competition.  

State-of-the-art infrastructure: Our investment in the best-in-practice equipment enables us to deliver quality products far superior
than industry benchmarks and the flexibility to undertake the manufacture of a large number of products. 

OUR STRENGTHS 
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objective to file more than 20 DMFs by
2008 and conduct contract research for
our international clients. 

What are you doing in the area of
‘contract research’?  
We signed contracts with two European
companies to develop their products -
molecules with a market size of US$ 7
bn through non-infringing processes,
supporting them with detailed
documentation and dependable
manufacture. We are at an advanced
stage of negotiation with a third
European Union company for a similar
contract. Additionally, we also entered
into a strategic business alliance with a
reputed Indian pharmaceutical company
for the long-term supply of one of our
leading products.

What steps have you taken to increase
your global visibility? 
We recognised that it was important to
establish a foothold in the regulated US
markets, for which we sent bio-batches
of our products to prospective
customers, approvals for which are
expected shortly. We registered
ourselves (as approved API suppliers)
with companies making technical
dossiers for finished dosage
manufacturers. Besides, we entered

into business-enhancing contracts with
a pharmaceutical major in Iran, with a
leading pharmaceutical company in
Israel and US finished dosage
manufacturers for the dependable
supply of off-patent products. We
expect that the complement of these
initiatives will translate into a growing
international exposure over the coming
years.

Where is the Company’s growth likely
to come from?
Our robust product pipeline of 20
products is expected to go off patent
between 2007 and 2010, of which five
will be launched during the current year.
In addition, we have filed 20 DMFs in
the current year in the US and the
European markets, expecting to
increase our international presence over
the coming years. The commissioning
of our new R&D center is likely to
translate into the filing of about 20
DMFs by 2008. 

What is the biggest challenge facing
Ind-Swift Laboratories?
That of registering a visible presence in
the quality demanding US market. We
embarked on a number of initiatives to
do so: 

• Commissioned a subsidiary in the US

to spot opportunities faster.

• Filed nine patents through non-
infringing processes and already
received an approval for one
(cardiovascular product).  

• Entered into outsourcing agreements
with four leading US pharmaceutical
companies. 

• Engaged patent attorneys in the US to
keep abreast of evolving regulatory
norms and non-infringing processes.

How does the Company expect to
enhance shareholder value?
Primarily through our business strategy:
a reconciliation of value and volume
growth, a lower-than-industry
conversion cost and higher-than-
industry value-addition. In doing so, we
expect to report robust margins over
the coming years. As an extension, we
expect to reward our shareholders with
a dividend payout that reconciles the
Company’s need to conserve resources
for ploughback with its need to
distribute a part of its profits. In view of
this, the Company has formulated a
dividend policy, which will be directly
related to its profits, leading to
enhanced value in the hands of those
who own the Company.  

Our robust product pipeline of 20 products is expected
to go off patent between 2007 and 2010, of which five
will be launched during the current year. In addition, we
have filed 20 DMFs in the current year in the US and the

European markets, expecting to increase our
international presence over the coming years.



Our generic strategy revolves around
three pillars - ascertain, address and
achieve – helping us emerge as a
preferred business partner for
multinational organisations in search of
cost-effective outsourcing solutions
from India.

Ascertain
We recognised that to attract
international pharmaceutical companies,
we needed to build their confidence in
our competence, flexibility and
scalability. To do so, we recognised that
we needed to possess state-of-the-art
infrastructure delivering attractive
economies of scale, internationally
accepted quality certifications and a
sophisticated infrastructure for cutting-
edge research. 

Address
• We launched complex molecules with
the objective to emerge among the first
three in India and among the five
leading companies in the world.

• We commissioned manufacturing
facilities according to cGMP guidelines.

• We expanded our facilities to meet
the growing demand for niche products
– Clarithromycin from 54 TPA in 2002-03

to 87.5 TPA in 2003-04 and Atorvastatin
from 0.90 TPA in 2002-03 to 2.3 TPA in
2003-04, among others.  

• We realigned our systems and
processes to adhere to the stringent
USFDA standards.

• We commissioned a full-fledged
regulatory team to study the regulatory
requirements of the various markets as
a precursor to making an informed
entry.

• We commissioned a representative
office in the US, the largest
pharmaceutical market in the world.

• We launched the blockbuster
‘Nitazoxanide’, a new anti-diarrheal
product, launched for the first time in 40
years.  

• We commissioned two multi-utility
operating facilities, one of which will be
dedicated to service the regulated
markets.   

• We expanded the production capacity
of existing products to meet growing
demand. 

• We commissioned a new R&D centre.

• We benchmarked our manufacturing
facilities in accordance with cGMP and
USFDA standards.

• We are in the process of creating a
strong product pipeline comprising 25
products to be launched over the next
five years. 

Achieve
A research-led competitive edge
originated our virtuous cycle.

• We developed Clarithromycin through
a non-infringing process, emerging as
its second-largest global producer
(second only to its originator).

• We strengthened our position as the
second-largest global producer of four
APIs (market worth US$15 bn).

• We enriched our product mix with
eight APIs that figure in the world’s top
20 blockbuster drugs with a market size
of US$ 25bn (as on March 31, 2005).

• We were among the few Indian
companies to file DMFs in the CTD
format.

• We successfully partnered with
reputed Indian and international
pharmaceutical majors in the area of
CRAMs.

• We strengthened our brand in a
commoditised market, emerging as a
quality benchmark. 

IND-SWIFT LABS’ ‘TRIPLE A’ STRATEGY 
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right strategy=enhanced shareholder value 
The business of Ind-Swift Labs is to provide a price-value proposition to its customers; the objective of the Company is
continuously increasing value for its shareowners. 

This is clearly evident from the Company’s performance in 2004-05: 

• An increase in the return on average net worth (ROANW) from 15.68% in 2003-04 to 33.04% in 2004-05 

• An increase in the return on average capital employed (ROACE) from 16.39% in 2003-04 to 21.44% in 2004-05

• An increase in the total shareholders’ return from Rs. 29.70 per share in 2003-04 to Rs. 157.55 per share in 2004-05

Return on average net worth
The sustainability of a Company’s
operations is gauged by its return on
average net worth (calculated by
dividing the profit after tax by the
average net worth for the year), which
factors in the reinvestment of
shareholders’ funds into the business.      

Return on average capital employed
The ROACE is a simple but effective
tool that highlights business profitability.
The Company is at that stage in its
history when every rupee re-invested in
the business is expected to generate
higher returns than what stakeholders
would have otherwise earned from
investments made in risk-free financial
securities. This is demonstrated in the
increasing returns from the Company’s
employed capital: of 21.44% in
2004-05, the highest in three years.

Total shareholders’ return (TSR)
The total shareholders’ return improved
from Rs.29.70 per share in 2003-04 to
Rs. 157.55 per share in 2004-05. 

TSR reflected the gain earned by the
shareholders – directly and indirectly
(directly in the form of the dividend
received by them; indirectly in the form
of the capital appreciation registered by
the stock during the financial year under
review). TSR was derived from
subtraction of the year-start market
capitalisation from the year-end market
capitalisation, its subsequent addition to
the dividend payout during the year and
the division of the subsequent figure by
the opening market capitalisation.

02-03 03-04 04-05

33.04

14.56 15.68

02-03 03-04 04-05

21.44

15.74 16.39

02-03 03-04 04-05

157.55

-1.45

29.70

RONW (%) ROACE (%) TSR (Rs.)
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Management’s
discussion and analysis 
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Global pharmaceutical industry
• Size: Estimated in excess of
US$500 bn (comprising APIs and
formulations).

• Growth: 7% over the last year.

• Genericisation: Drugs about to lose
patents estimated at about US$40 bn till
2008 in the US alone.

Characteristics of the global industry

Increasing healthcare costs 
Healthcare costs have increased
significantly over the years on account
of more stringent healthcare standards
being adopted across an increasing
number of developed countries.
Consider this: healthcare spending in
the U.S. accounts for a staggering 14%
of its gross domestic product. 

This high cost has made it imperative
for governments and private payers to
seek cheaper alternatives without
compromising quality and service.
Pharmaceutical and healthcare
companies are responding responsibly
to this need with lower production
costs. 

Increasing regulatory pressures 
Companies in this industry are required
to address complex regulatory
requirements that change from country
to country and respond with speed to
changes in global rules and regulations.
Besides, the intensive standards of
GMPs, GLPs, MEAs, NDAs, HIPPA,
validation, and clinical trials translate into
increased monitoring and lower
flexibility, making planning increasingly
complex and also adding to R&D and
operating costs. Now, more than ever, a
technology-based solution has emerged
as critical to the management of
regulatory overheads. 

Consolidation in the industry
To contain costs, the industry is
responding with an increased incidence
of mergers and acquisitions, leading to
an enhanced scale across healthcare
manufacturers, wholesalers and
providers, supported by flexible and
responsive supply chain capabilities.
Hospitals and other care providers are
merging, joining marketplaces and
investing in technology to strengthen
their planning and procurement. Payers
and distributors are joining public
marketplaces to drive processing
efficiencies. 

Forecasting when change is the only
constant 
Accuracy in demand forecasts is
particularly difficult, given the unknowns
that can impact this industry. Despite
the difficulties in forecasting, the
financial markets are unforgiving. A
missed forecast for a major product
release can cost a company 10% or
more in lost market capitalisation. 

Adequate supply can mean life or
death 
Adequate supply is a critical issue
facing the pharmaceutical and
healthcare industry as, unlike other
products, a patient can literally die if a
certain medication is unavailable. But
while pharmaceutical and healthcare
companies must provide adequate
supplies of lifesaving drugs, they are not
exempt from the same supply chain
issues that plague other industries -
much to the contrary. If lost sales due
to production shortages are not
minimised - or eliminated - both the
human and economic impact can be
catastrophic. By ensuring an efficient
asset utilisation, shorter planning
processes and company-wide visibility,
pharmaceutical and healthcare

companies can prevent such disasters
by responding rapidly to a changing
market. 

Source globally, act locally 
One of the key issues in the
pharmaceutical and healthcare industry
is an across-the-board cost
management; one of its biggest
expenditures is for strategic and non-
strategic materials. While cost reduction
is an obvious goal — as it is for any
business — pharmaceutical and
healthcare companies need to pay a
special attention to minimise tangible
risks to their customers (as well as the
company and its suppliers) in the
process.

Global pharmaceutical outsourcing
The global scene for contract
manufacturing 
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Why outsourcing?  
The principal rationale for outsourcing is
cost reduction with the objective to
make drugs and finished dosages
affordable to a larger section of society.
In view of this, international
pharmaceutical majors are looking to
outsource a part of their not-so critical
operations to low-cost destinations
possessing adequate capability in
infrastructure and technically qualified
competencies.  

Market opportunity
This US $ 53 bn global opportunity
comprises three broad spaces -
manufacturing outsourcing (supply of
APIs/intermediates), development
outsourcing (conducting pre-clinical /
clinical trials) and customised chemistry
services (contract research services for
molecules in the pre-launch stage).
Manufacturing outsourcing (US$ 16 bn
market size involving the export of
APIs/intermediates) represents the most

scalable and sustainable cash flow
generating opportunity for Indian
companies in the product patent
regime.

Manufacturing outsourcing
• Existing outsourcing market of
US$ 16 bn expected to grow to
US$ 27 bn by 2010

• Indian companies are well geared on
key parameters to address this space

– Regulatory compliance

– Technical capabilities

– Complex chemistry synthesis

– Alliance relationships

* Significant cost advantages for Indian
companies

Development outsourcing
• Existing development market of
US$ 7 bn expected to grow to
US$ 20-23 bn by 2010.

• India scores highly compared to the

US in key clinical trial factors.

• Key regulatory and patent-related
hurdles expected to be streamlined
starting 2005.

• Cost advantages for Indian
companies.

Customised chemistry services
• Current market of US$1bn expected
to triple over the next five years.

• India advantage outnumbers the risks. 
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Source: Industry data

Global pharmaceutical industry: Networked business model

Discovery 
Product

development
Manufacturing Sales Distribution

• Broader
technology base,
hence higher
synergies, greater
productivity and
reduces risks

• Reduced time

• Reduced costs

• Reduced costs

• Increased
efficiency through
leveraging
vendors expertise

• Increased
flexibility at lower
costs

• Reduced risks of
lower Rol

• Faster
expansion

• Increased
flexibility at lower
costs

• Increased
efficiency through
leveraging
vendors expertise

Benefits of collaborating/outsourcing



Indian pharmaceutical industry

Overview
The Indian pharmaceutical industry is
estimated to be about US$ 7 bn,
growing at a CAGR of around 15%.
Forced by a change in the patent law
within India and opportunities offered in
the international market, the mindset of
Indian companies towards research has
gone through a paradigm transition. As
a result, the strategic focus of key
Indian pharmaceutical companies is to
establish a strong foothold in the
advanced markets through a research-
driven business.

• India contributes 8% to global
pharmaceutical sales volumes but only
1% to global sales in value terms.

• It is the fourth largest producer of
pharmaceutical products by volume
after the USA, Japan and China and the
thirteenth largest by value. 

India’s competitive-edge
Manpower: Indian companies have low
development costs, complex synthesis
capabilities (they can undertake
complex syntheses in relatively short
periods of time), growing experience
with cGMP compliance and low costs
when it comes to establishing a
manufacturing facility. India has a large
number of chemists, many with
doctorates from the US and Europe,
who can develop the creative processes
to help companies overcome patent-
related obstacles.

Demand: India’s patent laws have
resulted in new drugs being launched
within a short time following their
introduction in the global market.
Domestic demand from about 350
million people who use and can afford
western-style medicine has led to a
higher volume of production with low
prices. 

Outsourcing: European manufacturers
are likely to continue manufacturing,
being R&D-driven companies across the
foreseeable future, but they might
increasingly enter into partnerships with
late-stage intermediate suppliers in
countries with lower development and
production costs. Therefore, India might
have a role in outsourcing, directly and
indirectly.

Why pharmaceutical outsourcing manufacturing will gain momentum

• The pharmaceutical industry has a long product development cycle of eight to 10 years between idea generation and product
sales and end users. A company that intends to manufacture its own product must make a large capital investment before the
drug has completed regulatory reviews. If the drug fails, the plant might have little value, making outsourcing attractive.

• Marketing costs have increased because of the incidence of a higher number of me-too drugs. Since a number of these are not
unique, they need to be ‘pushed’ among opinion makers so pharmaceutical companies have to keep large budgets for marketing
to doctors and consumers. This makes it imperative for manufacture to cut costs elsewhere.

• There is an increased pricing pressure from the government and managed care organisations. 

• Manufacturing brings its own share of problems, like labour relations and compliance environmental compliances, which
outsourcing can circumvent.

• The advent of chiral chemistry has increased the average number of steps in the syntheses of new molecules, posing new
challenges to process development and manufacturing, with which not all companies can cope, making outsourcing a prudent
business decision.

• There are several biotechnology-led companies in the west that focus primarily on R&D with no or limited production capabilities.
It becomes mandatory for them to outsource their production.

India has reinforced its competitive edge
due to the following reasons:

• The second-largest pool of English
speaking medical professionals in the
world.

• The presence of a huge patient pool. 

• Lower costs of pre-clinical testing.

• Lower costs of conducting contract
research.

• Lower costs of contract manufacturing.
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Key competitive positions of pharmaceutical  manufacturing locations

Source: UBS

Source: CII Domestic market perspective 

Global market perspective

The Indian pharmaceutical industry

Threats  Strengths Weaknesses Opportunities 

• 2005 IPR regime
implies drying up of
product pipeline for
Indian companies

• Lack of R&D enabling
regulatory environment 

• Pricing pressures
imposed by DPCO

• Threat from China  

• Ambiguity on VAT

• Loopholes in the
patent bill

• EXIM policy

• Large untapped
market 

• Fast changing
lifestyles

• Low cost
manufacturing 

• High chemistry and
process reengineering
skills

• Quick adoption of
new technology

• Strong research pool

• Rich biodiversity

• Strong marketing and
distribution network

• Lack of product
patents

• Low investments in
innovative R&D

• Lack of pricing power
impacts of growth

• Characterised by low
margins

• Low health care
spends

• Highly fragmented
industry

• Inadequate regulatory
standards

• Spurious drug sales

• Potential to absorb
high priced products
and changing
demographic and socio
economic profile

• Opening up of the
health insurance sector

• Product patent
production from 2005

• Escalating R&D costs
across the world

• Pressure on global
pharma to reduce costs

• Large number of
drugs going off patent

• Low potential product
pipeline

• Opening of OTC
segment

India Europe

Costs Low cost of labour and overheads Higher costs that India and China 

Strengths Chemistry and process development skills High technology, consistent quality,
custom manufacturing

Focus market Big domestic demand but increasing focus on Export focused manufacturing
exports to developed markets

Weakness Perceived weakness relating to confidentiality Increasing costs due to environmental issues
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India after 1 January 2005
A significant change has transpired in
the Indian pharmaceutical industry. As a
signatory to the trade-related intellectual
property agreement, India  recognises
product patents from 1 January 2005. In
this new environment, product patents
will be protected for at least 20 years
from the date of patent application. 

In the absence of competent basic
research capabilities across the Indian
pharmaceutical industry, the
apprehension is that most companies
will no longer be able to survive. In this
adversity is opportunity, especially for
low-cost pharmaceutical destinations
providing an exciting future starting
from 2005. 

Developed markets: declining
profitability
On the one hand, it is true that as
reverse engineering is banned,
opportunities to convert patent
molecules for sale within India will be
eliminated. But on the other hand, over
the next five years, a large number of
products are going off patent (generic)
in the US alone to more than make up
for this lost opportunity. 

Concurrent with this, a number of
changes that have begun to transpire in
the pharmaceutical industry among
developed nations are: 

• The cost of development in Western

countries is higher. 

• There is increased consumer and
governmental pressure on global
manufacturers to provide affordable
remedies. 

• Research productivity is declining
because a lower number of new
chemical entities (NCEs) being
approved. 

• Product pipelines are shrinking due to
a rapid patent expiry. 

• Global pharma companies are
annually spending upwards of
US$ 35 bn in research and
development. Per product drug
development cost is estimated at
US$ 800 mn, a part of which can be
outsourced. 

• Intense pressure from generic
companies and a large number of
Para IV wins in the last 3-4 years has hit
most blockbusters. 

To protect margins, an increasing
number of global MNCs will need to
either set up manufacturing bases in
lower cost economies or simply
outsource from cheaper destinations.

Growing generics potential 
There is mounting global concern
among health authorities and insurers
on the rising expense of prescription
drugs. As top drugs approach patent-

expiry, there is an increased publicity to

promote the use of generics (products

gone off-patent). This is reflected in their

growing popularity: from 18% of ethical

prescriptions in 1984 to almost 47%

presently and expected to rise in excess

of 50% over the foreseeable future. 

India: Global solutions centre

India, with its resident skills in process

chemistry, cost-value manufacturing,

low-cost scientific base and an

increasing patent respect, is emerging

as a preferred outsourcing destination

for research, clinical trials as well as

contract research and manufacturing

services (CRAMS). 

This competency mix is reflected in a

sharp increase in India’s product filings

(DMFs, ANDAs, CTD/ COS): the country

now accounts for more than 20% of the

global DMFs filings and the largest

number of FDA-approved units outside

USA. 

With research and development cost

that is a tenth of what it is in developed

markets, Indian pharma companies now

address a US$ 11 bn opportunity. The

companies likely to be successful are

those who have embraced cutting-edge

technology, possess in-house scientific

capability, achieved critical mass and

have integrated a respect for IPRs into

their strategy.

Opportunities for Indian Pharma Companies (US$ bn)
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PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
Ind Swift Labs has registered an all
round improvement in its operations 

• Total income has grown from
Rs 160.52 cr in 2003-04 to Rs 232.37 cr
in 2004-05. 

• EBIDTA has increased by 94.5% to
Rs. 45.70 cr 

• Profit after tax has registered a
244.26% growth over the previous
fiscal. 

• Cash earning are up by Rs 19.14 cr
over 2003-04. 

Surplus management
Being a capital-intensive industry, it is
necessary to ensure that every rupee
invested in the business is sweated to
the maximum to earn revenue through
business operations. More importantly
this depicts the long-term direction of
the Company. 

The Company monitors its cash
movements periodically through a
rolling cash flow statement – facilitated
by reports from its plants, which
enables in determining the periodic
business surplus of cash. This enables
the Company take informed financial
commitments, besides ensuring more
accurate budgeting.  Ensuring efficient
utilisation of funds. 

In keeping with its policy of de-risked
value enhancement for stakeholders,
the Company re-invests its long term
surpluses with the objective to reduce
external debt and expand installed
capacity. Meanwhile, short-term
surpluses are directed to reduce
working capital limits from banks and
rationalise the Company’s interest
liability.

Revenue
Ind Swift Labs has registered revenue
of Rs. 231.80 cr in 2004-05 against
Rs. 158.59 cr in 2003-04, a growth of
46.17% over the previous financial year.
Of this, domestic earning has
accounted for 50.8% of the Company’s
revenue (excluding incentives) and grew
by 36.42% over 2003-04, while exports
have increased significantly by 60.18%;
reflecting the increased thrust by the
Company to increase its international
visibility.

Domestic: The Company has a wide
product range in the API segment. It
markets its products to a number of
reputed Indian pharmaceutical finished
dosage manufacturers. In the year
under review the Company has grown
through a combination of volume and
value. The key reasons for the growth in
the revenue for the current year are: 

• Increase in volumes from 107.90
tonnes in 2003-04 to 123.11 tonnes in
2004-05. 

• Revenue from new products, which
were launched in the recent past.  

• Increase in the customer base. 

An analysis of the income basket
reveals a growth in volumes for most of
the Company’s block buster products.

Sales quantity (tonnes)

2003-04 2004-05

Clarithromycin 45.83 72.56

Atorvastatin 2.76 4.70

Fexofenadine 10.167 10.42

Nitazoxanide .29 7.33

Clopidogrel 3.50 6.28

Exports: Exports constitute about
49.2% of the Company’s revenue
(excluding incentives). The Company
has a presence in 40-45 countries –
principally the Latin American countries,
the Middle East, the European and
Asian countries. It is the market leader
in Turkey for a range of products and
has long-term supply agreements with
some of its clients in the Latin American
countries. 

Composition of the export income (%)



42

Expenses
The Company’s total expenditure
increased 36% to Rs.496.45 mn over
the previous year. 

Expense break-up (as percentage to
total income) 

Years 2003-04 2004-05

Material cost 72.14 66.13

Power 2.16 1.90

Other manufacturing 3.94 4.25
expenses

Administration and 4.75 5.67
selling expenses

Administration and 4.75 5.67
selling expenses

R&D expenses 2.17 2.24

Other expenses 0.20 0.14

Operating profit 14.64 19.67

Intelligent cost management enabled
the Company to offset inflationary
pressures. As a result, expenses as a
proportion of total income declined
from 85.36% in 2003-04 to 80.33% in
2004-05.  

Materials consumed: The cost of
material costs consumed, during the
year, has increased by about 32.7%
over the previous financial year. The
Company procures its material inputs
from domestic and international
sources. More than 25% of the raw
materials and intermediates are sourced
from Chinese pharmaceutical
companies. For this, the Company has
set up an office in China, which will

enable it to seamlessly source quality
material. In addition, the Company
sources material from the US and other
European countries.     

Power costs: Power costs have
increased by 27.17% over the previous
year, largely due to the increased scale
of operation. The Company has taken a
number of initiatives during the year to
reduce its power costs, the effect of
which will be witnessed in 2005-06. 

• The installation of a multi-fuel boiler
which can use pet coke and rice husk in
place of furnace oil

• The Company has installed a higher
capacity DG set which eliminates the
loss in productivity due to the power
cuts experienced at the plants

• It has also installed a waste heat
recovery system – a zero-cost power
source that will reduce the power
drawn from the national grid

Employee cost: The employee cost for
the Company has increased by more
than 43.3%. This is due to the increase
in the number of employees (from 337
in 2003-04 to 463 in 2004-05) to operate
the additional capacity, which has been
commissioned during the year,
expected to be installed in the first half
of 2005-06. Also, the wage increase is
attributed to the annual wage revision
for all the employees of the Company.
For instance, the Company has already
recruited the technical personnel for its
new R&D centre, to be operational by

September 2005. 

Improved employee benefits, and an
increased incentivisation of meritorious
performance translated into an
improved productivity. This has resulted
in increased productivity and improved
profitability.

• Capacity utilisation has not fallen
below 80% over the last five years.

• Per person productivity has grown
from 183 kg in 2002-03 to 265 kg in
2004-05.

Years 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05

Turnover per 46.50 47.05 50.06
employee
(Rs lakh)

R&D expenses: The expenses towards
R&D have increased significantly by
244%. This is primarily on account of 

• An increase in the research activity
towards the development of non-
infringing processes

• Expenditure towards the preparation
and filing of DMFs and patents in the
US and India

Years 2002-03 2003-04 2004-05

R&D expenses 3.27 5.24 12.36
as% of net
sales

Margins
The Company strengthened its
profitability parameters. The EBIDTA
margins increased from 14.64% in
2003-04 to 19.67% in 2004-05 and the
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net margin witnessed a growth from

4.79% in 2003-04 to 11.40% in 2004-05,

through the following initiatives:

• Stronger realisations

• Improved product-mix

• Larger volumes

• Stringent cost control 

• Prudent fiscal management

Own funds 

Networth: The Company’s networth

has increased from Rs 57.32 cr in

2003-04 to Rs 102.75 cr in 2004-05. This

growth is attributed to: 

• Dilution of equity capital by Rs 34.03

cr (Rs. 2.78 cr under share capital and

Rs.31.25 under share premium). 

• Increase in the re-investment of

business surplus by Rs11.40 cr 

As a result, the book value per share

has increased from Rs 36.71 in 2003-04

to Rs 55.84 in 2004-05.

Composition of the net worth 

Share capital: The Company’s share
capital comprises equity capital of
Rs 18.40 cr and preference share capital
of Rs 3.51 cr. 

The equity capital has increased by
Rs 2.78 cr over the previous year – due
to the placement of 2786325 equity
shares to Promoters, FIIs, Bodies
Corporates and others at Rs 115 per
share.The promoters hold close to
29.32% of the total subscribed and
paid-up capital of the Company.

Reserves: Reserves represent the
lowest cost of funds for a Company,
especially if they have been created out
of redeployment of business surplus
into the business. 

In 2004-05, the Company’s reserves
have increased substantially over the
previous fiscal – from Rs 35.82 cr to
Rs 88.74 cr; a growth of 147.1%.  This
financial strength has been created by

painstakingly re-investing operational
surplus back into the business in 2004-
05. As a result, over the last five years,
the Company has been able to fund a
larger part of its capex through internal
accruals.

Addition to reserves (Rs./cr)

Loan funds and costs
The size and cost of debt often makes
the difference between a Company’s
success and failure, especially in a
capital-intensive business. In the short
term it impacts the profitability, while
over the long term it dictates the
strength with which the Company is
able to raise funds for future projects.

Over the years, the Company has
restructured its loan profile drastically to
strengthen its financial stability. In 2004-
05, the Company has leveraged on its
financial strength to fund 70% of its
capital expenditure through external
debt. It has added Rs 75 cr to its long
term debt portfolio at an average cost
of 8%.  

02-0301-02 03-04 04-05

Net margin (%)EBIDTA margin (%)

1
4
.2

1

4
.0

1

1
3
.1

2

3
.7

8

1
4
.6

4

4
.7

9

1
9
.6

7

1
1
.4

0

02-0301-02 03-04 04-05

3.47
8.41 10.30

52.92



44

The Company has also taken a number
of initiatives to rationalise its interest
burden. It has  

• It has swapped its high cost debt with
low coupon alternatives – long term
working capital loans have been
replaced with FCNR(B) loans 

• It has negotiated better for reducing
the cost of its existing debt portfolio

The success of this strategy is reflected in

• A declining average cost of debt from
13.7% in 2001-02 to 8.95% in 2004-05

• The interest cover has improved,
reflecting the comfortable position of
the Company to meet its interest
obligation

Interest cover 

Capital employed
The Company’s employed capital has
increased over the previous financial
year by Rs 119.42 cr. This is primarily on
account of the Rs 100.00 cr expansion
and modernisation programme being
implemented by the Company. The
commissioning of this capital
investment is expected to facilitate Ind-
Swift Labs graduate northward in the
pharmaceutical value-chain.

The Company has maintained a policy
that each rupee invested in the

business yields the maximum returns
for the Company. This is clearly
reflected in the Company’s performance
in the year under review – while the
employed capital has grown by
113.22% over 2003-04, the PBIT has
grown at a higher rate of 113.52% –
resulting in a higher return on employed
capital from 16.39% in 2003-04 to
21.44% in 2004-05. 

Fixed assets
In the pharmaceutical industry the
quality of the gross block represents a
Company’s competitive edge. Ind-Swift
Labs is very well placed in this regard.
Over the years, the Company has
consistently invested towards capacity
growth – from 61.68 TPA to 150 TPA
over the last five years leading to 2004-
05. To strengthen its competitive edge,
the Company has operated its assets
consistently at 82.08% of its rated
capacity. The efficient utilisation of the
Company’s assets is reflected in the
growing fixed asset turnover ratio –
reducing the payback for the
Company’s investments.  

Fixed asset/turnover ratio

The Company is now planning on the
largest single expansion project in its
history. The Company has already
initiated the modernisation and

expansion plan in the year under review
– resulting in a significant growth in the
capital work in progress.

The Company follows a policy of
charging depreciation on its assets on a
straight-line basis. The large gross block
at Ind-Swift Labs has led to an adequate
depreciation, an adequate buffer in this
capital-intensive business. The
depreciation charges were Rs.4.09 cr in
2004-05 up from Rs 2.78 cr in 2001-02.
This is largely due to the growing gross
block of the Company. While the
absolute depreciation charge has
increased, its proportion in the
distribution of every rupee has declined,
signifying a better utilisation of the
assets of the Company.

Depreciation/Turnover (%)

Working capital 
At Ind-Swift Labs, the working capital
(as at March 31, 2005) increased by
Rs 35.22 cr over the previous financial
year. Despite an increase in absolute
numbers, its proportion in the
Company’s employed capital has
declined from 36.6% at the end of
2003-04 to 32.8% as on March 31,
2005. This is largely due to a faster
turnaround of cash for its products and
a better negotiation with its suppliers
reflected in the reducing working capital
cycle. 



Inventory
At Ind-Swift Labs, inventory
management is a critical driver of
working capital efficiency for an
important reason: raw material must be
procured from different sources
(international and domestic
procurement) and stored for a long
tenure as well. Further the long process
cycles result in a sizeable amount of
inventory being tied up for work in
progress. 

The Company’s total inventory
increased both in absolute numbers
from Rs 54.69 cr at the close of 2003-04
to Rs 69.47 cr at the close of 2004-05;
and in terms of the proportion of
employed capital on account of the
increased operational scale. 

Inventory (days)

Debtors 
At Ind-Swift Labs, debtor management
is crucial for the Company on two
accounts

• Its revenue accrues from more than
45 locations around the globe

• Each working day generates a
revenue of Rs 6 lakhs

Non-receipt of receivables and the
resultant accumulation of debtors could

In the pharmaceutical industry the quality
of the gross block represents a Company’s
competitive edge. Ind-Swift Labs is very
well placed in this regard. 
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result in an increase in the working
capital requirement driving interest
costs in the short terms and the
disruption of operations over the long
term.

The debtors at the close of the year
have increased from Rs 21.64 cr at the
end of 2003-04 to Rs 48.51 cr in 2004-
05 and accounted for 40.8% of the
capital employed in the business (as
against 48.4% in the previous fiscal).
The increase is partly on account of
increase in the volume of business and
partly on account of the announcing of
VAT in the last quarter of the year under
review.  

Creditors
The Company is required to source
material from quality suppliers for which
prompt payments need to be made
consistently. This is especially true for
material from international sources for
which the demand is increasing
significantly necessitating prompt
liquidation of dues. Thanks to better
negotiation, the Company has been
able to increase its creditor’s cycle by 5
days – improving working capital
efficiency.

Internal control
The Company has in place adequate

system of internal control and
documented procedure covering all the
financial and operating function. These
has been designed to provide
reasonable assurance with regard
maintaining proper accounting control,
monitoring economy and efficiency of
the Company, protecting assets from
un authorised use or losses and
ensuring reliability of financial and
operational information. It is in a strong
position to detect frauds and/or
irregularities, if any. 

The internal controls are designed to
ensure that financial and other records
are reliable for preparing financial
statements and collating other data and
for maintaining accountability of assets. 

The audit committee of the Board of
Directors comprising independent
directors, which is functional for a long
time and reviews regularly, the plans,
significant audit finding, adequacy of
internal control as well as compliance
with accounting standards.

OUTLOOK

Industry outlook
• The fortunes of the Indian drug firms
are set to improve over the next few
years as they can tap the export

markets in the United States and
Europe, where US$ 500 bn worth of
drugs are set to go off-patent over the
next five years, making way for
generics.

• With the commencement of the new
product patent era in 2005, over the
next five years, as many as top 10 drugs
are going to lose patent protection.
Indian companies are expected to
produce six of these top 10 drugs. Also,
in the new product patent era, the top
20 Indian pharmaceutical companies are
expected to have an annual turnover
exceeding Rs. 1000 cr. 

• The profitability of the Indian
companies will vary a great deal
depending on their product portfolios,
competition, manufacturing and
marketing efficiency and the impact of
administered prices.

• Also in the new product patent era,
research focus will shift towards the
discovery of new chemical entities.
Those Indian pharmaceutical
companies, which have the ability to
invest 7% to 10% of their turnover on
research and development, their annual
revenue expenditure on this activity
alone could reach Rs.70 to Rs.150
crore, which, even though small by
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global standards, is still substantial in
the Indian context. 

• Indian companies are moving up the
value chain by moving to developed
markets and from bulk drugs to
formulation exports. Opportunities in
contract manufacturing of drugs and
contract research are also opening up
for these firms.

Company’s outlook
The Company’s outlook for the future
seems attractive over the medium term.
This optimism is based on the following
facts:

Product launches  
• The Company has a robust product
pipeline of 20 products, expected to go
off patent during 2007-2010.

• The products driving the Company’s
future growth include Ezetimibe (anti-
hyperlipidemic), Rosuvastatin,
Montelukast (anti-asthmatic) and
Pioglitazone, an anti-diabetic drug. The
Company expects to generate
significant volumes from these products
by 2007.

• The Company will be launching two
new products – thus becoming the third
company, globally, to launch these APIs
(STATINS range) with a combined

market size in excess of US$15 bn
expected to drive the Company’s
business significantly.  

Expansion and modernisation plans
• Besides, the commissioning of the
new plants is expected to fuel growth
for the Company with the additional
capacities expected to be on stream by
the second half of the current year. 

• The USFDA accredition to its plants
(expected by December 2006) will
enhance the Company’s image and
facilitate avenues of the Company’s
future business prospects. 

Pharmaceutical services
• The new R&D centre is expected to
be commissioned in the current year,
strengthening the Company’s research
capabilities. This is an effective
marketing tool for capturing a sizeable
part of the CRAMs business flowing
into the country.   

• The Company has forged alliances
with European companies for contract
research and manufacturing services,
which is going to add to the Company’s
turnover in the current year. 

International business strengthening
alliances 
• The Company has entered into

alliances with reputed international
pharmaceutical majors in Israel and Iran
– this is expected to generate significant
revenue for the Company.  

• The Company has also entered into
an agreement with a US-based
company, the bio-batches for which
have already been dispatched. This will
enable the Company to consolidate its
foothold in the regulated markets 

• The Company expects the regulated
markets to contribute about 30% of
revenues by 2008, facilitated by the
commissioning of a dedicated multi-
purpose facility at Rajapur. 

Domestic outsourcing alliance
The Company has entered into an
alliance with a reputed Indian finished
dosage manufacturer, which is
expected to contribute significantly to
the Company’s earnings and can be a
reference for soliciting further business.
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Risks and their
management
Ind-Swift Labs has formulated a well-defined and structured risk management
procedure, which helps insulate itself from adverse business conditions and
maximises opportunities when they present themselves. 

Ind-Swift Labs’ risk management approach is derived not from the directive of
a handful of individuals but an organisation-wide culture, supported by
effective processes.
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The Company’s risk management revolves around:

• Risk identification and risk measurement: Facilitated through corporate policies that provide risk standards and guidelines
(credit, market, liquidity, funding and operational).

• Risk management: Facilitated through the involvement of senior management for approval, reviews and other policy measures.
The end-point responsibility in risk-management is vested with the senior management, which approves the initiatives and makes
a continuous review of risk assessment

• Risk control: Facilitated through an ongoing check of whether the risk taken is in line with the Company’s risk appetite

The important risks faced by the bulk drug segment of the pharmaceutical industry in general and the Company in particular as
well as their mitigation initiatives are enumerated below.

1

2

Research and development risk
Innovative research is expensive,
lengthy and unpredictable, making it
risky. 

Risk mitigation 
• Ind-Swift Labs conducts research
through non-infringing processes for
products, which will go off-patent in the
coming years. 

• Consistent R&D investments led to 20
products being commercialised till date.
A number of pipeline products are
waiting to be commercialised, the
benefits of which are expected to
accrue. 

Mitigation measurement
The Company has earned the unique
distinction of having launched products
within a year of the launch of products
by the originator.    

Regulatory and legal risk 
An infringement in the process of
developing products or of the health
norms stipulated by the health
department of any country, could be
detrimental to the fortunes of the
Company.

Risk mitigation 
• The creation of an IPR cell which
actively monitors and prepares the

DMFs for the entry into international
markets.

• The creation of a subsidiary in the US
increasing the awareness of the
evolving regulatory norms in the
regulated markets.

• The empanelment of patents
attorneys in the US and India helps the
Company to ensure that every step in
each process being developed is safe
from infringement and complies with
regulatory requirements.

Mitigation measurement
The Company established its presence
in more than 45 countries in the last
decade. Moreover, it is filing more than
5 DMFs every year to increase its global
visibility. It filed for nine patents for its
non-infringing processes and already
received one. In addition, the Company
also established a foot-hold in the
regulated US and European markets. 

Competition risk
The API business is competitive, with a
large number of players leading to cut-
throat competition, declining realisations
and reducing profitability.

Risk mitigation 
• The Company prudently selected
products with high, inbuilt entry barriers

in terms of product complexity,
manufacturing hazards and working
capital requirements, among others,
limiting competition. 

• In a short span the Company
increased its capacity in line with global
standards providing it with the benefit
of economies of scale, making it cost-
competitive even in the face of
increasing competition 

• Product quality, customisation and
additional services (USFDA standard,
DMFs and technical dossiers) enable
the Company to counter competition 

Mitigation measurement
The Company’s revenues grew at a
CAGR of over 27.21% over the last five
years, higher than the industry’s average
growth.

Geographic risk 
Ind-Swift Labs’ excessive dependence
on a single geography may erode
profitability in the case of a downturn in
that market.   

Risk mitigation  
• In addition to the domestic market,
the Company markets its products
across more than 45 countries  

• The Company has maintained a
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5

6

7

8

calendar of filing at least four DMFs for
its products in various countries,
increasing its geographical presence 

• The Company entered the regulated
markets of US and Europe for a few
products, diversifying its revenue
basket.    

Mitigation measurement
The revenue split between domestic
and export turnover has evolved from
64:34 in 2001-02 to 51:49 in 2004-05.
Even in the export market, the revenue
split between the soft regulated and
regulated markets is expected to result
in a growing share of the latter.  

Finance risk 
In a business where continuous
investments must be made in scale,
product development and research, any
delay or inability in procuring low cost
funds could impact profitability.

Risk mitigation  
Of the Rs.110 cr capital expenditure
incurred over the last five years,
Rs. 32 cr was funded through internal
accruals derived from increasing cash
flow. The Company funded its recent
Rs.100 cr capital expenditure through a
prudent mix of debt and equity. The
increasing profitability enabled the
Company to easily address its working
capital requirements   

Mitigation measurement
The Company reduced its average debt

cost from 13.7% in 2001-02 to 8.95% in
2004-05, despite an increase in its debt-
equity ratio from 0.84 to 1.15; it
increased its return on capital employed
from 15.3% in 2001-02 to 21.4% in
2004-05

Product risk
Excessive dependence on one or few
products could impact sales and
profitability in the event of a slowdown
in the demand for these products. 

Risk mitigation 
• Over the last decade, the Company
developed a basket of 20 products, of
which eight find a position in the list of
leading global blockbuster products. 

• The Company created a product
pipeline of about 20 products to be
launched over the next three years,
expected to go off patent during 2007-
2010.  

• The Company entered the field of
pharmaceutical services for reputed
international companies, diversifying its
revenue stream towards value-added
revenue streams

Mitigation measurement
No single product accounted for more
than 20% of the Company’s revenue. 

People risk
Employees represent knowledge banks,
any attrition in which could lead to the
transfer of confidential information and
competitive strength.  

Risk mitigation 
• The Company practices a number of
employee-friendly policies, rated among
the best in the industry. For instance, it
introduced a performance-based
remuneration structure comprising
better-than-industry rewards for
deserving candidates.

• The Company made a sizeable
investment in training. 

• It encouraged employee interaction
through quarterly meeting and cross-
functional teams for various purposes. 

Mitigation measurement
The Company controlled attrition at less
than three percent (middle level
management) compared to the industry
average of 10%. 

Environment risk
Certain API manufacture involves the
use of hazardous material, generating
harmful effluents, which, if untreated,
could adversely impact the environment
and the Company’s brand.

Risk mitigation 
• The Company has already invested in
specialised equipment — fully
automated solvent recovery systems
and state-of-the-art equipment to
minimise the impact of harmful and
hazardous reactions.

• The Company has also adopted a
number of energy-saving initiatives
through the installation of a multi-fuel
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boiler and waste recovery system
reducing the Company’s dependence
on scarce coal. 

• The Company enhanced an
awareness of dangers that could arise
from the non-compliance of
environmental norms from the shop
floor upwards through regular relevant
training.

• This discipline translated into a regular
compliance with standards and the
immediate rectification of deviations
(detected through periodic audits).

Mitigation measurement
The Company maintained its pollution
norms to well below the benchmarks
laid down by the State and Central
Pollution Control Boards. 

Quality risk
APIs entail complex multi-stage
manufacturing processes conducted at
high temperatures and pressures, the
slightest variation in which could lead to
a serious under-delivery.

Risk mitigation 
• The Company instituted two separate
departments for ensuring that it
consistently delivered more than what it
promised 

• It instituted a number of quality
assurance checks in the operational
flow from the entry of inputs to the
dispatch of materials from the factory
premises

• It maintained impurity levels far below
pharmacoepial norms 

• It is upgrading its facilities, systems
and process to meet the stringent
USFDA standards 

Mitigation measurement
The Company is supplying its products
to a number of brand-enhancing Indian
clients and has tied up with a number of
reputed pharmaceutical companies in
the US and Europe. Repeat business
from existing clients increased from
40% of the Company’s income in
2003-04 to 50% in 2004-05.

Cost risk
Increasing competition has necessitated
companies to reduce costs significantly
to remain profitable over the medium
term

Risk mitigation
• The Company has taken a number of
initiatives to reduce operational costs.

• The institution of a process
development laboratory enabled the
Company to reduce the input cost and
shrink cycle time for a number of
leading products.

• The installation of a waste heat
recovery system is expected to reduce
power and fuel costs.

• The installation of a DG set has
ensured continuous power at its
facilities, improving productivity   

• The commissioning of a state-of-the-
art solvent recovery system is also
expected to reduce manufacturing
costs 

Mitigation measurement

Operating profits grew significantly from
Rs.15.55 cr in 2001-02 to Rs.45.70 cr in
2004-05; operating margin increased
from 14.21% to 19.67% over the same
period. 

Client concentration risk
Dependence on a handful of clients
could impact the viability of the
business in the unforeseen event of
their attrition.

Risk mitigation
• The Company has a sizeable client
base with a number of brand-enhancing
Indian pharmaceuticals companies
featuring in that list

• The Company carved out a market
leadership for itself in certain countries –
Turkey being an example.

• The introduction of new products to
its product basket also increased the
Company’s client base.  

• Customisation of products to match
client needs also enhanced the
customer loyalty to the Company

Mitigation measurement
The Company widened its client base
by about 30% over the previous
financial year.
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Directors’ Report

Your Directors have great pleasure in presenting the tenth annual report, together with the audited statement of accounts, for the
year ended March 31, 2005.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The financial performance of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2005 is summarised below:

(Rs. in millions)

Particulars Year ending Year ending
March 31, 2005 March 31, 2004

Sales (net of excise) and other income 2323.76 1605.20

Profit before interest, depreciation, tax and amortisation 457.05 234.93

Less: – Interest 83.05 70.83

– Depreciation 40.99 27.87

– Amortisation 15.08 19.27

Profit before tax 317.93 116.96

Less: – Provision for taxation 26.03 7.55

– Provision for deferred tax 27.10 32.50

Profit after tax (A) 264.80 76.92

Amount B/F from previous year (B) 194.80 143.58

Profit after tax available for appropriations (A+B) 459.59 220.49

Provision for dividend on preference shares 0.35 0.35

Provision for preference dividend tax 0.05 0.04

Provision for dividend on equity shares 24.52 15.61

Provision for equity dividend tax 3.20 2.00

Transfer to general reserve 19.83 7.69

Balance carried forward to balance sheet 411.64 194.79
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Performance
Your Company has achieved a turnover
of Rs. 2323.76 million registering a
growth of 44.77% over the previous
year’s turnover of Rs.1605.20 million
profit before tax also increased from
Rs.116.96 million to Rs. 317.93 million,
registering a growth of 171.83%
whereas profit after tax increased by
244.26% from Rs. 76.92 million to Rs.
264.80 million. A provision for deferred
tax to the tune of Rs. 27.1 million was
made during the financial year 2004-05.
The earnings per share increased to
Rs.16.17 per share from Rs. 5.24 per
share.  

Exports
The Company’s focus on the exports
has resulted in the increase in export
turnover by 60.18% from Rs. 679.26
million to Rs.1088.03 millions during the
year. 

Dividend
Your Directors are pleased to
recommend 1% dividend on 3,50,520
non-cumulative preference shares of Rs.
100 each and 15% (i.e Rs. 1.50 per
equity share) dividend on equity shares
of Rs. 10 each for the financial year
2004-05. 

The total outflow on account of the

equity dividend payment, including the
distribution tax, is Rs. 27.72 million
(previous year 176.1 lakhs), which is
approximately 10.46% of net profits
after tax for the year. 

Capital structure
During the year, the Company raised a
sum of Rs.340.13 million by the issue of
2,225,000 equity shares and 2,275,000
convertible warrants at Rs.115 each to
promoters, FIIs, bodies corporates and
others. The funds raised through
preferential issue were utilised mainly to
fund the on-going expansion plans and
for upgrading the existing
manufacturing facilities. 

During the year the authorised share
capital was also increased from Rs. 250
million to Rs. 350 million.  

International Offering
The Company received an
overwhelming response to its first
international offering as it raised US$
10.625 million through the GDR issue.
In all 2,500,000 GDRs, with each GDR
representing one equity share of the
Company was issued. The funds 
raised from the GDR are proposed 
to be utilised for the expansion plans
and other corporate requirements 
of the Company. The GDR have been

listed on the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange.

New Facilities   
Under its on-going Rs. 1000 million
expansion plans, the Company put to
operation four new manufacturing
facilities all of which confirm to USFDA
Standards and GMP Guidelines. These
facilities comprise a new facility to
manufacture Statins (installed capacity
of 40TPA), a new dedicated facility for
an anti-histamine drug (installed
capacity of 27TPA), a multi-purpose high
value low volume facility and a new API
facility in the tax free zone of Samba,
Jammu in the state of J&K (installed
capacity of 50TPA). With these new
facilities, the Company now has nine
manufacturing units situated at two
different locations.

Research and Development
The Research and Development
activities at Ind-Swift continues to grow
rapidly in order to develop and launch
new drugs in the global market. The
Company’s new state-of-the-art R&D
center at Mohali in the state of Punjab,
equipped with the latest equipments
and gadgets, is nearing completion. The
new R&D center facilitates the
development of non-infringing
processes, to generate data as per the

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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ICH guidelines and to prepare DMFs in

the CTD format for the US and other

regulated markets. The Company

expects a big boost in its R&D efforts,

as it would augment the Company’s

efforts to tap regulated markets and

step up its DMF filings. 

Cost-audit

M/s V.Kumar & Associates, Cost

Accountant, has been appointed as the

cost auditor of the Company for

conducting the cost audit of the

Company.

Subsidiary, Ind-Swift Laboratories Inc.

The US subsidiary of the Company,

which was incorporated on January 2,

2004, commenced its operation from

June 2004. The Company took various

business development efforts in the US

during the year. Being in the

development stage, the subsidiary

company registered a total income of

US$ 70,000 and a net loss of US$

183,631during the period ended

December 31, 2004.

The annual accounts and reports of the

US subsidiary along with the

statements pursuant to Section 212 of

the Companies Act, 1956, are enclosed.    

In compliance to clause 32 of the listing
agreement, audited consolidated
financial statements form part of this
annual report.

Directors
In accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, Dr. G
Munjal and Mr. S.R Mehta, Directors,
retire by rotation at the Company’s
forthcoming annual general meeting
and being eligible offer themselves for
re-appointment.

Management discussion and analysis
report
Management discussion and analysis
report as required under the listing
agreement with the Stock Exchanges is
enclosed and forms part of this
Directors’ Report. 

SEBI regulation and listing fees
Since SEBI has stipulated the electronic
filing of annual report, Corporate
Governance report, shareholding
pattern, etc. on website
www.sebiedifar.nic.in, statements of
your Company can be accessed
through this website.

The annual listing fees for the year
under review has already been paid to

the Stock Exchange, Mumbai, National
Stock Exchange of India Ltd and
Ludhiana Stock Exchange Association
Ltd, where your Company’s shares are
listed.

During the year under review, the
Company has got its shares delisted
from the Delhi Stock Exchange (DSE)
with effect from March 1, 2005.

Auditors
Messers Jain & Associates, Chartered
Accountants, the Company’s auditors,
retire at the conclusion of the ensuing
annual general meeting and, being
eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment. The Company has
received letters from them to the effect
that their appointment, if made, would
be within the prescribed limits under
Section 224(1-B) of the Companies Act,
1956.

Deposits
The Company’s fixed deposit scheme
continued to receive overwhelming
response from the public. The
aggregate amount of fixed deposit as
on March 31, 2005 was Rs. 67.37
million approx (previous year Rs. 23.74
million) and there was no unclaimed
deposit as on that date.
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Technology, R&D and foreign
exchange
The information relating to the
conservation of energy, technology
absorption and foreign exchange
earning and outgo as required under
Section 217(1) (e) of the Companies Act,
1956, read with the Companies’
(disclosure of particulars in the Report
of the Board of Directors) Rules, 1988,
is annexed herewith as annexure - A
and forms part of this report.

Human Resources
The Company continues to have a
cordial relationship with the employees.
Management development continued
to be an area that received high
importance. The employees are
continuously sponsored for various
external programmes and seminars.

Statement of particulars of Employees
under Section 217 (2A) of the
Companies Act, 1956 read with the
Companies (Particulars or Employees)
Rules, 1975 is enclosed herewith as
annexure - B.

Corporate Governance
The Company has complied with the
mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance as prescribed in the Clause

49 of the listing agreement with the
Stock Exchanges. A separate report on
Corporate Governance is included as a
part of the Directors’ Report, along with
the Auditors Certificate on its
compliance. 

Directors’ responsibility statement
In accordance with the provisions of
Section 217 (2AA) of the Companies
Act, 1956 (“the Act”), your Directors
confirm that:

(i) In preparation of the annual accounts
for the year ending March 31, 2005, the
applicable accounting standards have
been followed;

(ii) The Directors have selected such
accounting policies and applied them
consistently and made judgements and
estimates that are reasonable and
prudent so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the
Company for the year ended March 31,
2005 and the profit for that year;

(iii) The Directors had taken proper and
sufficient care for the maintenance of
adequate accounting records in
accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act for safeguarding the
assets of the Company and for

preventing and detecting fraud and
other irregularities;

(iv) The Directors have prepared the
annual accounts on a going concern
basis.

Acknowledgement
Your Directors thank all the employees
for their sincere efforts, active
involvement and devoted services
rendered.

Your Directors thank the shareholders
of the Company for the confidence
reposed in the management of the
Company. 

You Directors place on record their
gratitude to the customers, suppliers,
Company’s bankers and financial
institutions for their support and
cooperation during the year under
review.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Dr. Gopal Munjal
Chairman

Chandigarh,
26 August, 2005.
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Annexure to Directors’ Report
ANNEXURE 'A'
Information pursuant to the Companies
(Disclosure of particulars in the report of
the Board of Directors) Rules, 1988, and
forming part of the report of Directors.

A. CONSERVATION OF ENERGY
a) Energy conservation measures taken
Pet coke was used to produce steam
after making necessary changes in the
boilers. To reduce power consumption,
planetary gear box (direct coupled) were
provided on reaction vessels instead of
worm gear box (belt drive)
arrangements were made. To reduce
and control solvent losses, insulation
was provided on double heat exchanger
system on reaction vessels, and triple
heat exchanger system in solvent

recovery.

Replacement of two 120 TR capacity

chilled water refrigeration system with

efficiently run trane screw chiller of 250

TR, resulting in saving 0.6 KWH per TR.

Replaced the conventional inductive

choke fitted tube light fitting with

energy-efficient Asian-make electronic

tube light fittings.

Replacement of 160 W mercury vapour

lamps with 2x26 W (52 W) CF lamps,

resulting in saving about 65% electricity

consumption by plant lighting.

Installed auto temperature controller

system on hot water tanks to control

the desired hot water temperature with

optimum steam consumption
minimising the wastage of heat energy. 

b) Additional investments/ proposals, if
any, for the reduction of energy
consumption.
Continuous efforts are being made to
further reduce expenditure on power
and fuel. 

c) Impact of measures taken and
impact on cost of production of goods
The energy conservation measures,
indicated above, have resulted in the
considerable reduction in energy cost
thereby reducing the cost of production. 

d) Total energy consumption and
energy consumption per unit of
production:

A. ELECTRICITY AND FUEL CONSUMPTION 2004-05 2003-04

1. Electricity

A. Purchase unit (KWH) 4569230 4056415

Total amount (Rs.) 16801952 15558729

Average rate (Rs.) 3.68 3.84

B Own generation

i. Through diesel generator sets (KWH) 1803201 921820

Unit per litre of diesel oil 2.96 3.35

Cost of fuel per unit 6.63 5.11

ii. Through steam turbine/generator NIL NIL

2. Coal (specify quality and where used) NIL NIL

3. Furnace oil/L.D.O. (quantity) 601530 1137160

Total amount (Rs.) 7121191 12346436

Average rate (Rs. per litre) 11.84 10.86

4. Other/internal generation (please give details) NIL NIL
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B. TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION

I) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
(R&D)

1. Specific areas in which Research
and Development was carried out by
the Company:

• The R&D centre of the Company is
engaged in developing technologies of
Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients of
different therapeutic categories like anti
cancer, anti bacterial, anti diabetic, anti
allergic, anti psychotic etc. and key drug
intermediates complying to international
quality and regulatory norms.  The
Company is also developing new
processes for known Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients as well as
upgradation of existing
technologies/product.  Company under
takes contract research projects as well
internationally

• Analytical development activities are
also carried out at the R&D centre of the
Company.

2. Benefits derived as a result of the
above Research and Development:

• Nine process patents have been filed
upto March 31, 2005.

• One Indian patent has been granted.

• Three processes for APIs have been
developed and transferred to the plant.

• Technology to manufacture APIs is
the continuous gain of the R&D inputs.

• Technology to manufacture key
intermediates.

• Safe and environment friendly
process is the major achievement.

• Speed to marketplace.

• Enhanced global presence.

3. Future plan of action

• The Company is going to start a well-
equipped separate Research and
Development Centre at Mohali as an
effort to enhance R&D capabilities with
a view to strengthen the technological
base and for research on new products.

• The Company is also engaged in
enhancing its production capacity.

• The Company is actively involved in
enhancing national and international
research collaboration and strategic
alliance.

• Synthesis of drugs involving complex
chemistry / technology has been
identified for process development
research in future.

• The Company as a whole has drawn
up well focused plans for facing, with
confidence, the challenging times
ahead.

B. CONSUMPTION PER UNIT OF PRODUCTION

Unit Standards 2004-05 2003-04

Electricity (KWH) 51.76 46.13

Diesel/ furnace Oil (Ltr/ Kg) 18.16 13.85

a) Expenditure on Research and Development during the year 2004 – 05 (Rs. in millions)

2004-05 2003-04

a. Capital 219.80 31.81

b. Revenue 66.69 51.34

Total 286.49 83.15

c. Total R&D expenditure as percentage of total turnover 12.36% 5.24%

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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II. TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION,
ADAPTATION AND INNOVATION.

1. Efforts, in brief made towards
technology, absorption, adaptation and
innovation.

• The developed technologies and the
process were used to manufacture APIs
for commercial purpose for domestic as
well as export markets.

2. Benefits derived as a result of above
efforts e.g. product improvement, cost
reduction, product development etc.
• New products have been launched for
regular commercial production, which
have broadened the product range of
the Company leading the organisation
to the stage of a research-based
organisation.

• The R&D of the Company is

recognised by the Department of
Science and Technology, New Delhi.

3. Information in case of imported
technology (Imports during last five
years).
• Not applicable

C. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EARNING
AND OUTGO

a) Activities relating to exports,
initiatives taken to increase exports,
development of new export markets
for products and services and export
plans:
Exports in the year under review are
Rs.1088.03 million as compared to
Rs.769.26 million with increase of
60.18%.

The Company has set up a subsidiary in
the US to increase its presence in the

US market. The Company has also
established an office in China for
exploring the business opportunities in
China. The Company is in the process
of getting the USFDA approval for its
facilities, which will increase the exports
to a large extent. The Company is also
an approved supplier for a number of
international companies, which will
provide the necessary platform to
further expand the Company’s overseas
operations.                    

b) Total foreign exchange used and
earned:
During the year the foreign exchange
outgo was Rs. 48.45 million and the
earnings in foreign exchange were
Rs.1075.72 million. Details have been
given in point F and G of Note 25 of the
Notes on Accounts section.

ANNEXURE 'B'
The statement pursuant to section 217(b)(ii) of the Companies, Act, 1956 and the Companies’ (Particulars of Employees) Rules,
1975 and forming part of Directors’ Report is given below. 

Note:

Gross remuneration comprises basic salary, allowances, monetary value of perquisites as per the rules under the Income Tax Act, 1961 and

contribution to Provident Fund. 

Name Designation Age Qualification Experience Date of Gross Last
appointment remuneration employment

(Rs. in lakhs)

N.R Munjal Managing 52 Graduate 28 years 1995 34.38 Ind-Swift
Director Limited

V.K Mehta Jt. Managing 44 Graduate 22 years 1995 34.38 Ind-Swift 
Director Limited



Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

Corporate Governance
Introduction
The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) ushered in a formal code of corporate governance through clause
49 of the Listing agreement of the Company with the Stock Exchanges. Clause 49 lays down several corporate
governance practices which, listed companies are required to adopt. This report sets out the compliance status of the
Company with the requirements of the code of corporate governance, as set out in clause 49 of the Listing agreement,
for the financial year 2004-05.
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1. Company’s philosophy on corporate governance:
Corporate Governance is the combination of voluntary practices and compliance with the existing laws and regulations leading to
effective control and management of the organisation. It implies transparency of the ownership and control of affairs of the
Company. Good Corporate Governance maximises the total return to shareholders and enhance interest of other stakeholders. It
brings into focus the fiduciary and the trusteeship role of the Board to align and direct the actions of the organisation towards
creating wealth and shareholder value.

2. Board of Directors
As on March 31, 2005, the Company’s Board comprises 2 (two) Executive Directors, 4 (four) Non-Executive Directors and 3 (three)
Independent Directors. The Chairman of the Company is a Non-Executive Promoter Director. The composition of the Board is in
accordance with clause 49 of the Listing agreement.

The Constitution of the Board is given below:

# Appointed on August 30, 2004 in place of Udayan Roy.

^ Holds position as Chairman in all the five committees.

* An Independent Director is a Director, who apart from receiving the directors’ remuneration does not have any other material pecuniary

relationship or transactions with the Company, its promoters or its management or its subsidiary, which in the judgement of the Board may

affect their independence of judgement.

** This includes directorships held in public limited companies and excludes directorship held in private limited companies and overseas

companies.

As required by the Companies Act, 1956 and clause 49 of Listing Agreement, none of the Directors hold directorship in more than
15 public companies, membership of board committees in excess of 10 and chairmanships of committees in excess of five.

Directors, Dr. G Munjal and Mr. S.R Mehta are liable to retire by rotation and, being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
appointment. Their brief resume along with particulars of reappointment of directors forms part of the notice convening the tenth
annual General Meeting of the company. 

Board Meetings:
During the financial year 2004-05, the Board of the Company met 13 times, on the following dates:

June 12, 2004 June 21, 2004 June 28, 2004 July 21, 2004 July 28, 2004

August 30, 2004 September 29, 2004 October 16, 2004 October 26, 2004 December 2, 2004

January 4, 2005 January 31, 2005 March 31, 2005

Name of Directors Promoter/ Executive / No. of other No. of committee 
Non-Executive / Independent* Directorships ** memberships

Dr. Gopal Munjal, Chairman Promoter/ Non-Executive 3 1

N.R Munjal Promoter/ Executive 2 2

V.K Mehta Promoter/ Executive 4 Nil

S.R Mehta Promoter/ Non-Executive 2 2

Dr. V.R Mehta Promoter/ Non-Executive 2 1

Himanshu Jain Promoter/ Non-Executive 1 1

K.M.S Nambiar Independent / Non-Executive 1 5^

Dr. J.K Kakkar Independent / Non-Executive Nil 2

Dr. S.D Nanda # Independent / Non-Executive (Nominee IIBI) 2 2

Udayan Roy Independent / Non-Executive (Nominee IIBI) 1 2
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The Company placed before the Board the budgets, operating plans, working position, progress report and various other
information, including those specified under Annexure I of Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement, from time to time.

The attendances of Directors at the Board meetings and the annual general meeting were as under:

3. Committees of Board

A. Audit committee
As on March 31, 2005, the Audit committee consists of 3 (three) Independent Directors and 1 (one) Non-Executive Director. Four
Audit committee meetings were held on the following dates, one of which was before the finalisation of the annual accounts and
others before the quarterly financial results:

June 21, 2004 July 21, 2004 October 26, 2004 January 31, 2005

The constitution of the Audit committee and the attendance of each member of the committee are given below: 

* Appointed as member of the Audit committee in place of Udayan Roy with effect from August 30, 2004.

Name of Director No. of Board meetings No. of Board Whether attended
held during their tenure meetings attended the AGM held on

29th September 2004

Dr. Gopal Munjal 13 12 Yes

N.R Munjal 13 12 Yes

V.K Mehta 13 10 Yes

S.R Mehta 13 12 Yes

Dr. V.R Mehta 13 10 Yes

Himanshu Jain 13 9 Yes

Dr. J.K Kakkar 13 12 Yes

Udayan Roy 5 1 No

Dr S.D Nanda 7 6 No

K.M.S Nambiar 13 13 Yes

Name Designation Executive/Non-Executive No. of committee No. of committee
/ Independent meetings held meetings attended

during their tenure  

K.M.S Nambiar Chairman Independent/ Non-Executive 4 4

Dr. J.K Kakkar Member Independent/ Non-Executive 4 4

Udayan Roy Member Independent/ Non-Executive 2 1

Dr S.D Nanda* Member Independent/ Non-Executive 2 2

Dr. G. Munjal Member Non-Executive 4 3

N.R Munjal Permanent Invitee Permanent Invitee 4 4

V.K Mehta Permanent Invitee Permanent Invitee 4 4

N.K. Bansal Permanent Invitee Permanent Invitee 4 4
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The statutory auditors and internal auditors are invited to attend and participate at the meetings of the committee. 

The company secretary acts as the secretary to the committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit committee includes the following:

a. Oversight of the Company's financial reporting process and the disclosure of its financial information to ensure that the
financial statement is correct, sufficient and credible.

b. Recommending the appointment and removal of external auditor, fixation of audit fee and also approval for payment for any
other services.

c. Reviewing with management the annual financial statements before submission to the board, focusing primarily on;

– Any changes in accounting policies and practices.

– Major accounting entries based on exercise of judgment by management.

– Qualifications in draft audit report.

– Significant adjustments arising out of audit.

– The going concern assumption.

– Compliance with accounting standards.

– Compliance with stock exchange and legal requirements concerning financial statements.

– Any related party transactions i.e. transactions of the company of material nature, with promoters or the management,
their subsidiaries or relatives etc. that may have potential conflict with the interests of company at large.

d. Reviewing with the management, external and internal auditors, and the adequacy of internal control systems.

e. Reviewing the adequacy of internal audit function, including the structure of the internal audit department, staffing and
seniority of the official heading the department, reporting structure coverage and frequency of internal audit.

f. Discussion with internal auditors any significant findings and follow up there on.

g. Reviewing the findings of any internal investigations by the internal auditors into matters where there is suspected fraud or
irregularity or a failure of internal control systems of a material nature and reporting the matter to the board.

h. Discussion with external auditors before the audit commences about nature and scope of audit as well as post-audit
discussion to ascertain any area of concern.

I. Reviewing the company's financial and risk management polices.

j. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in the payment to the depositors, debenture holders, shareholders (in case
of non-payment of declared dividends) and creditors.

k. Any other matter, which the committee may deem fit to review in the audit committee meeting.

B. Remuneration committee
The Remuneration committee reviews and makes recommendations on the remuneration package of the Executive Directors/
whole time Directors and the compensation policy for the senior management personnel. All decisions on remuneration to
Executive Directors/ whole time Directors are further taken by Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders in the
general meeting.
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As on March 31, 2005, the Remuneration committee consists of 2 (two) Independent Directors and 1 (one) Non-Executive
Director. The Remuneration committee met for a single time during the year. As on date, the members of the committee are:

Name Designation Executive/Non-Executive No. of meetings
/Independent attended

K.M.S Nambiar Chairman Independent/ Non-Executive 1

Udayan Roy Member Independent/ Non-Executive Nil

Dr S.D Nanda* Member Independent/ Non-Executive 1

S.R Mehta Member Non-Executive 1

N.R Munjal Permanent Invitee Executive 1

V.K Mehta Permanent Invitee Executive 1

* Appointed as member of the remuneration committee in place of Udayan Roy with effect from August 30, 2004.

Name Designation Non-Executive/ Independent

K.M.S Nambiar Chairman Independent/ Non-Executive

Dr. J.K Kakkar Member Independent/ Non-Executive

S.R Mehta Member Non-Executive

N.R Munjal Member Executive

Mr. Pardeep Verma, the Company Secretary, provides secretarial support to the committee and is also the designated compliance officer for such matters.

Details of remuneration paid/ payable to executive director for the financial year 2004-05 are as under:

Details of fixed component and performance linked  incentives, along with performance criteria. –  NIL

As on date, the Company does not have any stock option scheme.

The terms of appointment of whole time directors are governed by the resolution of the Board of directors/ shareholders and
applicable rules of the Company. None of the Directors are entitled to severance fees.

C.  Shareholders’ grievance redressal committee
The Shareholders’ grievance redressal committee looks into shareholders and investors grievances. As on March 31, 2005, the
following are the members of the committee:

(Rs. in lakhs)

Name of Designation Business relationship Basic salary Perquisites# Performance Total
Director with Company linked bonus/

commission

N.R.Munjal@ Managing Director Promoter 28.00 6.38 Nil 34.38

V.K.Mehta^ Jt. Managing Director Promoter 28.00 6.38 Nil 34.38

# Includes contribution to the provident fund/ superannuation fund/ annuity fund and approved perquisites as per the rules of the Company. 

@ Appointed for a period of 5 years w.e.f 29.03.2001.  

^ Appointed for a period of 5 years w.e.f 01.09.2001.
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Share transfer (physical form) 

• All shares have been transferred and returned within 15 days from the date of receipt of complete documents.

• The Share Transfer committee considers share transfer approvals once in a fortnight.

• Total number of shares (physical form) transferred during the year 2004-05 was 29,69,100.

• As on March 31, 2005 there were no equity shares pending for transfer.

Secretarial audit

The Company conducts a secretarial audit on a quarterly basis in accordance with requirements of SEBI. M/s. B.B. Gupta &

Associates, Company Secretaries, have been appointed by the company to conduct Secretarial Audit. The Secretarial Audit Report

of M/s B.B. Gupta & Associates, which have been submitted to the Stock Exchanges within the stipulated period, interalia certifies

that the equity shares of the Company held in the dematerialised form and in the physical form confirm with the issued and paid-

up equity shares capital of the Company.

Investors relations

• The following table shows the number of complaints received from the shareholders during 2004-05 all of which have been

resolved during the year. There was no complaint pending as on March 31, 2005.

Status of complaints 2004-05

Opening as on 01.04.2004 1

Received during the year 60

Resolved during the year 61

Closing as on 31.03.2005 Nil

• The complaints are generally replied within 15 days from the date of lodgement with the Company. 

4. General body meeting.
The location and time of the annual general meetings and extra-ordinary general meetings held during the last three years are as
follows:

Financial year Category* Venue Date Time No. of special

resolutions passed

2004-05 EGM Bal Bhawan, Sector 23-B, Chandigarh November 20, 2004 11:00 A.M 4

2004-05 9th AGM Bal Bhawan, Sector 23-B, Chandigarh September 29, 2004 10:00 A.M 5

2003-04 8th AGM Bal Bhawan, Sector 23-B, Chandigarh September 30, 2003 3:00 P.M. 3

2002-03 EGM Bal Bhawan, Sector 23-B, Chandigarh March 31, 2003 3:00 P.M. 3

2002-03 7th AGM Bal Bhawan, Sector 23-B, Chandigarh September 25, 2002 11:30 A.M. 1

* AGM - Annual general meeting, EGM - Extraordinary general meeting.
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The special resolutions were passed by the show of hands. The Company has not passed any resolution through postal ballot

during the financial year 2004-05.

During the financial year 2004-05, the following mentioned special resolution was passed seeking approval of shareholders:

1. In the AGM held on September 29, 2004, the shareholders approved the:

• Increase in remuneration of Mr. N.R.Munjal, Managing Director.

• Increase in remuneration of Mr. V.K.Mehta, Jt.Managing Director.

• Delisting of equity shares from Delhi Stock Exchange (DSE).

• Conversion of preference shares into equity shares of the company.

• Issue of 7,01,040 equity shares against the conversion of preference shares of Rs.100 each.

2. In the EGM held on November 20, 2004, the shareholders approved the: 

• Authorisation to allow foreign investment by FIIs.

• Issue of warrants convertible into equity

• Issue of further equity shares on preferential basis.

• Increase in authorised share capital of the Company.

5. Disclosures
• There was no material significant transaction made by the Company with its directors or the management and their relatives etc.

that may have potential conflict with the interests of the Company. The register of contracts containing transactions, in which

Directors are interested, is placed before the Board regularly for its approvals.

• Transactions with the related parties are disclosed in Note no. 6(b) of Notes on Accounts in the attached balance sheet.

• There has been no instance of non-compliance by the Company on any matter related to capital markets. Hence, the question of

penalties or strictures being imposed by SEBI or the Stock Exchanges does not arise. 

• SEBI prescription of insider trading

As per SEBI guidelines, the Board has framed a code of conduct for the prohibition of insider trading strictly in accordance with the

model code of conduct prescribed. The code, besides other relevant matters prohibits an insider from dealing in shares of the

Company while in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the Company.        

6. Means of communication
• The annual and quarterly results are displayed on the website of the company www.indswiftlabs.com and simultaneously

posted on the electronic data information filing and retrieval website namely www.sebiedifar.nic.in. These are also submitted to

the stock exchanges immediately after these are taken on record by the Board in accordance with the Listing agreement and

normally published in leading newspapers like                         

–  Economic Times (Mumbai & Delhi Edition)

– Business Standard (Delhi & Mumbai Edition)

– Nav Bharat Times (Delhi & Mumbai Edition)

• All official press releases of relevance to the investors are also made available on website for a reasonable period of time.   

• Management discussion and analysis forms part of this report.

7. General shareholders’ information
a) Annual general meeting

– Date September 28, 2005

– Time 11:30 a.m. 

– Venue Tagore Theatre, Sector – 18, Chandigarh
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b) Financial calendar
Financial reporting for the financial year 2005-06 for

- Quarter ending June 30, 2005 Already adopted on July 14, 2005

- Quarter ending September 30, 2005 By October 31, 2005

- Quarter ending December 31, 2005 By January 31, 2006

- Year ending March 31, 2006 By June 30, 2006 (as audited results will be considered) 

- Annual general meeting for the year ending March 31, 2006 in September 2006.

c) Date of book closure 
The Company’s register of members and share transfer books will remain closed from Monday, September 26, 2005 to
Wednesday, September 28, 2005 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of final dividend. 

d) Dividend payment date
The dividend as recommended by the Board of Directors, if declared at this annual general meeting will be paid on or after
Monday, October 03, 2005 to those members whose name appear in the Company’s register of members as on Saturday,
September 24, 2005 and in respect of shares held in electronic form, to those ‘deemed members’ whose names appear in the
statement of beneficial ownership furnished by the National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and the Central Depository
Services (India) Limited (CDSL) at the close of business hours on Saturday, September 24, 2005 subject to the approval of
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

e) Listing of equity shares on Stock Exchanges
The Company’s shares are listed at the Stock Exchange, Mumbai (BSE), The National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE) and
Ludhiana Stock Exchange (LSE). During the year, the Company’s got its shares delisted from Delhi Stock Exchange (DSE) w.e.f
March 1, 2005. The Listing fees for the financial year 2005-06 have already been paid to all Stock Exchanges. 

f) Stock market data
- Stock code: The stock code for the Company’s shares is as follows: -
The Stock Exchange, Mumbai: Code :  532305
National Stock Exchange :  INDSWFTLAB

The ISIN Nos. for the Company’s shares in demat mode – INE915B01019

Month BSE NSE

High (Rs.) Low (Rs.) Volume High (Rs.) Low (Rs.) Volume

April 2004 52.90 42.00 1598660 52.80 42.00 2957962

May 2004 53.85 40.10 1730278 53.75 39.50 3611118

June 2004 44.00 37.15 1247115 44.00 37.30 2271151

July 2004 46.75 35.00 1110560 46.80 37.10 2769537

August 2004 54.10 45.00 2907828 53.85 45.10 5167294

September 2004 98.80 50.65 12634124 98.75 50.40 25410733

October 2004 163.35 92.45 11339896 163.35 92.15 18909969

November 2004 222.80 160.00 9942792 221.25 160.00 23830946

December 2004 297.35 194.35 4491072 296.50 194.00 5462800

January 2005 284.90 216.00 806308 274.40 215.00 1511765

February 2005 284.50 219.80 510325 275.00 218.00 920927

March 2005 239.90 177.00 501406 240.00 178.10 793764

Total 48820364 93617966

Monthly share price movement during 2004-05 at BSE and NSE

(Source: www.bseindia.com)
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g) Stock performance vs BSE Sensex 
The performance of the Company’s equity shares relative to the BSE Sensitivity Index (BSE Sensex) is as under:

h) Registrar and share transfer agent
Shares’ transfer agent for physical transfers and demat of shares:
Alankit Assignments Limited
(Unit: Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited)
205-208, Anarkali Market, 
Jhandewalan Extension, 
New Delhi - 110055 
Tel: -  +91-11-51540060-63
Fax: -  + 91-11-51540064
E-mail: alankit@alankit.com
Website: www.alankit.com

Month ISLL Share price at BSE BSE Sensex Relative index for comparison purposes

ISLL share price index BSE sensex index

Apr-04 48.30 5655.09 115.00 101.15

May-04 41.40 4759.62 98.57 85.14

Jun-04 40.55 4795.46 96.55 85.78

Jul-04 45.70 5170.32 108.81 92.48

Aug-04 51.85 5192.08 123.45 92.87

Sep-04 95.40 5583.61 227.14 99.87

Oct-04 159.55 5672.27 379.88 101.46

Nov-04 215.30 6234.29 512.62 111.51

Dec-04 261.70 6602.69 623.10 118.10

Jan-05 271.95 6555.94 647.50 117.27

Feb-05 227.10 6713.86 540.71 120.09

Mar-05 198.05 6492.82 471.55 116.14

(Source: www.bseindia.com)
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i) Distribution of equity shareholding as on March 31, 2005.

Category No. of shares held Percentage of shareholding

Promoters & PAIC 5395406 29.32

Banks,FI's, Mutual Funds and UTI 461932 2.51

FII's & NRI's 6607316 35.91

Private Bodies Corporate (PBC) 1385329 7.53

Indian Public 4550017 24.73

Total 18400000 100.00

j) Distribution schedule as on March 31, 2005

Shares or debenture No. of Percentage of Shares/ debenture Percentage of 
holding of nominal value of share holders total holders amount total equity

Upto 5000 11184 87.069 16944780 9.209

5001 to 10,000 922 7.178 7703630 4.187

10,001 to 20,000 378 2.943 5881440 3.196

20,001 to 30,000 111 0.864 2882250 1.566

30,001 to 40,000 51 0.397 1804210 0.981

40,000 to 50,000 35 0.272 1637420 0.890

50,001 to 1,00,000 64 0.498 4667160 2.537

1,00,000 and above 100 0.779 142479110 77.434

Total 12845 100.000 184000000 100.000

k) Dematerialisation of shares
The shares of the Company are available for trading in the depository system of both the National Securities Depository Limited
and the Central Depository Services (India) Limited. As on March 31, 2005, 1,55,46,139 equity shares of the Company, forming
84.49% of the share capital of the Company, stand dematerialised.
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l) Share transfer system
With a view to expedite the process of share transfer, a committee of Directors has been constituted to approve the transfer,
transmission, issue of duplicate shares certificates and allied matters. The Company’s Registrars, M/s Alankit Assignments Limited
have adequate infrastructure to process the above matters.  
m) Outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants or any convertible instruments.
The Company has 17,13,675 zero coupons optionally convertible warrants outstanding as on March 31, 2005. In addition to this,
the Company does not have any other outstanding instruments of the captioned subject.

n) Registered office
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
SCO 493-94,
Sector 35 – C, 
Chandigarh – 160 022
Tele: - +91-172-2660918, 2604934
Fax: -  +91-172 –2660920

o) Plant locations
UNIT – I UNIT – II

Barwala Road, SIDCO,
Village - Bhagwanpura, Industrial Growth Centre,
Near - Derabassi, Jammu (J&K)
Distt. - Patiala, Punjab Tel: - + 91-1923- 246116
Tel: - +91-1762- 281072, 281048
Fax: - +91-1762 –281073

p) Investors correspondence
Pardeep Verma
Company Secretary
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited 

Corporate Office
SCO – 850, Shivalik Enclave,
NAC, Manimajra
Chandigarh 160101
Tel:  - +91-172-2730503, 2730920
Fax: - + 91-172-2730504
Email: pardeepverma@indswift.com
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Auditors’ certificate on
Corporate Governance

The Board of Directors
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

We have examined the compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance by Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited for the year ended
31st March 2005 as stipulated in Clause 49 of the Listing Agreement of the said Company with the Stock Exchanges in India.

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. Our examination was limited to
procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of Corporate
Governance. It is neither an audit nor an expression of opinion on the financial statements of the Company.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and explanation given to us, we certify that the Company has complied with the
conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the above-mentioned Listing Agreements. 

We state that in respect of investors complaints received during the year ended March 31, 2005, no investor grievances was
pending against the Company for want of completion of legal formalities.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor the efficiency or
effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For JAIN & ASSOCIATES
Chartered Accountants

R.K. GULATI
Partner

Place : Chandigarh
Date  : 26.08.2005
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Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

We have audited the attached Balance Sheet of M/s Ind-

Swift Laboratories Limited as at 31st March 2005 and the

Profit & Loss Account and Cash Flow Statement of the

Company for the year ended on that date annexed thereto.

These Financial Statements are the responsibility of the

Company's management. Our responsibility is to express

an opinion on these financial statements based on our

audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing

standards generally accepted in India. Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain

reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statements are free of material misstatement. An audit

includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting

the amount and disclosures in the financial statements. An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

1. As required by Companies (Auditors' Report)

(Amendment) Order, 2004, issued by the Central

Government of India in terms of Section 227(4A) of the

Companies Act 1956, we annex hereto a statement on

the matters specified in paragraph 4 and 5 of the said

order. 

2. Further to our comments in the annexure referred to in

paragraph 1 above, we report that:

a) We have obtained all the information and

explanations, which to the best of our knowledge

and belief were necessary for the purpose of our

audit.

b) In our opinion, the Company has kept proper books

of accounts as required by law, so far as appears

from our examination of the books.

c) The Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account and

the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this report

are in agreement with the books of accounts.

d) In our opinion, the Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss

Account and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by

this report are in compliance with accounting

standards specified by The Institute Of Chartered

Accountants of India referred to in Section 211(3C)

of Companies Act, 1956.

e) On the basis of the written representations received

from the Directors as on 31.3.2005 & taken on record

by the Board of Directors, we report that none of the

Directors is disqualified for being appointed as a

Director in terms of Clause (g) of sub-section (1) of

Sec 274 of the Companies Act, 1956.

f) In our opinion and to the best of our information and

according to explanations given to us, the said

accounts read together with notes thereon, give the

information required by the Companies Act, 1956 in

the manner so required and also give a true and fair

view.

i) In the case the Balance Sheet, of the state of

affairs of the Company as at 31st March 2005.

ii) In the case of Profit and Loss Account, of the

profit for the year ended on that date.

iii) In case of Cash Flow Statement, of the cash

flows for the year ended on that date.

For Jain & Associates

Chartered Accountants

R. K. Gulati

Place: Chandigarh Partner

Date: 13 June, 2005 Membership No. 11999

The Members,
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited,
Chandigarh

Auditors’ Report
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Annexure to the Auditors’ Report

I. In respect of its fixed assets:

a) The company has maintained proper records

showing full particulars, including quantitative

details and situation of fixed assets.

b) According to the information and explanations

given to us, the company has a system of physical

verification of all its fixed assets over a period of

two years. In our opinion having regard to the size

of the company and the nature of its assets, the

program of verification is reasonable. No material

discrepancies have been noticed in respect of

assets physically verified.

c) During the year, Company has not disposed of any

substantial / major part off fixed assets.

II. In respect of its inventories:

a) The inventory was physically verified during the

year by the management. In our opinion, frequency

of verification is reasonable.

b) In our opinion and according to the information and

explanations given to us, the procedures of

physical verification of inventories followed by the

management are reasonable and adequate in

relation to the size of the Company and the nature

of its business.

c) In our opinion and according to the information and

explanations given to us and on the basis of our

examination of the records of inventory, the

Company is maintaining proper records of its

inventory. The discrepancies noticed on physical

verification of inventory as compared to the book

records were not material and have been properly

dealt with in the books of account. 

III. a) According to the information and explanations

given to us, the company has not granted any loan,

secured or unsecured to companies, firms or other

parties covered in the register maintained under

section 301 of the Companies Act 1956.

b) According to the information and explanations

given to us, the company has not taken any loan

secured or unsecured from companies, firms or

other parties covered in the register maintained

under section 301 of the Companies Act 1956.

IV. In our opinion and according to the information and

explanations given to us, there is an adequate internal

control system commensurate with the size of the

company and the nature of its business for the

purchase of inventory and fixed assets and for the

sale of goods and services. During the course of our

Audit, we have not observed any continuing failure to

correct major weaknesses in Internal Control System.

V. In respect of particulars of contracts or arrangements

and transactions entered in the register maintained in

pursuance of section 301 of the Companies Act 1956

a) To the best of our knowledge and belief and

according to the information and explanation given

to us, particulars of contracts or arrangements that

needed to be entered into the register have been

so entered.

b) According to the information and explanations

given to us, these contracts or arrangements have

been made at prices, which are prima facie,

reasonable having regard to the prevailing market

prices at the relevant time.

VI. In our opinion and according to the information and

explanations given to us, the Company has complied

with the provisions of section 58A and 58AA of the

Companies Act 1956 and the rules framed there under

and the directives issued by the Reserve Bank of

India, with regard to the deposits accepted from the

public.

VII. In our opinion, the Company has an adequate internal

audit system which commensurate with the size and

nature of its business. 

VIII. The Company is required to maintain cost records

under section 209(1)(d) of the Companies Act, 1956

for the products of the company and according to the

information and explanation given to us, the company

(Referred to in paragraph 1 of our report of even date)



73

has maintained proper records as prescribed by the

Central Government but we have not carried out the

examination of these records.

IX. According to the information and explanations given

to us in respect of Statutory and other dues:

a) The company is regular in depositing undisputed

statutory and other dues, including provident fund,

Employees' State Insurance, Income Tax, Sales

Tax, wealth Tax, Service Tax, Custom Duty, Excise

Duty, cess and any other statutory dues with the

appropriate authorities during the year.

b) As per the information and explanation given to us,

no undisputed amounts payable in respect of

Income Tax, Sales Tax, Wealth Tax, Service Tax,

Custom Duty, Excise Duty, Cess were outstanding

as on 31.03.2005 for a period more than six months

from the date of becoming payable.

X. The Company does not have accumulated losses at

the end of the year and has not incurred any cash

losses during the current and the immediately

preceding financial year.

XI. Based on our audit procedures and on the basis of

information and explanations given by the

management, we are of the opinion that the Company

has not defaulted in the repayment of dues to

financial institutions and banks.

XII. According to the information and explanations, given

to us, the Company has not granted loans or

advances on the basis of security by way of pledge of

shares, debentures and other securities.

XIII. In our opinion and according to the information and

explanation given to us, the Company is not a chit

fund or a nidhi/ mutual benefit fund/ society.

Therefore, the provision of clause (xiii) of paragraph 4

of the Companies (Auditor's Report) (Amendment)

Order, 2004 are not applicable to the Company.

XIV. According to the information and explanation given to

us, the Company is not dealing or trading in shares,

securities, debentures and other investments.

XV. According to the information and explanations given

to us, the company has not given any guarantee for

loans taken by others from banks or financial

institutions.

XVI. To the best of our knowledge and belief and

according to the information and explanations given

to us, term loans availed by the company were, prima

facie, applied by the company during the year for the

purposes for which the loans were obtained.

XVII. According to the Cash flow statement and other

records examined and as per the information and

explanations given to us, on an overall basis, funds

raised on short term basis have, prima facie, not been

used during the year for long term investment.

XVIII. The company has made preferential allotment of

shares to parties and companies covered in the

Register maintained under Section 301 of the

Companies Act 1956, during the year and the price at

which shares have been issued is not prejudicial to

the interest of the Company.

XIX. The Company has not issued any debentures during

the year.

XX. The Company has not raised monies by public issues

during the year and hence the question of disclosure

and verification of end use of such monies does not

arise.

XXI. To the best of our knowledge and belief and

according to the information and explanations given

to us, no fraud on or by the company was noticed or

reported during the year.

For Jain & Associates

Chartered Accountants

R. K. Gulati

Place: Chandigarh Partner

Date: 13 June, 2005 Membership No. 11999

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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Balance Sheet

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta S. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati Dr. V. R. Mehta Himanshu Jain K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh Dr. S. D. Nanda N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 13 June, 2005 Director Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)

As at 31st March, Schedule 31.3.2005 31.3.2004
(Rs.) (Rs.)

I. SOURCES OF FUNDS
1. Shareholder's fund

Share Capital I 219,052,000 191,190,750 
Reserves & Surplus II 887,414,480 358,174,861 
Share Application money 19,894,958 –

2. Loan Funds
Secured Loans III 1,204,953,082 536,180,673 
Unsecured Loans IV 248,454,467 88,154,892 

3. Deferred Tax Liability 123,896,860 96,792,961 
Total 2,703,665,847 1,270,494,136

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS
1. Fixed Assets V

Gross Block 1,034,369,634 705,135,408 
Less: Depreciation 148,768,680 112,779,160 
Net Block 885,600,954 592,356,248 
Capital Work In Progress 593,483,902 74,044,203 

1,479,084,856 666,400,451 
2. Investments 31,422,151 2,073,950 
3. Current Assets, Loans and Advances VI

a) Inventories 694,710,632 546,935,989 
b) Sundry Debtors 485,072,562 216,433,351 
c) Cash and Bank Balances 117,764,084 56,460,102 
d) Loans and Advances 228,344,479 110,337,379 

1,525,891,758 930,166,821 
Less 
Current Liabilities & Provisions VII
a) Current Liabilities 467,347,503 339,802,660 
b) Provisions 53,050,143 26,277,027 

520,397,646 366,079,686 
Net Current Assets 1,005,494,112 564,087,135 

4. Miscellaneous Expenditure VIII 187,664,729 37,932,600 
(To the extent not written off or adjusted)

Total 2,703,665,847 1,270,494,136 
Significant Accounting Policies & Notes on Accounts XVI
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Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta S. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati Dr. V. R. Mehta Himanshu Jain K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh Dr. S. D. Nanda N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 13 June, 2005 Director Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)

Profit and Loss Account

As at 31st March, Schedule 31.3.2005 31.3.2004
(Rs.) (Rs.)

INCOME
Gross Sales & Operating Income IX-A 2,394,493,038 1,665,215,619 
Less: Excise Duty 76,477,873 79,331,364 
Sales net of excise 2,318,015,165 1,585,884,255 
Other Income IX-B 5,749,554 19,311,012 
Total-A 2,323,764,719 1,605,195,267 
EXPENDITURE
Cost of Materials Consumed X 1,536,783,380 1,158,053,748 
Manufacturing Expenses XI 142,979,165 97,570,595 
Administrative & Other Expenses XII 61,740,581 37,297,087 
Selling and Distribution Expenses XIII 69,990,200 38,976,455 
Financial Charges XIV 83,053,709 70,830,693 
Research & Development Expenses XV 51,986,850 35,291,341 
Depreciation 40,985,310 27,867,001 
Misc. Expenditure Written Off 15,079,631 19,273,644 
Provision for Doubtful Debts 13,622 1,181,221 
Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets 1,820,894 1,308,939 
Total-B 2,004,433,341 1,487,650,724 
Profit For the Year Before Tax (A-B) 319,331,378 117,544,543 
Previous Year Income 77,188 415,256 
Previous Year Expenses 1,481,539 997,618 
Profit Before Tax  317,927,027 116,962,182 
Provision for Income Tax 24,929,453 8,267,397 
Profit Before Deferred Tax 292,997,574 108,694,785 
Provision for Deferred Tax 27,103,899 32,497,853 
Net Profit After Tax 265,893,675 76,196,932 
Income Tax Adjustment of Previous Years 1,097,492 719,691 
Profit available for appropriation 264,796,183 76,916,623 
Provision for dividend on Preference Shares 350,520 350,540 
Provision for preference dividend tax 45,806 44,913 
Profit available for Equity Shareholders 264,399,857 76,521,170 
Provision for dividend on Equity Shares 24,520,080 15,613,675 
Provision for Equity dividend tax 3,204,284 2,000,502 
Transfer to General Reserve 19,829,989 7,691,662 
Transfer to Capital Redemption Reserves 2,000 –   
Retained Profit 216,843,505 51,215,331 
Profit B/F from Previous Year 194,795,449 143,580,118 
Profit C/o to Balance Sheet 411,638,954 194,795,449 
Basic Earning per share 16.17 5.24
Diluted Earning per share 15.64 4.87
Nominal Value of each share 10.00 10.00

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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Schedules forming part of the Accounts
As at 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004

(Rs.) (Rs.)

I.  SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

2,75,00,000 (Previous Year 1,75,00,000) Equity Shares of Rs10/- each 275,000,000 175,000,000

7,50,000 Preference Shares of Rs.100/- each 75,000,000 75,000,000 

350,000,000 250,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up

1,84,00,000 (Previous Year 1,56,13,675 )Equity Shares 184,000,000 156,136,750 

of Rs.10/-each fully called up and paid up.

350, 520 (Previous Year 350,540)  1% Non Cumulative Preference Share of 35,052,000 35,054,000 

Rs.100/- each fully paid up redeemable at par in September, 2015.

Total 219,052,000 191,190,750 

II.  RESERVES AND SURPLUS

(a) Capital Reserves :

Capital Redemption Reserve 2,000 –   

Equity share forfeited Account 866,500 866,500 

(b) Securities Premium 447,385,375 154,821,250

(c) General Reserve 27,521,652 7,691,662

(d)  Profit & Loss Account 411,638,954 194,795,449 

Total 887,414,480 358,174,861 

NOTE :
a) Bank borrowings for working capital from consortium of State Bank of India,State Bank of Patiala and Bank of India together

with Interest, compound Interest, additional interest, liquidated damages, costs, charges, expenses and other monies payable
in respect thereof are secured in favour of said Banks by a Pari Passu, first charge by way of hypothecation of the Company's
current assets, namely, Stocks of Raw Materials, Semi Finished, Finished Goods, Stores & Spares not relating to plant and
Machinery (Consumable Stores & Spares), Bills Receivable and Book Debts and all other movables of the Company both
present and future excluding such movables as may be permitted by the said Banks from time to time.

Also by a pari passu second mortgage and charge in favour of the said banks ranking after the charges created & /or to be
created in favour of the term lenders of the Company on the Company's immovable and movable properties (other than current
assets ) both present and future.

b) Term Loan from Exim Bank (Rs.716.60 Lac), Bank of India (Rs.150.00 Lac), Catholic Syrian Bank (Rs.382.72 Lac), UTI Bank
(Rs.500.00 Lac) State Bank of Patiala (Rs. 1000.00 Lac) & from Financial Institutions(Rs.316.25 Lac) together with all liquidated
damages premia on prepayment or on redemption costs, expenses and other monies is secured by a first pari passu charge
by way of Joint Equitable Mortgage by deposit of title deeds of the Company's immovable properties and a first charge by way
of hypothecation of all its movable assets (save & except book debts), including machinery, machinery spares, tools and
accessories present and future, subject to the charges created/to be created, in favour of the company' banker for working
capital excluding the assets exclusively charged to State Bank of India for its loan of Rs. 372 Lac & excluding charge on land
& building situated at plot no. E-5, Phase-II, Mohali, Punjab. The Term Loan from UTI is further secured by second charge on

III.  SECURED LOANS

A) Loans and Advances from Banks

(a) Borrowings for working capital 266,931,060 177,754,967 

(b) Term Loans  878,099,930 272,189,735

(B) Other Loans and Advances

Term Loans from

(a) Financial Institutions 31,624,709 69,415,239 

(b) Others 28,297,382 16,820,731 

Total 1,204,953,082 536,180,673
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Schedules forming part of the Accounts
III.  SECURED LOANS (Contd.)

the current assets of the Company.

c) Term Loan from Exim Bank (Rs.1089.12 Lac), Bank of India (Rs.500.00 Lac), Catholic Syrian Bank (Rs.546.75 Lac), UTI Bank
(Rs.500.00 Lac), South Indian Bank (Rs.500.00 Lac) is secured by first pari passu charge on fixed assets, both present & future
property, as per the loan agreement, including its moveable plant & machinery, equipment, appliances, furniture, vehicles,
machinery, spares & stores, tools and accessories whether or not installed excluding assets exclusively charged to State Bank
of India for its loan of Rs. 372 Lac & excluding charge on land & building situated at plot no E-5, Phase-II, Mohali, Punjab.

d) The Term Loan from State Bank of India (Rs. 83.56 Lac) is secured by exclusive charge of Plant & Machinery and other assets
at Plant set up for production of Pioglitazone & Candesarton. Another Term Loan from State Bank of India (Rs. 1977.04 Lac) is
secured by whole of the moveable fixed assets at all locations along with equitable mortgage of Land & Building situated at
Plot No. E-5, Phase-II, Mohali, Punjab. Further, the said loan is secured by second pari passu charge on the current assets of
the Company.

e) Term loans from Indusind Bank (Rs.300.00 Lac) & from State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipure (Rs.300.00 Lac) are secured by
subservient charge on the entire current assets and moveable machinery of the Company. Further secured by the personal
gurantees of Mr S.R.Mehta, Mr. V.K.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Munjal, Dr G.Munjal, Dr. V.R.Mehta and Mr. Himanshu Jain.

f) Term Loans from Technology Development Board (Rs. 30.00 Lac) is secured by whole of the moveable properties of the
Company in respect of project for development of Anastrazole & Letrazole situated at Derabassi Plant.

g) Corporate Term loan from State Bank of India (Rs.235.19 Lac), together with all liquidated damages, premia on prepayment or
on redemption costs, expense and other monies are secured by a second pari passu charge by way of hypothecation of all its
movable fixed assets (both present & future), including machinery, mahinery spares, tools and accessories present and future,
subject to the charges created/to be created, in favour of the Company's Banker for Working Capital. This term loan is further
secured by Personal Guarantees of Mr S.R.Mehta, Mr V.K.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Mujal, Dr G.Munjal & Dr. V.R.Mehta and Corporate
Gurantees of Ind Swift Ltd.

h) The Bank Borrowings for working capital and term loans from State Bank of India, Exim Bank, Bank of India (Rs.150.00 Lac),
term loans from financial institutions are further secured by the Corporate Gurantee of Ind Swift Ltd.

i) The Bank Borrowings for working capital, term loans from financial institutions, State Bank of India, Exim Bank, Bank of India,
UTI Bank, Catholic Syrian Bank, South Indian Bank are further secured by personal gurantees of Mr. S.R.Mehta, Mr. V.K.Mehta,
Dr. V.R.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Munjal. Dr. G. Munjal & Mr. Himanshu Jain.

j) ICICI Home Loan is in the name of Mr. N.R.Munjal, Managing Director of the Company is secured against the office premises
in Mumbai.

k) Other term loans of Rs.45.82 Lac are secured against respective fixed assets under hire purchase agreement.

l) Loan against vehicles are secured against hypothecation of the vehicles under the hire purchase agreement.

As at 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004
(Rs.) (Rs.)

IV.  UNSECURED LOANS

(a) Fixed Deposits 67,367,909 23,740,824

(b) Short Term Loan & Advances 

From Banks 36,086,558 4,864,068 

From Others 5,000,000 –

(c) Other Loans & Advances 

From Banks 140,000,000 50,000,000 

From Others – 9,550,000 

Total 248,454,467 88,154,892 

Short Term Loan & Advances Rs. 410.86 Lac includes Rs. 360.86 Lac (Previous Year Rs. Nil Lac) being bill factoring facility from
ABN Amro Bank against accepted hundies, bills & other instruments duly endorsed and personal gurantees of directors and
corporate gurantees of other Companies.

Other Loans & Advances from Bank includes Rs. 400.00 Lac (Previous Year Rs.500.00 Lac) Loan from State Bank of Indore and
Rs.1000.00 Lac (Previous Year Nil) Loan from Yes Bank which are secured by the personal gurantees of Mr S. R. Mehta, Mr. V. K.
Mehta Mr. N.R.Munjal, Dr G.Munjal, Mr. Himanshu Jain and Dr. V. R. Mehta.

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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Schedules forming part of the Accounts
V.  FIXED ASSETS

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION / AMORTISATION NET BLOCK

PARTICULARS As on Addition Sale/ As on As on During the During the As on As on As on

1.04.2004 Transfer 31.3.2005 31.03.2004 year year written 31.03.2005 31.03.2005 31.03.2004

back

Tangible Assets

Land* 9,565,176 30,635,439 –   40,200,615 –   45,100 – 45,100 40,155,515 9,565,176 

Factory Buildings 91,814,594 22,160,703 –   113,975,297 11,575,419 3,276,991 – 14,852,410 99,122,887 80,239,175 

Office Buildings 15,103,637 6,114,084 –   21,217,721 1,247,728 355,860 – 1,603,588 19,614,133 13,855,909 

R&D Buildings 6,880,028 –   –   6,880,028 1,051,758 229,793 – 1,281,551 5,598,477 5,828,270 

Plant & Machinery 472,318,276 192,405,642 13,706,004 651,017,914 78,265,024 27,976,674 4,799,580 101,442,118 549,575,796 394,053,252 

R&D Machinery 48,778,803 42,069,556 –   90,848,358 5,339,878 3,154,418 – 8,494,296 82,354,062 43,438,925 

Electric Instalations 32,955,029 8,506,500 –  41,461,529 7,326,761 1,663,774 – 8,990,535 32,470,994 25,628,268 

Furniture & Fixtures 3,453,157 3,778,314 –   7,231,471 758,371 482,246 – 1,240,617 5,990,854 2,694,786 

Office Equipments 9,851,994 8,810,325 – 18,662,319 4,289,329 1,993,232 – 6,282,561 12,379,758 5,562,665 

Vehicles 14,414,715 16,245,138 1,285,472 29,374,381 2,924,891 1,886,159 275,146 4,535,904 24,838,477 11,489,824 

Intangible Assets

R&D Technology –   13,500,000 –   13,500,000 –   –   –   –   13,500,000 –   

Total 705,135,409 344,225,700 14,991,476 1,034,369,634 112,779,159 41,064,247 5,074,726 148,768,680 885,600,954 592,356,251

Previous year 484,612,688 224,551,061 4,028,341 705,135,408 86,368,566 27,867,001 1,456,407 112,779,160 592,356,248 398,244,122

* Land at J&K (Rs 69.88 Lac) is on lease hold basis for 90 years from the date of execution of lease deed.

Capital work in Progress

Description As on Addition Capitalisation As on As on As on

1.04.2004 31.03.2005 31.03.2005 31.03.2004

(a) Building 2,859,129 114,350,158 26,683,837 90,525,450 – –  –   – 90,525,450 2,859,129

(b) Plant & Machinery 50,579,562 440,234,240 179,397,886 311,415,916 – –   –   – 311,415,916 50,579,562 

(c) Electric Fittings 752,700 30,325,151 8,506,500 22,571,351 – –   –   – 22,571,351 752,700 

(d) Advance for Capital Goods 17,661,882 135,879,450 – –   –   – 135,879,450 17,661,882 

(e) Expenses pending 

Capitalisation 2,190,930 44,454,670 13,553,865 33,091,735 – –   –   – 33,091,735 2,190,930

Total 74,044,203 629,364,219 228,142,088 593,483,902 –   –   –   – 593,483,902 74,044,203

Previous year 52,178,521 208,674,434 178,247,570 74,044,203 74,044,203 52,178,521

(Rs.)

As at 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004
(Rs.) (Rs.)

VI.  CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A) CURRENT ASSETS
I) Inventories

(As per inventories taken, valued & certified by the Management)
Stores & Consumable 5,471,000 4,143,092
Raw Materials 377,345,609 324,178,728
Work in Process 257,092,663 179,380,089
Finished Goods 54,801,360 39,234,080
Total 694,710,632 546,935,989

II) SUNDRY DEBTORS 
(Unsecured,Considered Good)
Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months
– Considered good 36,547,884 11,257,985 
– Considered doubtful 3,270,430 3,256,809 
Other Debts 448,524,678 205,175,366 

488,342,992 219,690,160
Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 3,270,430 3,256,809 
Total 485,072,562 216,433,351  
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As at 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004

(Rs.) (Rs.)

VI.  CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES (Contd.)

III) Cash and Bank Balances

Cash in hand 4,213,172 4,471,021 

Bank balances with Scheduled Banks

Fixed deposits 41,263,871 33,409,384 

Interest accured on fixed deposits 1,595,808 1,634,601 

Current Accounts 70,691,233 16,945,096 

Total 117,764,084 56,460,102

IV) Loans and Advances (Unsecured, Considered good)

Advances recoverable in Cash or in Kind or for value to be received 55,120,512 33,418,405 

Advances to Subsidiary – 298,271 

Cenvat Recoverable 151,958,403 62,333,325 

Advance Custom Duty Paid 1,914,925 4,248,872 

Advance Tax/ TDS 9,476,114 3,125,519 

Prepaid Expenses 4,820,173 3,146,744 

Security deposits 5,054,352 3,766,242 

Total 228,344,480 110,337,379 

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

VII.  CURRENT LIABILITIES & PROVISIONS

A) CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sundry Creditor

Total outstanding dues to Small Scale Industrial undertakings 525,538 1,982,430 

Outstanding dues of Creditors other than Small Scale Industrial Undertaking 442,215,053 328,459,239 

Statutory Liabilities 3,542,395 1,243,510 

Expenses Payable 14,932,163 6,624,131 

Interest accured but not due 6,132,353 1,493,349 

Sub Total 467,347,503 339,802,660 

B) PROVISIONS

Income Tax 24,929,453 8,267,397 

Preference Share Dividend 350,520 350,540 

Tax on proposed preference share dividend 45,806 44,913 

Equity Share Dividend 24,520,080 15,613,675 

Tax on proposed equity share dividend 3,204,284 2,000,502 

Total 520,397,646 366,079,686 

VIII.  MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE (To the extent not written off or adjusted)

1. Capital Enhancement Expenses/ Upfront Fees 500,500 582,000

2. Seed Marketing Expenditure 3,404,972 6,357,204

3. Research & Development upto 31.03.03 10,074,891 21,392,708

4. Development Expenditure 145,976,130 1,137,924

5. Development Expenditure not adjusted 27,708,235 8,462,765 

Total 187,664,729 37,932,600 
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X.  COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED/SOLD

Opening Stock 324,178,728 329,807,583 

Purchases 1,683,230,115 1,220,012,256 

2,007,408,843 1,549,819,839 

Less:Closing Stock 377,345,609 324,178,728 

Total (A) 1,630,063,234 1,225,641,111 

INCREASE /DECREASE IN INVENTORY

Opening Stock

Work in Process 179,380,089 116,013,370 

Finished Goods 39,234,080 35,013,436 

218,614,169 151,026,806

Closing Stock

Work in Process 257,092,663 179,380,089 

Finished Goods 54,801,360 39,234,080 

311,894,023 218,614,169 

Total (B) 93,279,854 67,587,363 

Total (A-B) 1,536,783,380 1,158,053,748 

For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004
(Rs.) (Rs.)

IX-A.  GROSS SALES & OPERATING INCOME

Domestic 1,202,287,630 904,609,718

Exports 1,088,029,151 679,264,005

Export Incentives 104,176,257 81,341,896

Total 2,394,493,038 1,665,215,619 

IX-B.  OTHER INCOME

Diff in Foreign Ex Fluctuation – 14901102

Interest Income 2985638 2453180

Other Income 2763915 1956731

Total 5,749,554 19,311,012 

XI.  MANUFACTURING EXPENSES

Job Work Charges 55,646,292 26,406,409

Wages 22,884,726 15,175,761

P.F. & other funds 2,337,718 1,493,184

Power, Fuel & Water Charges 44,123,672 34,696,681

Stores & Spares 15,394,706 14,612,378

Repair & Maint. :

– Plant & Machinery 1,158,112 2,517,909

– Buildings 511,889 630,077

– Electrical 858,648 1,683,688

Other manufacturing Expenses 63,402 354,508

Total 142,979,165 97,570,595 
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For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004

(Rs.) (Rs.)

XII.  ADMINISTRATIVE & OTHER EXPENSES

Directors Remuneration
– Salary & Allowances 5,600,000 912,000
– Contribution to P.F. 18,720 18,720
Salary & Allowances 8,950,511 6,979,364
P.F. & other funds 865,936 284,445
Gratuity Premium 674,063 238,390
Travelling & conveyance 15,079,854 10,010,124
Audit Fee 225,000 194,400
Rent 3,860,483 1,431,481
Rate & Taxes 1,324,694 409,748
Insurance 3,565,449 2,662,823
Legal &Professional Charges 1,255,749 1,583,427
Printing & Stationary 4,184,982 2,610,709
Vehicle Running & Maint. 5,050,786 3,142,037
Telephone & Postage 4,929,571 3,371,166
Office Expenses 1,014,015 416,164
Charity & Donation 322,625 152,847
Listing Fees 106,902 33,808
Books & Periodicals 349,394 93,586
Membership & Subscription Fees 754,612 423,617
Security Expenses 1,328,357 836,682
Staff Welfare 300,356 206,680
Training & Development Expenses 689,834 318,711
Repair & Maintenance Gen. 679,484 694,402
Other Expenses 609,204 271,757
Total 61,740,581 37,297,087 

XIII.  SELLING & DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Advertisement & publicity 1,213,372 593,603
Business Promotion 3,796,075 1,137,247
Commission on Sales 40,943,520 21,754,969
Rebate & Discount 4,597,244 692,016
Freight Outward 14,054,729 11,451,635
Insurance Charges 571,800 424,800
ECGC Premium 1,946,524 1,129,418
Bad Debts w/off 2,584,798 998,883
Other Expenses 282,138 793,885
Total 69,990,200 38,976,455 

XIV.  INTEREST AND FINANCIAL CHARGES

Interest on Term Loans 36,190,423 31,513,203
Interest on Working Capital from Banks 24,567,707 19,742,499
Bank Charges & Others 18,724,417 19,169,842
Brokerage & Commission 861,904 405,150
Diff in Foreign Ex Fluctuation 2,709,258 –
TOTAL 83,053,709 70,830,693 

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005 31.3.2004

(Rs.) (Rs.)

XV.  RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Salary & Wages & Other Allowances 7408834 5925584
Administration Exp 2405715 1022181
Raw Material 29726485 22060373
Consumables & Maintenance 3901753 1986333
Repair & Maintenace - Machinery 1139328 446476
Lab chemicals & Other Charges 6149778 3634394
Technical Study & Consultancy 1254957 216000
Total 51,986,850 35,291,341

XVI.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1 System of Accounting

The financial statements of the company have been prepared to comply in all material aspects with applicable Accounting
Principles in India, the Accounting Standards issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant
provision of The Companies Act,1956. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention
and on the basis of going concern.

2 Fixed Assets & Depreciation
All Fixed Assets are valued at cost net of Cenvat credit wherever eligible. Cost includes all expenses and borrowing cost
attributable to the project till the date of commissioning. Depreciation is provided on straight line method at the rates
specified in schedule XIV of the Companies Act 1956 on pro rata basis and the assets having the value upto Rs. 5000 have
been depreciated at the rate of 100%. Lease hold Land is amortised over the period of lease. The Policy of Company is to
provide depreciation on the Buildings and Plant & Machinery/ other fixed assets of new projects from the date of start up
of commercial production/ put to use. The Policy of Company is to amortise the Intangible Assets in next five subsequent
years.

3 Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,construction of qualifying assets have been capitalised as
part of cost of assets. Other Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

4 Inventories
Inventories are valued as under 
Stores & spares are valued at cost. Raw Materials are valued at cost on FIFO basis Work in process is valued at estimated
cost basis or net realisable value whichever is less. Finished Goods are valued at cost or net realisable value whichever is
less and is inclusive of excise duty and all expenditure directly attributable to production Finished Goods under test are
valued at cost or net realisable value whichever is less and all expenditure directly attributable to production but exclusive
of excise duty.

5 Recognition of Income and Expenditure
Sales are recognised when goods are supplied and are recorded net of rebates and sales tax and inclusive of excise duty.
Expenses are accounted for on accural basis and provision is made for all known losses and expenses.

6 Foreign Currency Transactions
Transaction in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The gain or
loss arising from forward transactions have been stated on prorata basis over the terms of the contract. Foreign currency
denominated current assets & current liabilities are translated at year end exchange rates.The resulting gain or Loss is
recognised in the Profit & Loss Account.

7 Retirement Benefits
The Retirement benefits of the employees include Gratuity ,Provident Fund & Leave Encashment . The Gratuity is funded
through the group insurance scheme of Life Insurance Corporation of India. Contirbution to the provident fund is provided on
accural basis. The Leave Encashment is provided on the basis of employees entitlement in accordance with company's rules.

8 Current & Deferred Tax
The provision for current tax is made at the actual rate applicable for the income of the year as given under the Income Tax
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XVI.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

Act, 1961. However provision for deferred tax is made at the rate applicable to the subsequent financial year.

9 Contingent Liability
Contingent liabilities are not provided for and are disclosed by way of notes.

10 Miscellaneous Expenditure
Amortisation of Miscellaneous expenditure 
Capital Enhancement expenses, Seed Marketing Expenditure, Research & Development exp ( upto 31.03.03) & Development
Expenditure are written off over a period of five subsequent years.

11 Government Subsidy
The Policy of Company is to account for the Government Subsidy on actual receipt basis.

12 Export Incentives
The same is being recognised at the time of export.

13 Investments
Long term Investements  are being valued at cost

14 Other Accounting Policies
Accounting Policies not specifically referred to are in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

B. NOTES ON ACCOUNTS
1 Contingent liabilities not provided for: (Rs. in lacs)

2004-05 2003-04

Letter of Credit against purchase of raw material:     388.25 322.11
Bank Guarantees *   51.55 13.98
Export bills purchased by bank : 183.39 415.75
Export obligation in respect of cutom duty : 147.25 256.73
Export obligation in respect of cutom duty under EPCG Scheme : 10.79 Nil

* Bank guarantees Rs. 51.55 lac include guarantee for Custom authorities Rs 46.55 Lac and for Pollution Control board Rs
5 Lac

2 Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (Net of advances) Rs.
258.87 lacs (Previous year Rs. 120.37 Lacs)

3 In the opinion of the Board, the Current Assets, Loans & Advances shown in the Balance Sheet have a value on realisation
in the ordinary course of business at least equal to the amount at which they are stated.

4 Director Remuneration includes (Rs.)
2004-05 2003-2004

A Salary
Managing Director 2,800,000 462,000
Jt. Managing Director 2,800,000 450,000 

B Contribution to Provident Fund
Managing Director 9,360 9,360 
Jt. Managing Director 9,360 9,360 

C Perquisites
Managing Director 628,800 151,760 
Jt. Managing Director 628,800 147,948
Total 6,876,320 1,230,428

5 Other expenses under head admnistrative expenses includes Rs. 35000 (Previous Year Rs.23000) paid to directors as sitting
fee.

6 In accordance with Accounting Standard 18, 'Related Party Disclosures', issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants
of India, the Company has compiled the following information :

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited



84

Schedules forming part of the Accounts
XVI.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS (Contd.)0

a. List of related parties and their relationship  

Name of related party Ind Swift Limited Essix Biosciences Ind swift Ind Swift  Ind Swift

Limited Communications Laboratories Infrastructure &  

(P) Ltd. Inc. USA  Developers Ltd.

Nature of transaction 2004-05 2003-04 2004-05 2003-04 2004-05 2003-04 2004-05 2003-04 2004-05 2003-04
(i) Transactions during 

the year
Purchases. 1151.90 22.60
Sales 171.02 431.83 35.42
Purchased DEPB 7.69 0.55
Publicity Exp 0.50 1.08

(ii) Outstanding balances
as on 31.03.04
Share Capital 447.37 225.80 2.39 32.39
Investment 181.22 15.73 8.00
Advances 2.98
Debtors 0.00 86.18 13.10
Creditors 179.12 0.08
Unsecured Loans 95.50

Associates Ind Swift Limited 
Essix Biosciences Limited 
Ind swift communications (p) ltd
Ind Swift Infrastructure & Developers Ltd

Key Management personnel-Directors Mr. N.R.Munjal
Mr.V.K.Mehta

Subsidiary Ind Swift Laboratories Inc. USA 

b. Related party transactions (Rs. in lacs)

8 Deferred Tax:
The Break Up of Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Assets) as at March 31, 2005 is as under: Rs. in lacs
Deferred Tax Liabilities 2004-05 2003-04
Timing Difference on account of :
Fixed Assets 915.18 924.92
Research & Development Exp (upto 31.03.2003) 26.76 41.80
Seed Marketing Expenditure 11.46 0.00
Development Expenditure 459.04 34.45
Total 1412.44 1001.17
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Timing Difference on account of :
Provision for Doubtful Debts 11.02 0.00
Carried Forward Loss as per Income Tax Act 162.47 33.25
Total 173.48 33.25
Deferred Tax Liabilities net 1238.96 967.93
Deferred Tax Liabilities Charged to P&L A/c 271.03 324.97

Details of remenuration to Directors (Key management Personnel) are as given in Note no 4. 

7 Earning per share is calculated as shown below:(Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)

2004-05 2003-04
No. of weighted average equity shares
Basic 16346720 14611347
Effect of diluted equity shares equivalent to
– 1% 350,540 Preference Share – 1095438
– 1713675 equity share warrants pending for conversion 563400 –
Diluted 16910120 15706784
Earning Per Share (Rs.)
Basic 16.17 5.24
Diluted 15.64 4.87
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Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

9 The balance in the parties accounts whether in debit or credit are subject to confirmation and resultant adjustment.

10 The sundry balances written off of Rs.2.82 Lac (Previous Year Rs.7.93 Lac ) debited to profit and loss account during the year is
net off of credit balances written off amounting to Rs. 2.93 Lac (Previous year Rs. 1.58 Lac).

11 Interest received includes interest on Fixed deposits amounting to Rs.20.61 Lac (previous year Rs.22.06 Lac) and Interest from
Others amounting to Rs. 9.24 Lac (Previous Year Rs. 2.46 Lac) . The tax deducted thereon Rs. 4.25 Lac (previous year Rs.4.55 Lac) 

12 Fixed deposits with banks of Rs.365.98 Lacs (Previous year Rs.334.09 Lacs) are pledged with banks as margin money for working
capitial facilities.

13 The company operates only in one business segment viz. Bulk Drugs & Pharmaceuticals.However the figures in Segment reporting
is based on geographical location of its customers.

Segment Report

The Company operates only in one business segment viz. Bulk Drugs & Pharmaceuticals. However the figures in Segment
Reporting is based on geographical location of its customers.

Rs./Lac
In India Outside India Total

Revenue-External 12023 10880 22903 
(9046) (6793) (15839)

Results 1563 4093 5657
(1045) (1800) (2845)

Less: Financial Expenses 831 
(708)

Less: Unallocated Expenses 1704 
(1160)

Add: Other Income 57
(193)

Less: Income Tax Provision 249
(83)

Less: Deferred Tax 271 
(325)

Profit after Tax 2659 
(762)

Other information
Segment Assets 1890 2961 4851

(815) (1349) (2164)

Unallocated Assets 27390 
(14201)

Total Assets 32241 
(16366)

Segment Liabilities 2987 1686 4673 
(1977) (1421) (3398)

Unallocated Liabilities 16304
(7474)

Total Liabilities 20977 
(10872)

Capital Expenditure 14791 
(6664)

Depreciation 410 
(279)

Non Cash Expenses other than deprecation 151 
(193)

NOTES:
1 Geographical Segments

The segment reporting is performed on the basis of the geographical location of customers.
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17 The outstanding dues of small scale industrial undertakings have been determined to the extent such parties have been
identified on the basis of information available with the Company. The parties to whom the Company owes sum
outstanding for more than 30 days as at the balance sheet date are:

Sood Plastics Pvt Ltd Saurav Chemicals Limited The above information and that given in Schedule VI -"Current Liabilities
and Provisions" regarding Small Scale Industrial Undertakings has been determined to the extent such parties have been
identified on the basis of information available with the company. 

18 The Company has passed a resolution in annual general meeting held on 29th September, 2004 authorising Board of
Directors for conversion of Existing 3,50,520 (out of 3,50,540) 1% non-cumulative redeemable preference shares of
Rs.100 each into fully paid equity shares of Rs 10 each at a premium of Rs. 40 per share. However, these shares have
not been converted into Equity Shares and the balance of 20 Shares have been redeemed at par.

19 Investment of Rs. 314.22 Lac ( Previous Year 20.74 Lac) (Unquoted-Long Term ) are at Cost.

a) Share Application Money deposited with Ind Swift Laboratories Inc, USA (Rs.181.22 Lac, Previous Year Rs. 15.74 Lac)

Common Stock RS. 0.45 Lac

Share Application Money Rs. 313.77 Lac

b) Units of Principle Global Opportunities Fund (Rs. 5.00 Lac, Previous Year Rs.5.00 Lac)

c) Investment in Vardhman Chemtech Pvt Limited ( 100.00 Lac, Previous Year Nil)
10,00,000 Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up

d) Investment in Nimbua Green Field (Punjab) Ltd (Rs. 20.00 Lac, Previous Year Nil)

7200 Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each fully paid Rs. 72000

Share Application Money Rs. 1928000

e) Share Application Money deposited with Ind Swift Infrastructure & Developers Limited, (Rs 8.00 Lac, Previous Year
Nil)

16 Misc Expenditure Includes the Development Expenditure (Rs.1459.76 Lac, Previous Year Rs.11.38 Lac) comprises of following.

Rs. in lacs

Description Opening Additions Amortised Closing

Balance Balance

Raw Material 3.63 1339.48 0.73 1342.38

Consumables & Spares 0.75 54.97 0.15 55.57

Salary & Wages 7.00 56.22 1.40 61.81

Total 11.38 1450.66 2.28 1459.76

Previous Year 0.00 11.38 0.00 11.38

14 Total amount of Term Loans installments payable during twelve months following 31-03-2005 are Rs. 3845.06 Lacs
(Previous year Rs.1274.88 Lacs)

15 Expenditure on Research & Development (Rs. in lacs)

2004-05 2003-04
a) Addition in Fixed Assets 555.70 222.08
b) Development Expenditure (Incl Dev Exp not adj.) 1643.11 96.01
c) Debited to Profit & Loss Account as per Annexure XV 519.87 352.91

Depreciation 33.84 20.45
Misc Exp W/off 113.17 144.46

The Depreciation and misc exp w/off related to research & development are clubbed under respectives heads in profit &
loss account.

The management views the indian market and export markets as distinct geographical segments.
2 Segment assets & liabilities

Segment assets consists of debtors & the segment liabilities consists of creditors and accrued liabilities.
3 The figures in brackets are in respect of previous year.
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22 Capital Work in Progress includes expenses pending capitalisaton Rs.330.91 Lac (Previous Year 21.90) as detailed below:

(Rs. in Lacs)

Description Opening Additions Amortised Balance
Balance

Interest Cost 8.93 213.90 98.66 124.18
Upfront Fees 12.98 58.25 12.98 58.25
Salary & Wages 0.00 136.84 23.90 112.94
Legal & Professional   0.00 9.78 0.00 9.78
Travelling & Conveyances     0.00 5.30 0.00 5.30
Rent     0.00 2.90 0.00 2.90
Repair & Maint     0.00 2.87 0.00 2.87
Insurance  0.00 2.62 0.00 2.62
Toll Entry Tax     0.00 2.60 0.00 2.60
Electricity Charges   0.00 2.53 0.00 2.53
Security Expenses   0.00 1.03 0.00 1.03
Others 0.00 5.93 0.00 5.93
Total 21.91 444.55 135.54 330.92
Previous Year 0.00 21.91 0.00 21.91

XVI.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS (Contd.)

23 A sum of Rs. 30 Lac is recoverable from State Govt of Punjab as Punjab State Investment Subsidy.

24 Previous year figures have been regrouped, rearranged wherever considered necessary for comparison.

25 Additional information pursuant to the provisions of paragraph 3 & 4 of Part II of Schedule VI of the Companies Act, 1956 is

as under :

A. Particulars of Capacity & Production :

Sr.  Product Licensed Installed 

No. Capacity Capacity

1 Bulk Drugs, Intermediates, Solvents & Others N.A. 150000 kgs

(120000 kgs)

The installed capacity is as certified by the management on which auditors have placed reliance being a technical

matter.

B-I Production, Turnover & Stocks :

Sr. Product Opening Stock Production/ Turnover Closing Stock

No. Purchase

Qty Value Qty Qty Value Qty Value

(Kgs.) (Rs.) (Kgs.) (Rs.) (Kgs.) (Rs.)

1 Bulk Drugs, Intermediates etc. 6,625 39,234,080 123,118 124,695 1,689,584,763 5,048 54,801,360

(3,295) (35,013,436) (107,909) (104,579) (1,347,708,734) (6,625) (39,234,080

2 Contract Research Income 61,898,680 

Purchases (8,000,000)

Total 39,234,080 1,751,483,443 54,801,360

(35,013,436) (1,355,708,734) (39,234,080)

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

20 Office Building includes Mumbai Office Building (Rs.41.46 Lac) purchased in Mumbai in the name of the Managing
Director of the Company which is mortgaged with ICICI Bank.

The Company has entered into an "agreement to sell" and has taken GPA from the Managing Director. The property is yet
to be registered in the name of Company.

21 Company has made preferential allotment of 22,25,000 equity shares & 5,61,325 equity shares of Rs 10 each at a
premium of Rs 105/- each on 02.12.04 & 31.03.05 respectively.

The Proceeds of Preferential allotments was fully utilised towards the capital expenditure/projects undertaken by the
company.
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2004-05 2003-04

E. C.I.F. values of Imports :

(i) For Raw Materials 770,216,164 567,304,706 

(ii) For Capital Goods 40,653,212 636,503 

F. Expenditure in Foreign Exchange : 48,446,151 21,184,643 

G. Earnings in foreign exchange 

FOB Value of Goods 1,029,399,866 670,122,224

FOB Value of Services 46,322,800 

25 Schedule I to XVI form an integeral part of Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account and have been duly authenticated.

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta S. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati Dr. V. R. Mehta Himanshu Jain K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh Dr. S. D. Nanda N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 13 June, 2005 Director Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)

D. Detail of Raw Material, Stores & Spares Consumed :

RAW MATERIAL STORES & SPARES

2004-05 2003-04 2004-05 2003-04

Value % of Total Value % of Total Value % of Total Value % of Total 

Rs. Consumption Rs. Consumption Rs. Consumption Rs. Consumption

Imported 781,734,709 47.96 585,754,758 47.79 – – – –

Indigenous 848,328,525 52.04 639,886,353 52.21 15,394,706 100.00 14,612,378 100.00

Total 1,630,063,234 100.00 1,225,641,111 100.00 15,394,706 100.00 14,612,378 100.00

C. Detail of Consumption of material
Rs. in lacs

Sr. 2004-05 2003-04

No. Raw Material Consumed Quantity Value Quantity Value

1 TIOC 168,002 428,177,114 114,207 330,529,460
2 BETA 422 41,875,743 246 27,335,293
3 Others 517,075,257 559,152,458 

Total 987,128,114 917,017,211

B-II Trading Goods (Intermediates & Chemicals etc) :

Sr. Product Opening Stock Purchase Turnover Closing Stock

No.

Qty Value Qty Value Qty Value Qty Value

(Kgs.) (Rs.) (Kgs.) (Rs.) (Kgs.) (Rs.) (Kgs.) (Rs.)

1 Trading goods 132,461 673,546,320 127,703 643,009,595 4,758 30,611,200

(Intermediates & Chemicals etc.) (84,213) (309,506,885) (84,213) (309,506,885) –

# Figures in brackets are in respect of previous year.

# The Production includes (1576.30 Kg) (Previous Year 3109.27 Kg) which are under test.

# The stock of finished goods include 4811.90 Kg (Previous Year 6388.20 Kg) of the goods which are under test 

amounting to Rs. 533.73 (Previous Year Rs. 375.86)
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Public Issue

1 5 5 5 3

Right Issue

3 1 0 3

Registration No. State Code

Balance Sheet Date

I. Registration Details

II. Capital Raised during the year (Amount in Rs. ‘000)

Total Liabilities

III. Position of Mobilisation and Deployment of Funds (Amount in Rs. ‘000)

2 0 0 5

5 3

N I L

N I L Bonus Issue

Date Month Year

Private Placement

N I L

Paid-up Capital

Secured Loans

Sources of Funds

Total Assets

Reserves & Surplus

Unsecured Loans

IV. Performance of Company (Amount in Rs. ‘000)

i) Clarithromycin

Product Description: Item Code No.

V. Generic Names of Principal Products of Company

Net Fixed Assets

Net Current Assets

Investments

Misc. Expenditure

Turnover & other income

Profit/loss before Tax

2 9 4 1 5 0

2 9 4 2 0 0ii) Betamethsone Salt

Earning per share in (Rs.) 1 5

Total Expenditure

Profit/loss after Tax

Dividend Rate (%)

Application of Funds

Balance Sheet Abstract
and Company’s General Business Profile

2 7 0 3 6 6 6

2 1 9 0 5 2

1 2 0 4 9 5 3

Deferred payment liabilities 1 2 3 8 9 7

2 3 2 3 7 6 5

3 1 7 9 2 7

1 6 . 1 7

2 0 0 5 8 3 8

2 6 4 7 9 6

1 4 7 9 0 8 5

1 0 0 5 4 9 4

3 1 4 2 2

1 8 7 6 6 5

2 7 0 3 6 6 6

3 4 0 3 2 2

2 4 8 4 5 4

8 8 7 4 1 4

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta S. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati Dr. V. R. Mehta Himanshu Jain K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh Dr. S. D. Nanda N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 13 June, 2005 Director Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st March, 2005 2004

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Profit before tax and extraordinary items 3179.27 1169.62

Adjustments for:

i) Depreciation 409.85 278.67 

ii) Preliminary, issue & deferred expenses amortised 150.80 192.74 

iii) Exchange (profit)/loss 27.09 (104.27)

iv) Interest on term loans 361.90 315.13 

v) Interest received (29.86) (24.53)

vi) Preference share dividend provision 3.51 3.51 

vii) Dividend tax 0.46 0.45 

viii) Provision for doubtful debts 0.14 11.81 

ix) Loss on sale of fixed assets 18.21 13.09 

Operating profit before working capital charges 4121.37 1856.21 

Adjustments for:

i) Trade & other receivables (2693.62) (440.33)

ii) Inventories (1477.75) (633.32)

iii) Loan & advances (1116.57) (433.88)

iv) Current liabilities 1271.10 821.48 

v) Working capital borrowing 891.76 (227.36)

vi) Income taxes (156.70) (50.26)

(3281.78) (963.67)

Net cash flow from operating activities 839.59 892.55 

B CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITES

i) Purchase of fixed assets (8636.65) (2464.17)

ii) Sale of fixed assets 80.96 12.63 

iii) Purchase of investments (293.48) (20.74)

iv) Capital issue & deferred expenses (1648.12) (102.02)

v) Interest received on fixed deposits 29.86 24.53 

Net cash from investing activities (10467.44) (2549.76)

(Amount Rs. in lacs)
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Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

Cash Flow Statement (Contd.)

For the year ended 31st March, 2005 2004

(Amount Rs. in lacs)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

i) Proceeds from share capital  278.61 134.00 

ii) Advance agst share capital 198.95 0.00 

iii) Proceeds from securities premium 2925.64 201.00 

iv) Proceeds from term loans from banks & financial institutions 8414.06 3003.22 

v) Repayment of term loans to banks & financial institutions (1470.26) (1489.88)

vi) Interest paid on term loans (362.29) (306.32)

vii) Proceeds from fixed deposit 1912.97 270.83 

viii) Repayments of fixed deposit (1476.70) (33.43)

ix) Preference dividend paid (3.51) (7.43)

x) Preference dividend tax paid (0.45) (0.95)

xi) Equity dividend paid (156.14) 0.00 

xii) Equity dividend tax paid (20.01) 0.00 

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities 10240.89 1771.04 

Net increase in cash or cash equivalents 613.04 113.82 

Cash & cash equivalents as on 31.3.2004 564.60 450.78 

Cash & cash equivalents as on 31.3.2005 1177.64 564.60

Auditors’ Certificate
We have verified the above Cash Flow Statement of Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited, derived from the audited financial statements
for the year ended 31st March 2005 and found the same to drawn in accordance therewith and also with requirements of clause
32 of the Listing Agreement with the Stock Exchange.

For Jain & Associates
Chartered Accountants

Place : Chandigarh R. K Gulati
Date : 13 June, 2005 Partner

Membership No. 11999

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta S. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati Dr. V. R. Mehta Himanshu Jain K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh Dr. S. D. Nanda N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 13 June, 2005 Director Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Statement Pursuant to the Section 212 of the Companies Act, 1956

1 Name of the Subsidiary Company Ind Swift Laboratories Inc.

2 Financial Year of the Subsidiary Company 01-01-2004 to 31-12-2004

3 Share of Subsidiary Company held by Ind Swift Laboratories Limited

(i) No of Shares (Common Stock) 100

(ii) Face Value $ 11 per Share

(iii) Paid up value $ 1100 / Rs. 49390

(iv) Additional Paid up Capital $ 295700 / Rs. 13276930

(v) Extent of Holding 100%

Rs. in lacs

4 Net aggregate amount of Profit/(Loss) of the subsidiary company so far as they 

concern the members of Ind Swift Laboratories Limited not dealt with in the accounts 

of the Ind Swift Laboratories Limited amount to:

(a) For the Subsidiary Company's financial year ended on 31.12.2004 -82.91

(b) For the previous financial year of the Subsidiary since it became the Nil

Holding Company's Subsidiary

5 Net aggregate amount of Profit/(Loss) of the subsidiary company so far as they\ 

concern the members of Ind Swift Laboratories Limited dealt with in the accounts 

of the Ind Swift Laboratories Limited amount to:

(a) For the subsidiary Company's financial year ended 31.12.2004 Nil

(b) For the previous financial year of the subsidiary since it became the Nil

Holding Company's subsidiary

6 Holding Company's interest as at March 31, 2005 incorporating changes since close No Change

of the financial year of the subsidiary company

Note:

Balance sheet items are translated at closing exchange rate of 

Subsidiary Company as at 31.12.2004 (1 $ = Rs.44.90)

Profit & Loss items are translated at average exchange rate (1 $ = Rs.44.15)

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta Dr. V. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar Dr. S. D. Nanda Himanshu Jain
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 26 August, 2005 Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Ind-Swift Laboratories Inc.

Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the first report
on the operations of your company and annual financial
statements of the company for the period since
incorporation to December 31, 2004.

Financial Results
This was the first year of operation of your company since
coming into existence on 02.01.2004. The company is
engaged in the marketing of pharmaceuticals mainly in US
market. During the year, the total income was US$ 70,000
and net loss was US$ 183,631 after making provision for
Income Taxes of US$ 800. The company’s aim is to
establish efficient partnership with US pharmaceuticals
companies.

Board of Directors
Dr. G. Munjal, Mr. N.R Munjal, Mr. V.K Mehta, directors
served on the board of the company during the year.

Directors Responsibility Statement
The directors confirm that while preparing the annual
accounts, the applicable accounting standards had been
followed along with proper explanation relating to material
departures. They further confirm that they had selected
such accounting policies and applied them consistently and

made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and
prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company at the end of the financial year. They
also confirm that proper and sufficient care had been taken
for the maintenance of adequate accounting records for
safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing
and detecting fraud and other irregularities and that the
annual accounts had been prepared on going concern
basis.

Auditors
Willian Smith+Brown, Certified Public Accountants acted
as the auditors of the company during the period.

The audit report of your company for the year ended
December 31, 2004 is attached along with financial reports.

Appreciation
Your directors wish to place on record their appreciation of
valuable services rendered by all the employees of the
company and to all the business associates of the company
for their continued support.

July 1, 2005 N.R.Munjal V.K.Mehta
Chandigarh Director Director

Directors’ Report

To the Stockholder of
Ind-Swift Laboratories, Inc

We have audited the accompanying balance sheet of Ind-
Swift Laboratories, Inc. (a development stage company) as
of December 31, 2004, and the related statements
operations and accumulated deficit and cash flows for the
period from January 2, 2004 (inception) to December 31,
2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Thos standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence

supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Ind-Swift Laboratories, Inc. (a development stage
company) as of December 31, 2004, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for the period from January 2,
2004 (inception) to December 31, 2004 then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. 

July 1, 2005

Independent Auditors’ Report
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Balance Sheet

December 31, 2004 US$ INR

ASSETS

Current Asset

Cash 93,934 4217637

Furniture and Equipment-net 50,140 2249723

Other assets 3,472 155893

Total Assets 147,546 6623253

Liabilities and stockholder’s Deficit

Current Liabilities:

Other current liabilities 16,559 743499

Notes payable - current 3,723 167163

Total Current Liabilities 20,282 910662

Notes Payable 14,095 632866

Stockholder's Deficit:

Common stock, $0 par value, 1,500 shares authorized,

100 shares issued and outstanding 1,100 49390

Additional paid in capital 295,700 13276930

Deficit accumulated during the development stage -183,631 -8290940

Total Stockholder's Deficit 113,169 5035380

Translation reserve – 44345

Total Liabilities and Stockholder’s Deficit 147,546 6623253



95

Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit

For the period from January 2, 2004 (Date of inception) to December 31, 2004 US$ INR

Sales 70,000 3160500

Cost of sales 49,000 2212350

Gross Profit 21,000 948150

Operating Expenses:

Payroll 99,820 4506873

Legal fees 26,183 1182162

Travel and entertainment 20,957 946209

Rent 14,340 647451

Office expense 8,991 405944

Conferences 6,000 270900

Memberships 5,974 269726

Accounting 7,500 338625

Depreciation 6,251 282233

Telephone 4,271 192836

Insurance 2,737 123576

Subscriptions 394 17789

Vehicle expenses 288 13003

Repairs and maintenance 44 1987

Total Operating Expenses 203,750 9199314

Loss From Operations –182,750 –8251164

Other Expenses:

Interest expense 81 3657

Net Loss Before Provision for Income Taxes –182,831 –8254820

Provision for Income Taxes 800 36120

Net Loss –183,631 –8290940

Accumulated Deficit at January 2, 2004 – –

Accumulated Deficit at December 31, 2004 –183,631 –8290940

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Ind-Swift Laboratories Inc.
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the period from January 2, 2004 (Date of inception) to December 31, 2004 US$ INR

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income –183,631 -8290940

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 6,251 282233

Changes in:

Prepaid expenses -879 -39467

Security deposits -2,593 -116426

Accrued expenses 16,559 743499

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities -164,293 -7,421,101

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Purchase of furniture and equipment -56,391 -2531956

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 296,800 13326320

Repayment of note payable -2,182 -97972

Proceeds from note payable 20,000 898000

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 314,618 14126348

Net Increase in Cash 93,934 4173292

Translation reserve – 44345

Cash - Inception –

Cash - End of Period 93,934 4217637

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for:

Income taxes 800 36120

Interest 81 3657

The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to financial Statements
Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Significant accounting Policies followed by the Company in the preparation of the accompanying financial 

statements are summarized below: 

Nature of Operations

Ind Swift Laboratories Inc., (the "Company"), a Delaware Corporation, was formed on January 2, 2004. The Company is a wholly

owned subsidiary of Ind-Swift Laboratories Ltd. (India). The Company is engaged in the sale of raw materials to pharmaceutical

companies. During 2004, the Company purchased 100% of its raw material from its parent company. The Company currently

markets its products to a wide variety of businesses in the United States.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash

equivalents.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue generated from products shipped is recognized when the risk and rights of ownership have passed to the customer. The

Company, under certain conditions, permits its customers to return or exchange products. A provision for sales returns is recorded

concurrently with revenue recognition.

Furniture and Equipment

Furniture and Equipment is carried at cost. Depreciation of furniture and equipment is provided using the straight-line methoid at

the following rates:

Classification Useful Life (Years)    

Vehicles 5 

Computer equipment 3

Furniture & fixtures 7

Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of property and equipment are capitalized.

Expenditure for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred.

Income Taxes

Income Taxes expense includes federal and state taxes currently payable and deferred taxes arising from temporary differences

between income for financial reporting and income tax purposes. These differences result principally from use of accelerated

depreciation method and cash basis of accounting for income tax purposes. To the extent significant temporary differences arise

between income for financial reporting and income tax purposes, the Company will provide for deferred taxes.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. There were no advertising costs for the period ended December 31, 2004

Development Stage

The Company has been in the development stage since its formation on January 2, 2004. The operations of the company since

that date have consisted of raising capital, and the legal process for importing raw  materials from a foreign country.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Ind-Swift Laboratories Inc.
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Notes to financial Statements (Contd.)
Note 2 - Furniture and Equipment:

Furniture and equipment, at cost, consisted of the following:

US$ INR

Furniture 4,500 202050

Vehicle 44,111 1980584

Computer equipment 7,780 349322

56,391 2531956

Less: Accumulated depreciation –6,251 282233

Furniture and Equipment, net 50,140 2249723

Depreciation and amortization expense charged to operations was $ 6,251 

for the period ended December 31, 2004

Note 3 - Long - Term Debt:

Notes payable at December 31, 2004 consisted of the following:

The notes are payable in monthly installments for 60 months and bear interest of 4.9%.

The notes are collateralized by the vehicles described in Note 2.

Thr following are maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five years:

US$ INR

2005 4,528 203307

2006 4,528 203307

2007 4,528 203307

2008 4,528 203307

2009 1,765 79249

Total minimum payments 19,877 892477

Less: Amount representing interest -2,059 -92449

Present value of minimum payments 17,818 800028

Interest expense charged to operations amounted to $81 for the period ended December 31, 2004.

Note 4 - Operating Leases:

The Company leases office facilities under a non-cancelable operating lease expiring in May 2005. Future minimum lease payments

for 2005 amount $8,525. Rent expense amounted to $14,340 for the period end December 31, 2004.
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We have audited the attached Consolidated Balance Sheet

of Ind Swift Laboratories Limited (“the Company) and its

subsidiary as at March 31, 2005, and also the Consolidated

Profit and Loss Account and the Consolidated Cash Flow

Statement for the year ended on that date annexed thereto.

These Financial statements are the responsibility of the

Company’s management and have been prepared by the

management on the basis of separate financial statements

and other financial information. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on these financial statements based on

our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with

auditing standards generally accepted in India. Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to

obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial

statement are free of material misstatement. An audit

includes, examining on a test basis, evidenced supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management, as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion.

We did not audit the financial statements of Ind Swift

Laboratories Inc USA( wholly owned subsidiary) which has

been considered for consolidation, whose financial

statements reflect total assets of Rs 66.23 Lac and the total

revenue of Rs Rs.31.60 Lac for the year then ended. These

financial statements and other financial information have

been audited by another auditor whose report has been

furnished to us, and our opinion is based solely on the

report of the other auditor.

We report that the consolidated financial statements have

been prepared by the management of Ind Swift

Laboratories Limited in accordance with the requirements

of accounting standard (AS 21), Consolidated Financial

statements, issued by the Institute of Chartered

Accountants of India.

Based on our audit and on consideration on report of other

auditor on separate financial statements and other financial

information of the components, and to the best of our

information and according to the explanations given to us,

we are of the opinion that the attached consolidated

financial statements give a true and fair view in conformity

with the accounting principles generally accepted in India.

a) In case of the Consolidated Balance sheet of the

consolidated state of affairs of Ind Swift Laboratories

Limited and its Subsidiary as at March 31, 2005.

b) In the case of the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

of the consolidated results of operations of Ind Swift

Laboratories limited and its Subsidiary for the year ended

on that date, and 

In the case of the Consolidated Cash flow Statement of the

consolidated cash flows of Ind Swift Laboratories limited

and its Subsidiary for the year ended on that date.

For Jain & Associates

Chartered Accountants

R. K. Gulati

Place: Chandigarh Partner

Date: 26 August, 2005 Membership No. 11999

The Members,
Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited,
Chandigarh

Consolidated Auditors’ Report

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31st March, Schedule 31.3.2005
(Rs.)

I. SOURCES OF FUNDS
1. Shareholder's fund

Share Capital I 219,052,000 
Reserves & Surplus II 879,123,541 
Share Application money 19,894,958 
Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 44,345

2. Loan Funds
Secured Loans III 1,205,585,947 
Unsecured Loans IV 248,454,467 

3. Deferred Tax Liability 123,896,860
Total 2,696,052,118

II. APPLICATION OF FUNDS
1. Fixed Assets V

Gross Block 1,037,360,730
Less: Depreciation 149,050,912 
Net Block 888,309,818
'Capital Work In Progress 593,483,902 

1,481,793,720 
2. Investments 17,636,690 
3. Current Assets, Loans and Advances VI

(a) Inventories 694,710,632 
(b) Sundry Debtors 485,072,562 
(c) Cash and Bank Balances 121,981,721
(d) Loans and Advances 228,500,372 

1,530,265,287 
Less
Current Liabilities & Provisions VII
(a) 'Current Liabilities 468,258,165 
(b) Provisions 53,050,143 

521,308,308
Net Current Assets 1,008,956,980

4. Miscellaneous Expenditure VIII 187,664,729 
(To the extent not written off or adjusted)
Total 2,696,052,118 
Significant Accounting Policies &
Notes on Accounts XVI

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta Dr. V. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar Dr. S. D. Nanda Himanshu Jain
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 26 August, 2005 Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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For the year ended 31st March, Schedule 31.3.2005
(Rs.)

INCOME
Gross Sales & Operating Income IX-A 2,395,441,188 
Less: Excise Duty 76,477,873 
Sales net of excise 2,318,963,315
Other Income IX-B 5,749,554 
Total-A 2,324,712,869 
EXPENDITURE
Cost of Materials Consumed X 1,536,783,380
Manufacturing Expenses XI 142,979,165
Administrative & Other Expenses XII 70,657,661
Selling and Distribution Expenses XIII 69,990,200
Financial Charges XIV 83,057,366
Research & Development Expenses XV 51,986,850
Depreciation 41,267,543
Misc. Expenditure Written Off 15,079,631
Provision for Doubtful Debts 13,622
Loss on Sale of Fixed Assets 1,820,894
Total-B 2,013,636,310 
Profit For the Year Before Tax (A-B) 311,076,559 
Previous Year Income 77,188 
Previous Year Expenses 1,481,539
Profit Before Tax 309,672,208
Provision for Income Tax 24,965,573
Profit Before Deferred Tax 284,706,635 
Provision for Deferred Tax 27,103,899
Net Profit After Tax 257,602,736 
Income Tax Adjustment of Previous Years 1,097,492 
Profit available for appropriation 256,505,244 
Provision for dividend on Preference Shares 350,520 
Provision for preference dividend tax 45,806
Profit available for Equity Shareholders 256,108,918 
Provision for dividend on Equity Shares 24,520,080 
Provision for Equity dividend tax 3,204,284
Transfer to General Reserve 19,829,989
Transfer to Capital Redemption Reserves 2,000 
Retained Profit 208,552,565
Profit B/F from Previous Year 194,795,449 
Profit C/o to Balance Sheet 403,348,014 
Basic Earning per share 15.67
Diluted Earning per share 15.15
Nominal Value of each share 10.00

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta Dr. V. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar Dr. S. D. Nanda Himanshu Jain
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 26 August, 2005 Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts
As at 31st March, 31.3.2005

(Rs.)

I.  SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised

2,75,00,000 (Previous Year 1,75,00,000) Equity Shares of Rs10/ each 275,000,000

7,50,000 Preference Shares  of Rs.100/- each 75,000,000 

350,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed & Paid Up

1,84,00,000 Equity Shares of Rs.10/-each fully called up and paid up. 184,000,000 

350,520 1% Non Cumulative Preference Share of Rs.100/- each fully paid up 35,052,000

redeemable at par in September, 2015.

Total 219,052,000 

II.  RESERVES AND SURPLUS

(a) Capital Reserves:

Capital Redemption Reserve 2,000 

Equity share forfeited Account 866,500 

(b) Securities Premium 447,385,375

(c) General Reserve 27,521,652 

(d) Profit & Loss Account 403,348,014

Total 879,123,541

III.  SECURED LOANS

(A) Loans and Advances from Banks 

(a) Borrowings for working capital. 266,931,060 

(b) Term Loans 878,099,930 

(B) Other Loans and Advances

Term Loans from

(a) Financial Institutions 31,624,709 

(b) Others 28,930,248 

Total 1,205,585,947

NOTE :
a) Bank borrowings for working capital from consortium of State Bank of India,State Bank of Patiala and Bank of India together

with Interest, compound Interest, additional interest, liquidated damages, costs, charges, expenses and other monies payable
in respect thereof are secured in favour of said Banks by a Pari Passu, first charge by way of hypothecation of the Parent
Company's current assets, namely, Stocks of Raw Materials, Semi Finished, Finished Goods, Stores & Spares not relating to
Plant and Machinery (Consumable Stores & Spares), Bills Receivable and Book Debts and all other movables of the Parent
Company both present and future excluding such movables as may be permitted by the said Banks from time to time.

Also by a pari passu second mortgage and charge in favour of the said banks ranking after the charges created & /or to be
created in favour of the term lenders of the Parent Company on its immovable and movable properties (other than current
assets ) both present and future.

b) Term Loan from Exim Bank (Rs.716.60 Lac), Bank of India (Rs.150.00 Lac), Catholic Syrian Bank (Rs.382.72 Lac), UTI Bank
(Rs.500.00 Lac) State Bank of Patiala (Rs. 1000.00 Lac) & from Financial Institutions(Rs.316.25 Lac) together with all liquidated
damages premia on prepayment or on redemption costs, expenses and other monies is secured by a first pari passu charge
by way of Joint Equitable Mortgage by deposit of title deeds of the Parent Company's immovable properties and a first charge
by way of hypothecation of all its movable assets (save & except book debts), including machinery, machinery spares, tools
and accessories present and future, subject to the charges created/to be created, in favour of the parent company' banker for
working capital excluding the assets exclusively charged to State Bank of India for its loan of Rs. 372 Lac & excluding charge
on land & building situated at plot no. E-5, Phase-II, Mohali, Punjab. The Term Loan from UTI is further secured by second
charge on the current assets of the Parent Company.
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III.  SECURED LOANS (Contd.)

c) Term Loan from Exim Bank (Rs.1089.12 Lac), Bank of India (Rs.500.00 Lac), Catholic Syrian Bank (Rs.546.75 Lac), UTI Bank
(Rs.500.00 Lac), South Indian Bank (Rs.500.00 Lac) is secured by first pari passu charge on fixed assets of the parent company,
both present & future property, as per the loan agreement, including its moveable plant & machinery, equipment, appliances,
furniture, vehicles, machinery, spares & stores, tools and accessories whether or not installed excluding assets exclusively
charged to State Bank of India for its loan of Rs. 372 Lac & excluding charge on land & building situated at plot no E-5, Phase-
II, Mohali, Punjab.

d) The Term Loan from State Bank of India (Rs. 83.56 Lac ) is secured by exclusive charge of Plant & Machinery and other assets
at Plant of the parent company set up for production of Pioglitazone & Candesarton. Another Term Loan from State Bank of
India (Rs. 1977.04 Lac) is secured by whole of the moveable fixed assets at all locations along with equitable mortgage of Land
& Building situated at Plot No. E-5, Phase-II, Mohali, Punjab. Further, the said loan is secured by second pari passu charge on
the current assets of the parent company.

e) Term loans from Indusind Bank (Rs.300.00 Lac) & from State Bank of Bikaner & Jaipure (Rs.300.00 Lac) are secured by
subservient charge on the entire current assets and moveable machinery of the parent company. Further secured by the
personal gurantees of Mr S.R.Mehta, Mr. V.K.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Munjal, Dr G.Munjal, Mr. V.R.Mehta and Mr. Himanshu Jain.

f) Term Loans from Technology Development Board (Rs. 30.00 Lac) is secured by whole of the moveable properties of the parent
compnay in respect of project for development of Anastrazole & Letrazole situated at Derabassi Plant.

g) Corporate Term loan from State Bank of India (Rs.235.19 Lac) , together with all liquidated damages, premia on prepayment
or on redemption costs, expense and other monies are secured by a second pari passu charge by way of hypothecation of all
its movable fixed assets of parent company (both present & future), including machinery, mahinery spares, tools and
accessories present and future, subject to the charges created/to be created, in favour of the parent company's Banker for
Working Capital. This term loan is further secured by Personal Guarantees of Mr S.R.Mehta, Mr V.K.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Mujal, Dr
G.Munjal & Dr. V.R.Metha and Corporate Gurantees of Ind Swift Ltd.

h) The Bank Borrowings for working capital and term loans from State Bank of India, Exim Bank, Bank of India (Rs.150.00 Lac),
term loans from financial institutions taken by the parent company are further secured by the Corporate Gurantee of Ind Swift
Ltd.

i) The Bank Borrowings for working capital, term loans from financial institutions, State Bank of India, Exim Bank, Bank of India,
UTI Bank, Catholic Syrian Bank, South Indian Bank taken by the parent company are furhter secured by personal gurantees of
Mr. S.R.Mehta, Mr. V.K.Mehta, Dr. V.R.Mehta, Mr. N.R.Munjal. Dr. G. Munjal & Mr. Himanshu Jain.

j) ICICI Home Loan is in the name of Mr. N.R.Munjal, Managing Director of the Parent Company is secured against the office
premises in Mumbai.

k) Other term loans of Rs.45.82 Lac are secured against respective fixed assets under hire purchase agreement in the Parent
Company.

l) Loan against vehicles are seucred against hypothecation of the vehicles under the hire purchase agreement.

Short Term Loan & Advances Rs. 410.86 Lac includes Rs. 360.86 Lac (Previous Year Rs. Nil Lac ) being bill factoring facility from
ABN Amro Bank availed by the parent company against accepted hundies, bills & other instruments duly endorsed and personal
gurantees of directors and corporate gurantees of other Companies.

Other Loans & Advances from Bank includes Rs. 400.00 Lac (Previous Year Rs.500.00 Lac) Loan from State Bank of Indore and
Rs.1000.00 Lac (Previous Year Nil) Loan from Yes Bank taken by parent compnay are secured by the personal gurantees of 
Dr G.Munjal, Mr. N.R.Munjal, Mr. V.K.Mehta, Dr.V.R.Mehta. Mr. Himanshu Jain and Mr S.R.Mehta.

As at 31st March, 31.3.2005
(Rs.)

IV UNSECURED LOANS

(a) Fixed Deposits 67,367,909 
(b) Short Term Loan & Advances 

From Banks 36,086,558
From Others 5,000,000 

(c ) Other Loans & Advances 
From Banks 140,000,000 
From Others –
Total 248,454,467

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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V.  FIXED ASSETS

GROSS BLOCK DEPRECIATION / AMORTISATION NET BLOCK

PARTICULARS As on Addition Sale/ As on As on During the During the As on As on

1.04.2004 Transfer 31.3.2005 31.03.2004 year year written 31.03.2005 31.03.2005

back

Tangible Assets

Land* 9,565,176 30,635,439 –  40,200,615 –  45,100 45,100 40,155,515 

Factory Buildings 91,814,594 22,160,703 –   113,975,297 11,575,419 3,276,991 14,852,410 99,122,887  

Office Buildings 15,103,637 6,114,084 –   21,217,721 1,247,728 355,860 1,603,588 19,614,133 

R&D Buildings 6,880,028 –  –   6,880,028 1,051,758 229,793 1,281,551 5,598,477 

Plant & Machinery 472,318,276 192,405,642 13,706,004 651,017,914 78,265,024 27,976,674 4,799,580 101,442,118 549,575,796 

R&D Machinery 48,778,803 42,069,556 –   90,848,358 5,339,878 3,154,418 8,494,296 82,354,062 

Electric Instalations 32,955,029 8,506,500 –   41,461,529 7,326,761 1,663,774 8,990,535 32,470,994  

Furniture & Fixtures 3,453,157 3,980,364 –   7,433,521 758,371 518,501 1,276,872 6,156,648 

Office Equipments 9,851,994 9,159,647 19,011,641 4,289,329 2,139,608 6,428,937 12,582,703  

Vehicles 14,414,715 18,225,722 1,285,472 31,354,965 2,924,891 1,985,760 275,146 4,635,505 26,719,460 

Intangible Assets

R&D Technology –  13,500,000 –   13,500,000 – – – –   13,500,000   

Goodwill 459,141 459,141 –   459,141    

Total 705,135,409 347,216,797 14,991,476 1,037,360,730 112,779,159 41,346,480 5,074,726 149,050,912 888,309,818  

* Land at J&K (Rs 69.88 Lac) is on lease hold basis for 90 years from the date of execution of lease deed.

Capital work in Progress

Description As on Addition Capitalisation As on As on 

1.04.2004 31.03.2005 31.03.2005

(a) Building 2,859,129 114,350,158 26,683,837 90,525,450 – –   90,525,450 

(b) Plant & Machinery 50,579,562 440,234,240 179,397,886 311,415,916 – –   311,415,916 

(c) Electrical Fittings 752,700 30,325,151 8,506,500 22,571,351 – –   22,571,351 

(d) Advance for Capital goods 17,661,882 135,879,450 – –   135,879,450 

(e) Expenses Pending 

Capitalisation 2,190,930 44,454,670 13,553,865 33,091,735 – –   33,091,735 

Total 74,044,203 629,364,219 228,142,088 593,483,902 – – –   593,483,902 

As at 31st March, 31.3.2005
(Rs.)

VI.  CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES

A) CURRENT ASSETS

I) Inventories (As per inventories taken, valued & certified by the Management)

Stores & Consumable 5471000

Raw Materials 377345609

Work in Process 257092663

Finished Goods 54801360

Total 694,710,632

II) Sundry Debtors (Unsecured,Considered Good)

Debts outstanding for a period exceeding six months

– Considered good 36,547,884 

– Considered doubtful 3,270,430 

Other Debts 448,524,678  

488,342,992  

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts 3,270,430

Total 485,072,562 
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As at 31st March, 31.3.2005

(Rs.)

VI.  CURRENT ASSETS, LOANS & ADVANCES (CONTD.)

III) Cash and Bank Balances

Cash in hand 4,213,172 

Bank balances with Scheduled Banks  :

Fixed deposits 41,263,871  

Interest accured on fixed deposits 1,595,808

Current Accounts 74,908,870 

Total 121,981,721

IV) Loans and Advances (Unsecured, Considered good)

Advances recoverable in Cash or in Kind or for value to be received 55,120,512

Advances to Subsidiary – 

Cenvat Recoverable 151,958,403

Advance Custom Duty Paid 1,914,925

Advance Tax/ TDS 9,476,114

Prepaid Expenses 4,859,640 

Security deposits 5,170,777

Total 228,500,372  

VII.  CURRENT LIABILITIES & PROVISIONS

A) CURRENT LIABILITIES

Sundry Creditors

Total outstanding dues to small scale

Industrial undertakings 525,538 

Outstanding dues of Creditors other than Small Scale Industrial Undertaking 442,215,053

Statutory Liabilities 4,285,894 

Expenses Payable 15,099,326 

Interest accured but not due 6,132,353 

Sub Total 468,258,165

B) PROVISIONS 

Income Tax 24,929,453 

Preference Share Dividend 350,520 

Tax on proposed preference share dividend 45,806 

Equity Share Dividend 24,520,080 

Tax on proposed equity share dividend 3,204,284 

Total 521,308,308 

VIII.  MISCELLANEOUS EXPENDITURE (To the extent not written off or adjusted )

1 Capital Enhancement Expenses/ Upfront Fees 500,500 

2. Seed Marketing  Expenditure 3,404,972 

3. Research & Development upto 31.03.03 10,074,891 

4. Development Expenditure 145,976,130 

5. Development Expenditure not adjusted 27,708,235 

Total 187,664,729

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005

(Rs.)

IX-A.  GROSS SALES & OPERATING INCOME

Domestic 1202287630

Exports 1088977301

Export Incentives 104176257

Total 2,395,441,188

IX-B.  OTHER INCOME

Diff in Foreign Ex Fluctuation –

Interest Income 2985638

Other Income 2763915

Total 5,749,554

XI. MANUFACTURING EXPENSES

Job Work Charges 55646292

Wages 22884726

P.F. & other funds 2337718

Power, Fuel & Water Charges 44123672

Stores & Spares 15394706

Repair & Maint.

Plant & Machinery 1158112

Buildings 511889

Electrical 858648

Other manufacturing Expenses 63402

Total 142,979,165 

X.  COST OF MATERIAL CONSUMED/SOLD

Opening Stock 324,178,728  

Purchases 1,683,230,115  

2,007,408,843 

Less:Closing Stock 377,345,609 

Total (A) 1,630,063,234

Increase/ Decrease in Inventory

Opening Stock

Work in Process 179,380,089

Finished Goods 39,234,080  

218,614,169

Closing Stock

Work in Process 257,092,663  

Finished Goods 54,801,360  

311,894,023

Total (B) 93,279,854  

Total (A-B) 1,536,783,380
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For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005

(Rs.)

XII.  ADMINISTRATIVE & OTHER EXPENSES

Directors Remuneration

– Salary & Allowances 5600000

– Contribution to P.F. 18720

Salary & Allowances 13457384

P.F. & other funds 865936

Gratuity Premium 674063

Travelling & conveyance 16026062

Audit Fee 225000

Rent 4507934

Rate & Taxes 1324694

Insurance 3689025

Legal &Professional Charges 2776536

Printing & Stationary 4184982

Vehicle Running & Maint 5063789

Telephone & Postage 5122407

Office Expenses 1419959

Charity & Donation 322625

Listing Fees 106902

Books & Periodicals 349394

Membership & Subscription Fees 1313027

Security Expenses 1328357

Staff Welfare 300356

Training & Development Exp 689834

Repair & Maintenance Gen. 681471

Other Expenses 609204

Total 70,657,661

XIII.  SELLING & DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Advertisement & publicity 1213372

Business Promotion 3796075

Commission on Sales 40943520

Rebate & Discount 4597244

Freight Outward 14054729

Insurance Charges 571800

ECGC Premium 1946524

Bad Debts w/off 2584798

Other Expenses 282138

Total 69,990,200

XIV.  INTEREST AND FINANCIAL CHARGES

Interest on Term Loans 36194080

Interest on Working Capital from Banks 24567707

Bank Charges & Others 18724417

Brokerage & Commission 861904

Diff in Foreign Ex Fluctuation 2709258

Total 83,057,366

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited



108

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts
For the year ended 31st March, 31.3.2005

(Rs.)

XV. RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

Salary & Wages & Other Allowances 7408834

Administration Exp 2405715

Raw Material 29726485

Consumables & Maintenance 3901753

Repair & Maintenace - Machinery 1139328

Lab chemicals & Other Charges 6149778

Technical Study & Consultancy 1254957

Total 51,986,850

XVI.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND NOTES ON ACCOUNTS

A. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Accounting Policies uniformily followed by all the entities to the consolidation

1 Basis of Preparation

a) Company has wholly owned subsidiary in USA which was incorporated on Jan 2, 2004.The financial year of Parent Company

is from April 04 to March 05 whereas the financial year of Subsidiary Company is from Jan 04 to Dec 04. Accordingly,

subsidiary's audited financial statements for the year ended on 31-12-2004 are considered for the purpose of consolidation.

No significant transactions or events have occurred in that subsidiary for period Jan 01, 2005 to March 31, 2005.

b) The Parent Company maintains its records and prepares its financial statements under the historical cost convention, in

accordance with Generally Accepted Principles in India, While the foreign subsidiary maintain their records and prepare

their financial statements in confirmity with Generally Accepted Principles prevalent in the country of their domicile. No

adjustments are made in these consolidated financial statements for inconsistencies in accounting policies.

2 Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial statements of Parent Company and its wholly 

owned subsidiary (Ind Swift Laboratories Inc USA). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the 

following basis.

a) The financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary have been combined on a line-by-line basis by adding

together the book values of like items of assets, liabilties, income and expenses, after elimination of intra-group

transactions, intra-group balances and the unrealised profits/(losses).

b) The financial statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiary have been consolidated using uniform accounting

policies for the like transactions and other events in similar circumstances except as specifically mentioned.

c) The excess of the cost to the Parent Company of its investment in the subsidiary over the company's portion of equity of

the subsidiary is recognised in the financial statements as goodwill or capital reserve.

3 Use of Estimates

The presentation of consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions to be made that affect the reported

amount of assets and liabilites on the date of the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses

during the reporting period. Difference between actual results and estimates are recognised in the period in which the results

are known/materialised.

4 Fixed Assets & Depreciation

In relation to the Parent Company

All Fixed Assets are valued at cost net of Cenvat credit wherever eligible. Cost includes all expenses and borrowing cost



109

Schedules forming part of the Consolidated Accounts
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attributable to the project till the date of commissioning.

Depreciation is provided on straight line method at the rates specified in schedule XIV of the Companies Act 1956 on pro rata

basis and the assets having the value upto Rs. 5000 have been depreciated at the rate of 100%.

Lease hold Land is amortised over the period of lease.

The Policy of Company is to provide depreciation on the Buildings and Plant & Machinery/ other fixed assets of new projects

from the date of start up of commercial production/ put to use.

The Policy of Company is to amortise the Intangible Assets in next five subsequent years.

In relation to the Subsidiary Company

Furniture and Equipments are carried at cost. Depreication of furniture and equipment is provided using the straight line

method at the following rates:

Classification Useful Life (Years)

Vehilces 5

Computer Equipments 3

Furniture & Fixtures 7

Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of the property and equipment are capitalised.

Expenditure for maintenance and repairs are charged to expenses as incurred

5 Recognition fo income and expenditure

In relation to the Parent Company

Sales are recognised when goods are supplied and are recorded net of rebates and sales tax and inclusive of excise duty.

Expenses are accounted for on accural basis and provision is made for all known losses and expenses.

In relation to the Subsidiary Company

Revenue generated from products shipped is recognised when the risk and rights of ownership have been passed to the

customer.

6 Foreign Currency Transactions

In relation to the Parent Company

Transaction in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The gain or loss

arising from forward transactions have been stated on prorata basis over the terms of the contract.

Foreign currency denominated current assets & current liabilities are translated at year end exchange rates.The resulting gain

or loss is recognised in the Profit & Loss Account.

In relation to the Subsidiary Company In case of foreign subsidiary, the local accounts are maintained in the local and functional

currency. The financial statements of such subsidiary, which are integral foreign operations for the parent company, have been

translated to indian currency on the following basis:

a) All income and expenses are translated at yearly average rate of exchange prevailing during the year.

b) Monetary assets and liabilties are translated at the closing rate on the Balance Sheet date.

c) Non-Monetary Assets and Liabilities are translated at historical rates.

d) The resulting exchange difference is accounted as "Foreign Currency Translation Reserve" which is disclosed separately 

on the balance sheet.

7 Other significant accounting policies

Other accounting policies adopted for preparation of consolidated financial statements are same as set out in the part A of

Schedule XVI accompanying the financial statements of Ind Swift Laboratories Limited. The other accounting policies adopted

by subsdiary are the same as that of Ind Swift Laboratories Limited in all material respect.

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited
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Associates Ind Swift Limited 

Essix Biosciences Limited 

Ind swift communications (p) ltd

Ind Swift Infrastructure & Developers Ltd

Key Management personnel-Directors Mr. N.R.Munjal

Mr.V.K.Mehta

Subsidiary Ind Swift Laboratories Inc. USA 

(From 01-01-2005 to 31-03-2005)

2 Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account and not provided for (Net of advances) Rs. 258.87

lacs.

3 In the opinion of the Board, the Current Assets, Loans & Advances shown in the Balance Sheet have a value on realisation in

the ordinary course of business at least equal to the amount at which they are stated.

4 Director Remuneration includes: 2004-05 

A SALARY

Managing Director 2,800,000 

Jt. Managing Director 2,800,000 

B CONTRIBUTION TO PROVIDENT FUND

Managing Director 9,360 

Jt. Managing Director 9,360 

C PERQUISITES

Managing Director 628,800

Jt. Managing Director 628,800 

Total 6,876,320

5 Related Party Disclosures

a. List of related parties and their relationship

B: NOTES ON ACCOUNTS (Rs.in lacs)

1 Contingent liabilities not provided for: 2004-05

Letter of Credit against purchase of raw material:     388.25

Bank Guarantees *   51.55

Export bills purchased by bank : 183.39

Export obligation in respect of cutom duty : 147.25

Export obligation in respect of cutom duty 10.79

under EPCG Scheme :

* Bank guarantees Rs. 51.55 lacs include guarantee for Custom authorities Rs 46.55 Lac and for Pollution Control board Rs 5

Lac

(Rs.)
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Ind Swift Limited Essix Biosciences Ind swift Ind Swift  Ind Swift

Name of related party Limited Communications Laboratories Inc. Infrastructure &

(P) Ltd. USA Developers Ltd.

Nature of Transaction 2004-05 2004-05 2004-05 2004-05 2004-05

(1) Transactions during 

the year

Purchases. 1151.90

Sales 171.02 13.10

Purchased DEPB 7.69

Publicity Exp 0.50

(ii) Outstanding 

balances as on 31.03.04

Share Capital 447.37 2.39

Investment 43.37 8.0

Advances

Debtors 0.00 13.10

Creditors 179.12

Unsecured Loans

Details of remenuration to Directors (Key management Personnel) are as given in Note no 4. 

6 Earning per share is calculated as shown below:(Equity Shares of Rs. 10/- each)

2004-05

No. of weighted average equity shares

Basic 16346720

Effect of diluted equity shares equivalent to

– 1 % 350,540 Preference Share –

– 1713675 equity share warrants pending for conversion 563400

Diluted 16910120

Earning Per Share (Rs.)

Basic 15.67

Diluted 15.15

7 Deferred Tax

The Break Up of Deferred Tax Liabilities/(Assets) as at March 31, 2005 is as under: Rs. in lacs

Deferred Tax Liabilties 2004-05

Timing Difference on account of :

Fixed Assets 915.18

Research & Development Exp ( upto 31.03.2003) 26.76

Seed Marketing Expenditure 11.46

Development Expenditure 459.04

Total 1412.44

Deferred Tax Liabilties

Timing Difference on account of :

Provision for Doubtful Debts 11.02

Carried Forward Loss as per Income Tax Act 162.47

Total 173.48

Deferred Tax Liabilties net 1238.96

Deferred Tax Liabilties Charged to P&L A/c 271.03

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

b. Related party transactions
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8 The company operates only in one business segment viz. Bulk Drugs & Pharmaceuticals.However the figures in Segment

reporting is based on geographical location of its customers.

Segment Report

The Company operates only in one business segment viz. Bulk Drugs & Pharmaceuticals.  However the figures in Segment
Reporting is based on geographical location of its customers.

Rs./Lac
In India Outside India Total

REVENUE-EXTERNAL 12023 10890 22913 
(9046) (6793) (15839)

Results 1563 4004 5567 
(1045) (1800) (2845)

Less:  Finacial Expenses 831
(708)

Less:  Unallocated Expenses 1698 
(1160)

Add: Other Income
57

(193)
Less: Income Tax Provision 250

(83)
Less:  Deferred Tax 271

(325)
Profit after Tax 2576 

(762)
Other Information
Segment Assets 1890 2961 4851 

(815) (1349) (2164)
Unallocated Assets 27323

(14201)
Total Assets 32174 

(16366)
Segment Liabilites 2997 1686 4683 

(1977) (1421) (3398)
Unallocated Liabilities 16310 

(7474)
Total Liabilities 20992 

(10872)
Capital Expenditure 14818 

(6664)
Depreciation 413 

(279)
Non Cash Expenses other than Depreciation 151 

(193)

NOTES:
1 Geographical Segments

The segment reporting is performed on the basis of the geographical location of customers.
The management views the indian market and export markets as distinct geographical segments.

2 Segment assets & liabilities
Segment assets consists of debtors & the segment liabilities consists of creditors and accrued liabilities.

3 The figures in brackets are in respect of previous year.
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9 Investment of Rs. 176.36 Lac (Unquoted-Long Term ) are at Cost.

a) Share Application Money deposited with Ind Swift Laboratories Inc, USA Rs.43.36 Lac.

b) Units of Principle Global Opportunities Fund Rs. 5.00 Lac.

c) Investment in Vardhman Chemtech Pvt Limited Rs.100.00 Lac.

10,00,000 Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each fully paid up

d) Investment in Nimbua Green Field (Punjab) Ltd Rs. 20.00 Lac.

7200 Equity Share of Rs. 10/- each fully paid Rs. 72000

Share Application Money Rs. 1928000

e) Share Application Money deposited with Ind Swift Infrastructure & Developers Limited Rs 8.00 Lac.

10 Previous year figures have been regrouped, rearranged wherever considered necessary for comparison.

11 Schedule I to XVI form an integeral part of Balance Sheet and Profit & Loss Account and have been duly authenticated.

Ind-Swift Laboratories Limited

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta Dr. V. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar Dr. S. D. Nanda Himanshu Jain
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 26 August, 2005 Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

A. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net Profit before tax and Extraordinary items 3096.72 

Adjustments for

i) Depreciation 412.68 

ii) Preliminary, issue & deferred expenses amortised 150.80 

iii) Exchange (profit)/loss 27.09 

iv) Interest on term loans 361.90 

v) Interest received (29.86)

vi) Preference share dividend provision 3.51 

vii) Dividend tax 0.46 

viii) Provision for doubtful debts 0.14  

ix) Loss on sale of fixed assets 18.21 

Operating Profit before working capital charges 4041.64

Adjustments for:

i) Trade & other receiveables (2693.62)

ii) Inventories (1477.75)

iii) Loan & advances (1118.12)

iv) Current liabilities 1278.53 

v) Working capital borrowing 891.76 

vi) Income taxes (157.06)

(3276.26)

Net Cash flow from operating activities 765.38

B. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITES

i) Purchase of fixed assets (8661.97)

ii) Sale of fixed assets 80.96 

iii) Purchase of investments (160.22)

iv) Capital issue & deferred expenses (1648.12)

v) Interest received on fixed deposits 29.86 

Net cash from investing activities (10359.50)

(Amount Rs. in lacs)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Contd.)

For the year ended 31st March, 2005

(Amount Rs. in lacs)

C. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

i) Proceeds from Share Capital  278.61 

ii) Advance agst Share Capital 198.95 

iii) Proceeds from Securities Premium 2925.64 

iv) Proceeds from Term Loans From Banks & Financial Institutions 8422.06 

v) Repayment of Term Loans to Banks & Financial Institutions (1470.26)

vi) Interest paid on term loans (362.29)

vii) Proceeds from Fixed deposit 1912.97 

viii) Repayments of Fixed deposit (1476.70)

ix) Preference Dividend Paid (3.51)

x) Preference Dividend Tax Paid (0.45)

xi) Equity Dividend Paid (156.14)

xii) Equity Dividend Tax Paid (20.01)

Net Cash flow from Financing Activities 10248.89  

Net increase in Cash or Cash Equivalents 654.77 

Cash & Cash Equivalents as on 31.03.2004 564.60 

Cash & Cash Equivalents as on 31.03.2005 1219.38 

Add Unrealised Gain/Loss in Foreign Currency Cash & Cash Equivalents 0.44 

Total Cash & Cash Equivalents as on 31.03.2005 1219.82 

Auditor’s Report
As per our separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board

For Jain & Associates Dr. G. Munjal N. R. Munjal V. K. Mehta Dr. V. R. Mehta
Chartered Accountants Chairman Managing Director Jt. Managing Director Director

R. K. Gulati K. M. S. Nambiar J. K. Kakkar Dr. S. D. Nanda Himanshu Jain
Partner Director Director Director Director
Membership No. 11999

Place : Chandigarh N. K. Bansal Pardeep Verma
Date : 26 August, 2005 Vice President Company Secretary

(Finance)
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Corporate Information

Board of Directors

Dr. Gopal Munjal Chairman

N.R.Munjal Managing Director

V.K.Mehta Jt. Managing Director

S.R. Mehta Director

Dr. V.R. Mehta Director

Himanshu Jain Director

K.M.S. Nambiar Director

Dr. J.K.Kakkar Director

Dr S.D Nanda Director (Nominee IIBI)

Vice President (Finance)

N.K. Bansal

Company Secretary

Pardeep Verma

Registered Office

S.C.O. 493-94, Sector 35-C,

Chandigarh-160 022 

Telephone: 91-172-2660918, 2604934

Fax: 91-172 -2660920

Auditors

M/s Jain & Associates

Chartered Accountants

SCO 819-20, Sector 22-A, 

Chandigarh –160 022

Manufacturing Facilities

• UNIT – 1

Barwala Road, Village - Bhagwanpura, Near - Derabassi, Distt.

- Patiala, Punjab

Tel: - 91-1762- 281072, 281048

Fax: - 91-1762 –281073

• UNIT – II

SIDCO, Industrial Growth Centre, Jammu (J&K)

Telephone : - 91-1923- 246116

Corporate Office

S.C.O: 850, Shivalik Enclave, NAC, 

Manimajra, Chandigarh – 160 101

Tele: - 91-172- 2730503, 2730920

Fax: - 91-172 – 2730504, 2736294

Email: info@indswift.com

Website: www.indswiftlabs.com

Legal Advisor

P. K. Goklaney & Company

Advocate & Solicitors

# 38, Sector 16-A, 

Chandigarh – 160016

Register & Transfer Agent

Alankit Assignments Ltd. 

205-208, Anarkali Complex,

Jhandewalan Extension

New Delhi –110 055

Telephone: - 91-11- 51540060, 51540061

Fax: - 91-11 - 51540064

Email: alankit@alankit.com

Website: www.alankit.com

Bankers

State Bank of India

Specialised Commercial Branch 

Sector-17, Chandigarh - 160 017

Bank of India

Bank Square

Sector-17, Chandigarh - 160 017

State Bank of Patiala

Commercial Branch

Sector-8, Chandigarh - 160 018






